

BRNO UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

VYSOKÉ UČENÍ TECHNICKÉ V BRNĚ

FACULTY OF CHEMISTRY

FAKULTA CHEMICKÁ

INSTITUTE OF CHEMISTRY AND TECHNOLOGY OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

ÚSTAV CHEMIE A TECHNOLOGIE OCHRANY ŽIVOTNÍHO PROSTŘEDÍ

INFLUENCE OF BIOPLASTIC BIODEGRADATION ON SOIL PROPERTIES

VLIV BIODEGRADACE BIOPLASTŮ NA PŮDNÍ VLASTNOSTI

MASTER'S THESIS DIPLOMOVÁ PRÁCE

AUTHOR
AUTOR PRÁCEBc. Veronika StanislavováSUPERVISOR
VEDOUCÍ PRÁCEprof. Ing. Jiří Kučerík, Ph.D.

BRNO 2023



Zadání diplomové práce

FCH-DIP1859/2022
Ústav chemie a technologie ochrany životního prostředí
Bc. Veronika Stanislavová
Environmental Sciences and Engineering
bez specializace
prof. Ing. Jiří Kučerík, Ph.D.

Akademický rok: 2022/23

Název diplomové práce:

Vliv biodegradace bioplastů na půdní vlastnosti

Zadání diplomové práce:

1. Literární rešerše na téma bioplasty, jejich degradace, benefity a rizika spojená s jejich využitím, půda a její ekosystémové funkce.

2. Provedení květináčových experimentů zkoumající vliv bybraného biodegradabilníhi bioplastu na růst rostliny a vlastnosti půdy.

3. Analýza půdy a rostliny.

4. Vyhodnocení a diskuze získaných výsledků.

Termín odevzdání diplomové práce: 8.5.2023:

Diplomová práce se odevzdává v děkanem stanoveném počtu exemplářů na sekretariát ústavu. Toto zadání je součástí diplomové práce.

. -----.

Bc. Veronika Stanislavová studentka

vedoucí práce

prof. Ing. Jiří Kučerík, Ph.D. prof. Ing. Jiří Kučerík, Ph.D. vedoucí ústavu

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

V Brně dne 1.2.2023

prof. Ing. Michal Veselý, CSc. děkan

Abstract

Biodegradable plastics are gaining popularity as a desirable material in the market, particularly in the agricultural sector, where they are used as coatings and mulch films due to their favourable properties. This study investigated the impact of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate (P3HB), an intracellular bacterial polymer, on various soil properties, including physical, chemical, and biological aspects, to assess its potential in agricultural use.

Results showed that the P3HB had a negative effect on the soil dry matter content, aboveground biomass, and a slight decrease in soil pH. Moreover, the activity of selected enzymes was significantly enhanced when P3HB applicated solely or even more increased when combined with a specific amendment. The results varied depending on the amendment; the effects were negative, neutral or positive. The thermogravimetry analysis was used to assess the rate of P3HB biodegradation and the influence of P3HB on organic matter and water retention. It was found that the presence of amendment influenced the degradation rate of P3HB and other organic matter in the soil.

Furthermore, the application of P3HB into the soil leads to the inhibition of plant (*Zea mays L.*) growth. The additions of amendments to soil prior to the application of P3HB improved this effect only marginally. It is concluded that biodegradation of P3HB supported the activity of the microbial community, which could eventually negatively influence the availability of essential nutrients in the soil. The thermogravimetric analysis demonstrated that the incorporation of organic amendments promoted the biodegradation of P3HB. Moreover, the results indicate that a combination of P3HB and biochar could improve soil water retention.

Keywords

Biodegradable plastics, biodegradation, P3HB, organic amendments, soil properties, enzymatic assays, soil respiration, microbial activity, thermogravimetry, mass loss.

Abstrakt

Biodegradabilné polyméry sa na trhu stávajú čoraz populárnejšími, a to najmä v poľnohospodárstve, kde sa vďaka svojim priaznivým vlastnostiam používajú ako nátery a mulčovacie fólie. V tejto štúdii bol skúmaný vplyv poly-3-hydroxybutyrátu (P3HB), vnútrobunkového bakteriálneho polyméru, na rôzne vlastnosti pôdy vrátane fyzikálnych, chemických a biologických parametrov s cieľom posúdiť jeho potenciálne využitie v poľnohospodárstve.

Výsledky ukázali, že P3HB mal negatívny vplyv na obsah sušiny v pôde, nadzemnú biomasu a spôsobil mierne zníženie pH pôdy. Okrem toho sa aktivita vybraných enzýmov výrazne zvýšila, keď sa P3HB aplikoval samostatne alebo došlo k ešte väčšiemu nárastu v kombinácií s niektorými pôdnymi doplnkami. Výsledky sa líšili v závislosti od použitého pôdneho doplnku. Účinky boli buď negatívne, neutrálne alebo pozitívne. Na posúdenie miery biodegradácie P3HB, vplyvu P3HB na organickú hmotu a zadržiavanie vody sa použila termogravimetrická analýza. Bolo preukázané, že prítomnosť organických doplnkov ovplyvnila rýchlosť degradácie P3HB a iných organických látok v pôde.

Okrem toho aplikácia P3HB do pôdy viedla k inhibícii rastu rastlín (*Zea mays L.*). Pridanie zmien do pôdy pred aplikáciou P3HB tento účinok zlepšilo len okrajovo. Dospelo sa k záveru, že biodegradácia P3HB podporovala mikrobiálnu aktivitu, čo mohlo v konečnom dôsledku negatívne ovplyvniť dostupnosť esenciálnych živín v pôde. Okrem toho výsledky z termogravimetrickej analýzy naznačujú, že kombinácia P3HB a biouhlia by mohla prispieť k lepšiemu zadržiavania vody v pôde.

Kľúčové slová

Biodegradovateľné plasty, biodegradácia, P3HB, pôdne doplnky, pôdne vlastnosti, enzymatické testy, respirácia pôdy, mikrobiálna aktivita, termogravimetria, hmotnostný úbytok.

Bibliographic citation

STANISLAVOVÁ, Veronika. *Influence of bioplastic biodegradation on soil properties*. Brno, 2023. Available also at: https://www.vut.cz/studenti/zav-prace/detail/148960. Master's Thesis. Vysoké učení technické v Brně, Fakulta chemická, Institute of Chemistry and Technology of Environmental Protection. Supervisor Jiří Kučerík.

Declaration

I declare that the master thesis has been worked out by myself and that all the quotations from the used literary sources are accurate and complete. The content of the diploma thesis is the property of the Faculty of Chemistry of Brno University of Technology, and all commercial uses are allowed only if approved by both the supervisor and the dean of the Faculty of Chemistry, BUT.

Brno, May 8, 2023

Veronika Stanislavová

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor prof. Ing. Jiří Kučerík, Ph.D. for his invaluable guidance, support, and valuable feedback throughout the thesis. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Maximilian Meyer, for his insightful comments and contributions. Additionally, I extend my sincere appreciation to Ing. Brtnický for his expert advice and assistance. I would also like to thank to the academic staff at the Faculty of Chemistry of Brno University of Technology and at the Faculty of AgriSciences at Mendel University in Brno for their willingness to assist me. Finally, I would like to extend my thanks to my family and friends for their support and understanding during my studies.

Table of Contents

1	IN	TRO	DDUCTION	. 8
2	TH	HEO	RETICAL PART	.9
	2.1	Bio	plastics	. 9
	2.1	.1	Application of bioplastics	11
	2.1	.2	Applications in medicine	12
	2.1	.3	Application in the food industry	13
	2.1	.4	Application in the textile industry	14
	2.1	.5	Application in agriculture	16
	2.1	.6	Benefits and drawbacks of bioplastics	18
4	2.2	Bio	degradable polymer – poly-3-hydroxybutyrate	20
	2.2	.1	Synthesis of P3HB	21
	2.3	Deg	gradation of bioplastics	23
	2.3	.1	Abiotic degradation	23
	2.3	.2	Biotic degradation/biodegradation	25
	2.3	.3	Factors affecting polymer biodegradation	27
	2.4	Soi	l and its ecosystem function	29
	2.4	.1	Soil quality	30
	2.4	.2	Indicators used to assess soil quality and health	30
	2.4	.3	Physical indicators	30
	2.4	.4	Chemical indicators	31
	2.4	.5	Soil respiration	33
	2.4	.6	Soil enzyme activity	34
	2.4	.7	Materials to improve soil quality	38
	2.5	The	e impact of biodegradable polymers on the soil quality and plant growth.	42
3	EX	KPEI	RIMENTAL PART	16
	3.1	Pot	experiment	47
	3.2	Soi	l analysis	47
	3.2	.1	Determination of pH, soil dry matter content and aboveground biomass	47
	3.2	.2	Soil enzyme activity assays in soil samples using colourimetric substrates	47
	3.2	.3	Spectrophotometric assay of soil respiration	49
	3.2	.4	Thermal analysis of P3HB in the soil and its effect on soil properties	52
4	Rŀ	ESUI	LTS AND DISCUSSION	55

4.1 Ef	fect of soil amendments on physical and chemical properties	55			
4.1.1	Assessment of soil pH				
4.1.2	Assessment of plant aboveground biomass				
4.1.3	Assessment of the dry matter content in the soil				
4.2 Ef	fect of soil amendments on microbial properties	60			
4.2.1	Soil enzyme activity assays	60			
4.2.2	Soil respiration assays				
4.3 Tł	ermal analysis of P3HB in the soil	68			
5 CON	CLUSION	75			
BIBLIOGRAPHY74					
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS101					

1 INTRODUCTION

In recent years, there has been a growing interest in developing and using bioplastics as an alternative to conventional petroleum-based plastics owing to their chemical and physical properties (Wei et al., 2011). Bioplastics are polymers derived from renewable resources designed to degrade more quickly and efficiently in the environment than conventional plastics (Niaounakis, 2015). Nonetheless, there is still limited knowledge regarding the fate and behaviour of bioplastics in varying environments, especially in the soil ecosystem. Soil is a complex and dynamic environment critical in nutrient cycling and maintaining ecosystem health and quality (Sarkar et al., 2021). The application of bioplastics in agriculture and horticulture, such as mulching films, has increased in recent years (Hayes et al., 2012). Therefore, understanding the biodegradation of bioplastics in the soil is crucial for assessing their environmental impact and ensuring their sustainability as a viable alternative to conventional plastics. The commonly used biodegradable polymers in the agriculture are polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA). These materials possess various features that enhance their environmental compatibility, including biodegradability, thermoprocessibility, and elasticity (Kadouri et al., 2005; Philip et al., 2007).

Due to the lack of studies examining the effects of bioplastics on soil properties and biota, the ongoing research primarily examines the effects on the terrestrial ecosystem using the findings from analysis of conventional plastics (Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021). As the use of bioplastics increases, it is vital to understand their interactions with soil ecosystems and identify research gaps. The objective of this thesis is to examine the degradation of bioplastics in soil, with a particular emphasis on the factors that affect their degradation, biodegradation mechanisms and pathways, and the impacts of biodegradation on microbial communities and soil properties. The research methodology involves laboratory assays and techniques to determine the influence of the biodegradable biopolymer poly-3-hydroxybutyrate (P3HB) on soil properties. P3HB is added to the soil alone or in combination with other organic amendments (compost, biochar, manure and separate) to assess their potential impact. This study is based on the premise that the biodegradation of P3HB negatively influences plant growth, but this effect can be improved by incorporating organic amendments prior to the application of P3HB. Furthermore, it is assumed that the biodegradation rate of P3HB could be further supported by applying P3HB after the initial application of amendments.

2 THEORETICAL PART

2.1 Bioplastics

Bioplastics are a blend of polymers with organic and inorganic additives. They comprise petrochemical constituents derived from coal, oil, and natural gas. Due to their broad spectrum of applications in industrial and domestic use, plastics have gradually become the most prevalent material on the market. However, most fossil-based and bio-based plastic materials are non-biodegradable and can persist in the environment for hundreds of years (Ahmed et al., 2018; Nanda & Berruti, 2021; Shah et al., 2008). This can alter ecosystems' properties and pose a threat to biota through ingestion and bioaccumulation, which can lead to health hazards. Plastic waste disposal is a growing concern due to its limited recyclability, leading to accumulation in landfills, soil and the endangerment of water contamination and marine life from plastic debris in oceans (Ahmed et al., 2018; Nanda et al., 2022; Nanda & Berruti, 2021; Shah et al., 2018; Nanda et al., 2022; Nanda & Berruti, 2021; Shah et al., 2018; Nanda et al., 2022; Nanda & Berruti, 2021; Shah et al., 2018; Nanda et al., 2022; Nanda & Berruti, 2021; Shah et al., 2018; Nanda et al., 2022; Nanda & Berruti, 2021; Shah et al., 2008). In addition, plastics have been known to release harmful chemicals, such as bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalates, which can leach into food and water supplies and cause health problems. Furthermore, plastic production and disposal demand a substantial amount of energy and contribute to greenhouse gas emissions and climate change (Corrales et al., 2015; Narancic et al., 2020).

As the negative impacts of synthetically produced plastic material on the environment and human health become increasingly evident, there is growing interest in biologically produced alternative polymers (Ahmed et al., 2018). Bioplastics are derived from natural renewable sources such as polysaccharides (e.g. cellulose, starch, or chitin), lipids (oils), proteins (e.g. gelatin and gluten), plant/microbial polyesters (polyhydroxyalkanoates) or synthesized from renewable sources (e.g. polylactic acid from starch). These biopolymers could reduce the production of, and eventually replace, conventional petroleum-based plastics, thereby reducing carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions associated with their production or combustion. Biopolymers differ from petroleum-based polymers primarily because of their sustainability and biodegradability (Ashter, 2016a; Flieger et al., 2003). Based on their biodegradability, bioplastics can be classified into two main categories, non-biodegradable and biodegradable. This categorization is illustrated in Fig. 1.

Non-biodegradable bioplastics, which are typically made from renewable resources, can be classified as either bio-based or fossil-based polymers. Although these bioplastics contain biobased components, they are chemically identical to their petrochemical counterparts. Some of the commonly used non-biodegradable bioplastics include bio-based polyethylene (PE), bio-based polyethylene terephthalate (PET), and bio-based polyamide (PA). However, most currently used conventional plastics are either non-biodegradable or degrade at such a slow rate that total disintegration is impossible (Ahmed et al., 2018; Andreeßen & Steinbüchel, 2019; Ghosh et al., 2013).

Biodegradable bioplastics are classified as either bio-based or fossil-based polymers depending on their biodegradability (Ahmed et al., 2018). The European Norm EN 13432 defines the term "biodegradable" as the type of material that undergoes degradation by the breakdown of organic chemicals by microorganisms (MO) under oxic conditions (in the presence of oxygen) or anoxic conditions (in the absence of oxygen) (European Committee for

Standardisation, 2000). The effectiveness of the biodegradation process is influenced by microorganism type, pre-treatment nature, and polymer properties, such as mobility, crystallinity, functional group type, tactility, chemical components, molecular weight, and additives included in polymers (Artham & Doble, 2008). Moreover, degradation is influenced by abiotic factors such as temperature, moisture salinity, UV radiation or chemical conditions (Andrady, 2011).



Fig. 1: Classification of bioplastics (Shah et al., 2021).

Biodegradable polymers can disintegrate into smaller molecules and eventually break down into natural substances through biological processes such as oxidation or hydrolysis (Ashter, 2016b). As biodegradable polymers degrade, their constituent parts are separated and reintroduced into nutrient cycles, such as carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and sulphur (S), water (H₂O), CO₂ and biomass are produced under aerobic conditions, whereas hydrocarbons, methane, and biomass are produced under anaerobic conditions (Lucas et al., 2008; Shah et al., 2008). Biodegradable polymers can be further classified into two main categories:

- 1. Natural biodegradable polymers derived from biomass or renewable resources, such as plant and animal materials (e.g. cellulose, starch, and proteins), can biodegrade through natural processes (Ashter, 2016b).
- 2. Synthetic biodegradable polymers are either synthesized from fossil fuel-based resources or renewable feedstock (e.g. polylactic acid, PLA; polycaprolactone, PCL) (Ashter, 2016b).

Although bioplastics account for only 1% of total plastic production, there is a growing trend towards their wider use. According to data provided by European Bioplastics in 2022, biodegradable plastics (PLA, PHA, starch blends) account for over 51% (1.1 million tonnes) of global bioplastics production. This is expected to reach over 3.5 million tonnes by 2027. Non-biodegradable biobased plastics such as bio-based PE, bio-based PET and bio-based PA account for 48%, with their relative share predicted to decrease (see Fig. 2) gradually (PlasticsEurope, 2022).



Fig. 2: Bioplastic production capacity worldwide (European Bioplastics, 2021a).

2.1.1 Application of bioplastics.

Biopolymers have attracted significant interest in recent years because of their characteristic properties and ability to address various challenges in various fields. Bioplastics help to enhance the performance of other biologically active molecules in a product because of their biocompatibility and biodegradability. Furthermore, they can be altered to meet potential applications such as medical devices, food packaging, agriculture/horticulture, textiles, or cosmetics (Ashter, 2016a). Even though the packaging is still the largest market for bioplastics, comprising almost 48% (1.2 million tonnes) of the total market in 2021, functional polymers are expanding into new sectors such as automotive, transport, and construction with increasing capacities (see Fig. 3). In this section, the diverse applications of biopolymers, including their use in the packaging, biomedical, agricultural, textile and environmental sectors, will be discussed.



Fig. 3: Global bioplastic production capacity by market segment 2021 (European Bioplastics, 2021).

2.1.2 Applications in medicine

During the past half century, biodegradable polymers have been a central focus of biomedical research. Significant progress has been achieved in their use as controlled drug-release vehicles and in the production of therapeutic devices, including implants and three-dimensional scaffolds for tissue engineering applications (Narancic et al., 2020). Biomaterials made of proteins, polysaccharides, and synthetic biopolymers are commonly used in medical applications, but their mechanical characteristics and stability in aquatic environments are limited. Cross-linking can enhance these properties, but most cross-linkers adversely affect biopolymer function or are toxic to cells. Glutaraldehyde is a popular cross-linking chemical, but its cytotoxic effects in cross-linked biomaterials are debated (Mohan et al., 2016; Othman, 2014).

Gelatine is a versatile biopolymer widely used in medical applications due to its self-assembling properties, non-toxicity, biodegradability, cost-effectiveness, and non-immunogenicity. Techniques such as porogen leaching or gas foaming can create porous gelatine scaffolds and films for drug or nutrient delivery to aid the healing process in wounds (Mohan et al., 2016; Van Vlierberghe et al., 2007).

To be effective as drug delivery systems (DDS), biodegradable polymers should self-assemble into nanocarriers that can load specific drugs, ensure safety, achieve maximum drug encapsulation, maintain bioavailability, biodegrade compatibly with tissue healing, avoid toxicity and immune response, and have specific physicochemical characteristics such as composition and charge (B. Liu & Thayumanavan, 2017; Narancic et al., 2020). Nanocarrier

success depends on physio-chemical features like composition, charge, stability, and size distribution. Effective DDS uses amphiphilicity and hydrophobicity for targeted delivery (Narancic et al., 2020; Palanikumar et al., 2020). Polyester nanoparticle DDS, including PHB-produced polymer-drug conjugates and amphiphilic block copolymers, are promising materials (Barouti et al., 2017).

Scaffolds for tissue engineering must resemble the structure and mechanical properties of the replaced tissue (Lomas et al., 2013). Both natural and synthetic polymers have been studied for this purpose (Fan et al., 2009). Biopolymers are useful in tissue engineering due to their potential to replace immunogenic biogenic materials. Hydrophobicity, biocompatibility, and nontoxicity are essential factors for biopolymers in this field (Falde et al., 2016; Morris et al., 2017; Narancic et al., 2020). Common biopolymers used in tissue engineering include PHA, PLA, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), polybutylene succinate (PBS), and poly- γ -glutamate. PLA and PLGA are particularly interisting due to their melting and glass transition temperatures (Narancic et al., 2020). PHBHHx, a random copolymer of 3-hydroxybutyrate and 3-hydroxyhexanoate, has the potential for tissue engineering due to its adaptable mechanical properties, biodegradability, and compatibility with various types of mesenchymal cells. However, its breakdown can generate acidic residues that could affect the physiology of cells or target tissue (Lomas et al., 2013; Narancic et al., 2020).

2.1.3 Application in the food industry

Food packaging has three fundamental functions: food containment, quality preservation and protection against various environmental, physical, and microbiological factors (Han, 2014). Biopolymers have multiple uses in the food industry, including packaging, coatings, and encapsulation (Mohan et al., 2016).

Packaging materials made from petroleum-based polymers are extensively used due to their moldability, affordability, printability, and excellent resistance to various environmental and mechanical factors (Horodytska et al., 2018). Commonly used conventional plastics include polyethylene, polypropylene (PP), polyethylene terephthalate, and polystyrene (PS) (Narancic et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the use of plastic packaging has negative consequences on the environment, as it can take hundreds of years to degrade, ultimately accumulating waste. Additionally, plastic packaging has been linked to releasing chemicals (mainly additives such as bisphenol A and phthalates) that may compromise the quality and safety of food products (Bhargava et al., 2020; Chamas et al., 2020; Hahladakis et al., 2018). The food industry is the largest consumer of packaging materials. Even a minor reduction in the number of materials needed for each package can result in cost reductions and address concerns about solid waste (Han, 2014).

In recent years, the food packaging industry has prioritized sustainability due to consumer, manufacturer, converter, and retailer concerns. The utilization of biobased polymers in food packaging applications is gradually increasing (Narancic et al., 2020). Bioplastics may reduce greenhouse gas emissions and landfill waste, but many require industrial composting facilities for biodegradation, which are not widely available due to insufficient regulations in most countries (Byun & Kim, 2014; Yu & Chen, 2008). Biodegradable polyesters and thermoplastics like PHA, starch, and PLA are currently the most economically feasible materials for food packaging and are already used in several applications (Mohan et al., 2016). PHA polymers are

promising alternatives to fossil-based plastics such as low-density polyethylene (LDPE) and polypropylene (PP) due to their comparable barrier and mechanical qualities (Ray & Kalia, 2017).

When selecting biopolymers for food packaging, barrier qualities are crucial, and hydrophilic polymers are not ideal due to their low moisture resistance. However, the addition of nanofillers, such as nano clays and metal oxide nanoparticles, to biopolymers can enhance the barrier characteristics. Other biopolymers, such as proteins (e.g., zein), polysaccharides (e.g. chitosan), and lipids s (e.g., waxes), have potential as gas and aroma barriers but have limitations such as rigidity and difficulty in processing (Mohan et al., 2016). Polyglycolic acid (PGA) is a promising biopolymer with excellent barrier characteristics (Mohan et al., 2016; Samantaray et al., 2020). Other bio-based biopolymers such as bio-PE, bio-PP, and bio-PET have similar properties to oil-based plastics and can be recycled. Still, they are not biodegradable and have low recycling rates (Narancic et al., 2020).

Biopolymers such as chitosan, lysozyme, and amylose are used for edible encapsulation and coatings to enhance foods' safety and shelf life by incorporating functional ingredients. However, their hydrophilic nature can impact barrier properties and require plasticizers to modify mechanical properties, which requires the careful selection to prevent antiplasticization (Mohan et al., 2016).

Nevertheless, compared to synthetic thermoplastic polymers, biopolymers face challenges such as high costs, processing difficulties, and inferior functional and structural properties (Mensitieri et al., 2011). The limitations of commonly used biodegradable plastics, including PLA, PHA, PCL, starch, and cellulose, are characterized by various factors such as brittleness, low melt strength, thermal instability, poor barrier properties, mechanical stiffness, poor hydrophilic properties, difficulty in processing, poor stabilization, and low water vapour barrier (Cyras et al., 2007; Din et al., 2020; Jabeen et al., 2015; Rhim et al., 2009). However, techniques such as coating, blending, and modification can enhance their ability to block gases and water. For example, polylactic acid/thermoplastic starch blends show promise in food packaging due to their superior long-term stability compared to other biodegradable plastics (Din et al., 2020).

In conclusion, biopolymers offer a promising solution for reducing the environmental impact of food packaging while providing functional benefits. However, transitioning to biodegradable packaging should not excuse unsustainable practices like excessive plastic consumption and disposal habits. Despite some challenges, the versatility of biopolymers in food-related applications continues to expand, and their potential in the food industry looks promising (Narancic et al., 2020).

2.1.4 Application in the textile industry

The textile industry is a significant contributor to environmental pollution, despite offering a wide range of products such as traditional clothing, filtering media, and protective textiles. Textile fibres can be natural or synthetic; conventional production of natural fibres can be unsustainable due to the excessive use of water, pesticides, and animal cruelty (Nayak et al., 2023). Currently, most textiles today are made from non-biodegradable, petroleum-based synthetic fibres like polyester, nylon, acrylic or spandex (Karthik & Rathinamoorthy, 2018). Synthetic fibres are cheap and have better qualities than bio-based fibre, but their production requires non-renewable resources, harmful chemicals and large amounts of energy, leading to

air and water pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, and other negative environmental impacts (Jahandideh et al., 2021; Nayak et al., 2023).

However, with the depletion of oil sources and the implementation of environmental regulations, biopolymers have emerged as a sustainable and ecologically sound alternative for the textile industry to preserve the environment (Jahandideh et al., 2021; Nayak et al., 2023). For instance, biodegradable polymers such as PLA, PCL, poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) and poly(trimethylene terephthalate) are gaining popularity in the textile industry due to their biodegradability, renewability, and potential for sustainable production (Jahandideh et al., 2021; Nayak et al., 2023).

Biopolymers have already been used for various applications in the textile industry, such as dyeing, printing, finishing, and production of technical and functional textiles. They can be used as raw materials for woven or nonwoven textiles, binding agents (e.g. chitosan), viscosity modifiers (e.g. alginate), and thickener agents (e.g. carrageenan). Biopolymers can also be blended with other fibres to create unique textile characteristics (Jahandideh et al., 2021; Nayak et al., 2023). For example, PLA can be combined with cotton or bamboo fibres to improve mechanical properties (Tokoro et al., 2008), and chitosan can be blended with other fibres to produce antimicrobial fabrics (Hosseini et al., 2009). The textile industry is moving toward biodegradable polymers to meet the demand for sustainable products and reduce dependence on petroleum. Despite potential drawbacks such as weaker mechanical properties and higher susceptibility to heat, this trend is expected to continue despite technological challenges (Jahandideh et al., 2021).

Water purification

Water treatment and purification play a critical role in ensuring access to clean and safe water, which is essential for human health and environmental sustainability. The use of biopolymers, mainly those derived from natural sources, is being increasingly explored as a sustainable and effective solution in this area. Many have shown superior performance in removing heavy metals and organic contaminants from water compared to conventional synthetic polymers (Mohan et al., 2016; Udayakumar et al., 2021).

Chitosan, derived from crustacean shells, is a biodegradable flocculant that can remove metals and organic molecules (e.g. dyes, pesticides, drugs, endocrine disruptors) from water. Although developing stable materials is challenging, chitosan is still considered a safer alternative to synthetic flocculants. Its chelation capacity and biodegradability (within weeks or months) make it suitable for treating challenging industrial stormwater and wastewater where other approaches have failed to reduce contaminant levels (Mohan et al., 2016; Udayakumar et al., 2021; Desbrières & Guibal, 2018).

Another example of a biopolymer used in water treatment is alginate, which effectively removes metallic ions from water through an ion exchange mechanism. However, modifiers are combined with alginates to enhance their ability to remove heavy metals and dyes due to their poor elasticity and mechanical properties (Wang et al., 2019). Cellulose, another biopolymer, is an inexpensive adsorbent that can be chemically modified to increase its capacity for adsorbing heavy metals and dyes (O'Connell et al., 2008). Porous graphene oxide biopolymer

gels also effectively eliminate heavy metal ions and cationic dyes from wastewater (Cheng et al., 2013).

2.1.5 Application in agriculture

Biodegradable polymers are increasingly used in agricultural coverings such as mulch films, sowing bands, pots, containers, and other horticultural materials and tools. Furthermore, they are used for the controlled release of agricultural chemicals and fertilizers or other applications, including fishing lines, traps, artificial baits, cures, and aquaculture (Niaounakis, 2015). Biodegradable polymers used for applications in this field are primarily PLA, PHA, and starch-based materials (Amelia et al., 2019). In addition, bioplastics can be used in other agricultural applications. For the purposes of this thesis, only the most common applications will be discussed in more detail.

Mulch films

One of the most popular applications of plastics is agricultural mulching due to its ability to provide benefits such as crop protection, increased yield, preservation of soil structure, moisture retention, temperature regulation, or weed and pest control (Niaounakis, 2015). There are two types of mulch in agriculture: synthetic and natural. Synthetic mulch is more effective for weed control and water retention, making it more popular for large-scale agriculture. Although synthetic mulch is more expensive than organic mulch, it is preferred due to its effectiveness in suppressing weeds and conserving water (Barnes et al., 2009; Kasirajan & Ngouajio, 2012; Somanathan et al., 2022).

Plastic mulches may be applied for years on the soil (e,g, strawberries, asparagus) and eventually break down into microplastics. These microplastic residues can spread throughout the soil ecosystem and cause negative effects on physiochemical soil properties, pH, soil structure, water retention, nutrient cycling, plant growth, and ecosystem productivity (Gao et al., 2019; Somanathan et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2020). They can even affect soil fauna and soil microbes. Furthermore, microplastics can also act as vectors for pollutants and heavy metals, resulting in their accumulation in soil and potentially negative environmental and human health consequences (Hartmann et al., 2017). The removal of the film and the irrigation system is a complex and costly process, and the removal of the contaminated film can be problematic due to the presence of plant matter, dirt, and potentially harmful substances such as pesticides and fertilisers (Brodhagen et al., 2015; Niaounakis, 2015; Somanathan et al., 2022). Various methods are available for the disposal of mulch films, including burning, incineration, recycling, composting, and landfilling. However, each has significant economic or environmental drawbacks (Hayes et al., 2012; Ren, 2003).

Bio-based biodegradable polymers, including PHA, PLA, starch, cellulose, polybutylene succinate, and ethylene vinyl acetate, as well as fossil-based polyesters like poly(butylene succinate-co-butylene adipate) (PBSA), polybutylene adipate terephthalate (PBAT) and PBS, have been extensively used to develop biodegradable films that can meet several requirements, such as air and moisture permeability, weed prevention, and light-blocking properties (Kasirajan & Ngouajio, 2012; Niaounakis, 2015). These films can be an alternative to conventional PE films, providing similar functions in soil moisture preservation, temperature

regulation, soil structure and fertility enhancement, weed control and soil salinity management (Jia et al., 2020).

However, they also improve soil physical characteristics, reduce tillage and irrigation needs, and limit agrochemical use, making them ideal for speciality crop production. This can lead to a more sustainable agroecosystem by increasing water-air ratios and temperature conditions in the soil and providing a better habitat for microbial organisms (Abbate et al., 2023). Biodegradable mulch films weaken with time, making them easy to plough into the soil for complete decomposition. Their strength can be controlled by reducing their resistance to natural conditions like temperature, humidity, and light. Using biodegradable mulch films can save labour and disposal costs by allowing incorporation through soil tillage operations, preserving resources, and reducing pollution (Kasirajan & Ngouajio, 2012; Niaounakis, 2015). However, due to the poor mechanical properties of starch, which is often used to manufacture these films, it must be mixed with other polymers and plasticizers (Niaounakis, 2015).

So far, the use of biodegradable mulch films is not without drawbacks. In reality, its complete breakdown in the soil is not always guaranteed, raising concerns about its impact on soil ecosystems (Bandopadhyay et al., 2018; Goldberger et al., 2015). Biodegradable mulch films are more expensive than conventional mulches, but they save on labour and disposal costs. They have a lower tensile strength and a thinner nature, requiring extra care during handling to avoid tearing. The mechanical properties of the film deteriorate significantly after six months from production. Furthermore, they may begin to deteriorate or fuse during transportation or storage, and the weight of the film can cause it to adhere to itself. Weather fluctuations can affect their degradation, making developing a material that functions consistently across different regions and over time difficult (Hayes et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014; Niaounakis, 2015). As a result, adoption rates among farmers are low. However, multiple patent applications have addressed the abovementioned complications and improved the utility of biodegradable mulch films (Niaounakis, 2015).

Moreover, gellan gum and gaur gum with thermoregulation properties can enhance the strength, durability, and resilience of sandy and clayey soil when used as **soil additives** in agriculture (Fatehi et al., 2018). Therefore, selecting appropriate biopolymers is crucial for improving soil quality in agricultural applications (Niaounakis, 2015).

Biopolymers like PHA (primarily P(3HB-3HV) and P3HB) and PLA have agricultural uses for **pest control and enhancing plant nitrogen fixation**. Biopolymer pellets containing insecticides are sown with crops to control pests, with the degradation of the polymer controlling the rate of insecticide release (Holmes, 1985; Philip et al., 2007). Biopolymers are also used as carriers for bacterial inoculants to enhance nitrogen fixation in plants to increase crop yield. These inoculants must withstand stressful environmental conditions (Kadouri et al., 2005; Philip et al., 2007). PHA-rich *Azospirillum* cells in peat inoculants significantly increase crop yield, improving commercial inoculants' shelf life, efficiency, and reliability, impacting agricultural sustainability field experiments with maize and wheat (Dobbelaere et al., 2001; Kadouri et al., 2005). The drawbacks of using biopolymers for these purposes are comparable to those mentioned earlier, including high production cost, limited availability, degradation, efficiency and regulatory approval requirement (Kadouri et al., 2005; Philip et al., 2007).

Fertilizers and grow bags are used in agriculture for seedling development, providing soil temperature stabilization, moisture retention, and crop protection. They also improve crop survival rates and facilitate transportation. However, standard plastic bags pose environmental and agricultural problems, so there is a need for biodegradable alternatives. PHA agricultural grow bags are a beneficial alternative since they are biodegradable, do not leave toxic residue in the soil, and can remove nitrogen from water without contamination (Amelia et al., 2019; Hiraishi & Khan, 2003). Additionally, they promote root growth and prevent root deformation, which can adversely affect plant development, immunity to pathogens, and the ability of the plant to anchor firmly in the soil after transplantation (Bilck et al., 2014). PHA grow bags eliminate double handling and bag recycling after usage (El-Malek et al., 2020). However, they may not be suitable for all crops or growth conditions (Amelia et al., 2019).

Agricultural nets are extensively used to protect crops and improve their quality and yield (Scarascia-Mugnozza et al., 2012). Non-biodegradable plastics are the preferred material for these nets due to their easy and scalable production. However, biobased plastic nets made from polyamine acids, polysaccharide derivatives, PHB, PCL, and PLA have excellent biodegradability compared to conventional plastics like HDPE, PE, and PVC (El-Malek et al., 2020; Maraveas, 2020a). However, bio-based polymers have low tensile strength, and the disturbance of natural insect predators like spiders hinders their use in agriculture. Chemical additions can enhance strength but at the expense of sustainability. Electrospinning processes can produce plastic nets with elastic properties (Maraveas, 2020a, 2020b).

2.1.6 Benefits and drawbacks of bioplastics

The bioplastics are favourable in terms of energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions compared to conventional plastics. However, other factors must be considered when comparing these two types of plastics, such as the negative environmental impact of fertilizers and pesticides used in the cultivation of bioplastics, as well as the presence of non-biodegradable copolymers. This can increase energy demand and CO₂ emissions (Gironi & Piemonte, 2011). The carbon footprint of bioplastics depends on whether the carbon captured by the plant during photosynthesis is permanently stored in the plastic. Bioplastics made from biological sources can sequester carbon, but carbon sequestration is reversed if they degrade back into CO₂ and H₂O. However, permanent bioplastics can store carbon indefinitely, even after they are recycled multiple times, potentially leading to a much lower carbon footprint (Arikan & Ozsoy, 2015; Chen, 2014). In addition, bioplastics are often free of harmful chemicals like BPA and emit fewer greenhouse gases without any toxins (Arikan & Ozsoy, 2015; Chen, 2008).

Life cycle assessments comparing the environmental impact of recycling petroleum-based plastics and compostable bioplastics show that recycling has a lesser effect overall. However, there are advantages to using biodegradable products for organic waste and disposable cutlery, which can be directly disposed of with organic waste, saving energy and logistics costs (Gironi & Piemonte, 2011).

The mixing of biodegradable plastics with other polymers to achieve desired properties can be problematic. Blending biodegradable plastic with non-biodegradable results in only the biodegradable components being degraded. Copolymers containing biodegradable and non-

biodegradable monomers can cause even more pollution, so whether they can still be considered biodegradable plastics is questionable (Arikan & Ozsoy, 2015; Iwata, 2015).

Biodegradable polymers offer a solution to the environmental issues arising from conventional polymers' disposal. Theoretically, once biodegradable polymers have met their intended use, they biodegrade in the environment rather than requiring recycling. Therefore, biodegradable polymers reduce plastic accumulation in the background and lower waste production costs (Ashter, 2016a). However, in practice, their biodegradation is often uncertain. Specific conditions are required for them to break down effectively. Even if bioplastics are designed to be biodegradable, they may not completely break down in a landfill if the required temperature, humidity, and pH levels are not met. This makes the direct landfilling of biodegradable bioplastics challenging and involves the development of specific sites for their disposal, which requires space, a controlled environment, regular monitoring, and the introduction of particular microorganisms and nutrients to facilitate their degradation. This additional step adds up to the overall cost of disposal (Nanda et al., 2022).

Despite the potential benefits of biodegradable plastics, there are still challenges that make their use difficult. These include the degradation rate determined by the type and ratio of components in a biopolymer, the dependence on environmental conditions, as well as worse properties compared to conventional plastics that may require the use of additives for improvement (Ashter, 2016a). The biodegradation rate requires a start function to trigger instant degradation after use. The required rate is determined by the intended usage. Optimizing the biodegradation rate of biodegradable plastics depends on moulding techniques and material structure, including factors such as crystallinity, lamellar thickness, and molecular conformation. (Iwata, 2015). Furthermore, degraded bioplastics can harm the environment by creating an acidic soil environment that negatively impacts plant growth and soil quality. Therefore, monitoring the long-term effects of biodegradable products is essential to ensure that they fully decompose (Iwata, 2015).

For bioplastics to be sustainable long-term, society must accept and understand their usage, environmental impact, composting, and recycling. This will shape the bioplastic market, increase raw material supply, and compete with conventional plastics in terms of cost, efficiency, and waste management. Large-scale production would positively impact the global economy while addressing environmental pollution (Nanda et al., 2022).

2.2 Biodegradable polymer – poly-3-hydroxybutyrate

This study was conducted using the biopolymer poly-3-hydroxybutyrate, which is a biodegradable and biocompatible polyester, the most common member of the polyhydroxyalkanoates family (Peña et al., 2014). PHA are a class of biopolymers that are synthesized by bacterial cells and can serve as a source of intracellular carbon and energy storage. Among PHA, P3HB is a type of granule-associated protein that is stored in subcellular structures within bacterial cells called P3HB granules. P3HB granules are coated with phospholipids and granule-associated proteins that play an essential role in their production, degradation, and development. PHA synthases are the primary enzymes responsible for the production of PHA, including P3HB, while PHA depolymerase is the enzyme responsible for their degradation (Pötter & Steinbüchel, 2005).

PHA granules are generated within bacterial cells as a result of the action of PHA synthases, which are the primary enzymes in PHA production (Rehm, 2006). Granules are water-insoluble inclusions that are present in the cytoplasm of bacteria and can account for up to 80% (w/w) of dry cell weight or more (Pötter & Steinbüchel, 2005). Four types of proteins have been identified in the context of PHA synthesis and regulation. These include PHA synthase, PHA depolymerase, 3HB-oligomer hydroxylase, PhaPs (PHA inclusion structural proteins), and PhaR (PHA expression regulator) (Pötter & Steinbüchel, 2005).

PHA synthases are the primary enzymes in PHA production and catalyse the polymerization of hydroxyacyl-coenzyme A (CoA) to PHA and free CoA. These enzymes are stereo-selective and can incorporate secondary monomers into PHA by modifying PH3B biosynthesis genes or by introducing new genes that affect the P3HB biosynthetic pathway, depending on the carbon source provided to the bacteria. On intracellular provision of the substrate, the PHA synthase initiates the catalysis of a high molecular weight PHA molecule. The growing PHA chain bonds to the enzyme, resulting in the change of the soluble enzyme into an amphipathic molecule. This leads to the creation of a PHA granule, with the PHA synthase assumed to be covalently linked to the surface (Madison & Huisman, 1999; Peters et al., 2007; Rehm, 2003).

Poly-3-hydroxybutyrate and poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV) are the most known types of PHA with properties similar to conventional plastics such as PE and PP. Unlike these two traditional plastics, PHA are biodegradable within a year, while biodegradable within a year (Kookos et al., 2019; Suriyamongkol et al., 2007). PHA are of both scientific and industrial interest; within the industry, PHA can be produced from renewable resources such as sugars and plant oils and can exhibit a wide range of mechanical characteristics, from thermoplastics to elastomers (Hisano et al., 2006). This means that they have a wide range of potential applications in various fields, including packaging, agriculture, medicine, and biotechnology. However, despite their potential benefits, PHA currently have limited market share due to their relatively high production costs. The production cost of PHA is typically 5-10 times higher than that of conventional plastics or other biopolymers, which limits their affordability and accessibility (Costa et al., 2019; Kookos et al., 2019).

P3HB is a linear polyester of D-3-hydroxybutyric acid, which is accumulated in intracellular granules by various bacterial organisms as a response to physiological stress (e.g. oxygen or nitrogen deficiency). P3HB can be produced either in pure or mixed forms of bacteria cultures.

For instance, among the common representatives are *Ralstonia eutrophus* or *Bacillus megaterium*. The isotactic stereo-regular structure of P3HB, with a highly degradable R configuration, makes it a promising biopolymer (Bugnicourt et al., 2016). The linear chain structure of P3HB results in a crystalline PHAe (>60%) linked through amorphous regions to form a semicrystalline polymer (Dalton et al., 2022).

Poly-3-hydroxybutyrate has a high molecular weight, ranging from approximately 50 000 to over a million Daltons, which is dependent on several factors, such as the organism, growth conditions, and extraction technique. Furthermore, the biopolymer has a melting point of 170–180 °C and a glass transition temperature of 5 °C (Biron, 2017). P3HB is not crystalline in nature; however, it can be transformed into a more crystalline form during the extraction process. The degree of crystallinity, glass transition, and microstructure determines P3HB's brittleness, which can worsen if stored for extended periods at room temperature. Additionally, it is free of catalytic residue, so the biopolymer does not contain any catalyst residues or impurities that could affect its properties or degrade over time. P3HB is resistant to hydrolysis, with low permeability for oxygen (O₂), H₂O, and CO₂ and resistance to oxidation but limited chemical resistance. Improving its mechanical properties and stability requires adding lubricants and plasticizers to prevent chain degradation during processing, slowing secondary crystallization, and exploring the impact of high-temperature processing, cooling rates, and additives on crystallization, glass temperatures, and biodegradation behaviour (Ashter, 2016; Chen, 2005).

The physicochemical properties and potential applications of P3HB are influenced by its molecular mass, which plays a crucial role in determining its elasticity and mechanical strength. The composition of the culture medium, pH, temperature, and aeration conditions during polymer production affect the molecular mass of P3HB (Millán et al., 2016; Peña et al., 2014). Additionally, molecular mass affects both the thermoplastic and crystallization properties of P3HB. Low molecular weight P3HB exhibits thermal degradation and brittleness at high temperatures (over 180 °C) (Hong et al., 2013). The relative level of expression of biosynthetic enzymes can be affected by the order of the biosynthetic genes (phbA, phbB and phbC) within the phbB operon and the activity of P3HB synthase (Hiroe et al., 2012), the type of PHA synthase present (Agus et al., 2006), and mutations in the P3HB synthase enzyme all affect the molecular mass (Millán et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2006).

Due to its biodegradable and biocompatible characteristics, P3HB is considered a potential substitute for petrochemical plastics. Although P3HB (Agus et al., 2006) has mechanical properties similar to conventional plastics such as PP or PE, its high level of crystallinity can result in brittleness and low elongation before breaking (Chen & Wang, 2013; Domínguez-Díaz et al., 2015; Millán et al., 2016). Moreover, P3HB has good barrier properties and is more rigid than conventional plastics (Chen, 2005).

2.2.1 Synthesis of P3HB

This section describes how a type of bacteria accumulates P3HB within its cells. P3HB can be naturally synthesized through bacterial fermentation of lipids and sugars obtained from renewable feedstocks such as sucrose, vegetable oils, and fatty acids. This involves the conversion of organic matter to P3HB, which serves as a means of storing carbon and

energy. These polymers are produced by more than 300 species, mainly bacteria. There are two stages involved in this process: synthesis and degradation (Chanprateep, 2010; Peña et al., 2014).

During the synthesis stage, a bacterium begins by condensing two molecules of acetyl-CoA to create acetoacetyl-CoA. This reaction is catalysed by the 3-keto thiolase enzyme encoded by the phbA gene. The resulting molecule, acetoacetyl-CoA, is then converted to 3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA by the acetoacetyl-CoA reductase enzyme encoded by the phbB gene while using NADPH. Finally, the P3HB synthase enzyme produced by the phbC gene polymerizes hydroxy butyryl-CoA monomers to form P3HB and releases CoA (Rehm, 2003; Stubbe et al., 2005). The P3HB biosynthetic genes may be clustered and arranged in one operon phbCAB in certain species, although the order of these genes varies across species; the genes may be unlinked (Peña et al., 2014; Reddy et al., 2003).

More than 60 PHA synthase genes from eubacteria have been cloned and sequenced, and many more have been revealed in the sequenced bacterial genomes (Steinbüchel & Lütke-Eversloh, 2003). Although many of the P3HB production systems use non-genetically modified bacterial strains, some efforts have been made to increase these polymers' production by genetic manipulation. These efforts include changing the metabolism and regulatory systems to favour P3HB synthesis and recombinant gene expression (Peña et al., 2014).

However, the biosynthetic pathways for P3HB compete with central metabolic pathways, such as the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, fatty acid degradation (β-oxidation), and fatty acid biosynthesis for precursors. As a result, it can be advantageous to employ recombinant strains in combination with a multistage fermentation process and low-cost raw materials to optimize P3HB production at the industrial level (Peña et al., 2014).

The bacterium utilizes the P3HB reserves for energy production after depleting the external carbon source. In the degradation stage, polymer chains are converted into hydroxybutyrate or P3HB oligomers by an enzyme P3HB depolymerase (produced by the phbZ gene) (Millán et al., 2016; Peña et al., 2014). Subsequently, hydroxybutyrate is oxidized by an enzyme, hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase, which is dependent on NAD⁺, producing acetoacetate. Ultimately, the succinyl-CoA acetoacetate transferase enzyme converts acetoacetate to acetoacetyl-CoA (Millán et al., 2016; B. Rehm, 2007). The synthesis and degradation stages occur concurrently, and the ratio between the two PHAes can affect the molecular mass of P3HB that accumulates within the bacterium (Millán et al., 2016; Ren et al., 2009).

Several bacterial and archaeal species have been identified as producers of PHA. The most effective ones for producing P3HB on a pilot or large scale are *Cupriavidus necator*, *Azohydromonas lata*, and recombinant *Escherichia coli* (Peña et al., 2014). Additionally, members of *Haloarchaea* have been identified as PHA producers. They offer significant advantages due to their ability to grow in hypersaline conditions, utilize low-cost carbon sources, and lyse in distilled water, simplifying polymer isolation and reducing production costs (Peña et al., 2014; Poli et al., 2011).

2.3 Degradation of bioplastics

In general, degradation refers to any procedure that transforms large and complex substances into smaller units. Various physical or chemical alterations can cause the breakdown of long-chain polymers into their building blocks due to exposure to environmental factors (Ghosh et al., 2013). These factors include heat, light, moisture, chemical conditions, or biological activity, according to which degradation is classified as follows:

- Biodegradation involves the action of living organisms, typically microbes.
- Photodegradation occurs when exposed to light, often sunlight.
- Thermooxidative degradation occurs gradually through oxidative breakdown at moderate temperatures.
- Thermal degradation involves the breakdown of materials at high temperatures.
- Hydrolysis the process by which compounds react with water (Andrady, 2011).

The functionality of a polymer can degrade as a result of chemical, physical, or biological reactions that result in the breaking of bonds and subsequent chemical transformations. This deterioration can cause various changes in the material's properties, including mechanical, optical, or electrical characteristics (Shah et al., 2008). When evaluating the impact of plastics, it is essential to consider the possible environmental risks posed by soluble byproducts produced during plastic degradation, along with the leaching of small molecules introduced during product manufacturing (Gewert et al., 2015).

Polymer degradation can be identified in various changes in material properties such as crazing, cracking, erosion, discolouration, PHAe separation, or delamination, which typically involve bond scission, chemical transformation, and the formation of new functional groups (Pospíšil & Nešpůrek, 1997; Shah et al., 2008). The polymer degradation rate is influenced by various factors, such as the type, size, structure, and prevailing environmental conditions to which it is exposed (Jasso-Gastinel et al., 2017).

Biopolymer degradation can occur via abiotic or biotic processes. Abiotic and biotic processes frequently coexist, with abiotic breakdown resulting in smaller molecules that are then mineralized by bacteria (Albertsson & Karlsson, 1990). Abiotic degradation often occurs before biodegradation.

Exposure to environmental conditions (i.e. weather, ageing, and burying) subjected polymeric materials to various abiotic degradation factors, ultimately affecting their biodegradability. Typically, abiotic parameters weaken the polymeric structure, leading to unfavourable alterations (Lucas et al., 2008). However, certain abiotic factors may serve as a synergistic factor or initiate the biodegradation process (Jakubowicz et al., 2006).

2.3.1 Abiotic degradation

Abiotic degradation of plastics in the environment can be classified into two broad categories: (1) physical degradation, including changes in the bulk structure of the material, such as cracking, embrittlement, and flaking; (2) chemical degradation, involving molecular level changes, such as bond cleavage and oxidation of long polymer chains. These reactions form new molecules with considerably shorter chain lengths (Chamas et al., 2020).

Chemical degradation

Chemical degradation can occur in the natural environment under ambient conditions, which refers to the typical temperature and pressure in the surrounding air. Generally, this type of degradation is caused either by hydrolysis (requiring H₂O) or oxidation (requiring O₂). These processes can be accelerated by microbial activity, heat, light, or a combination of these factors (Andrady, 2011; Lucas et al., 2008).

Photodegradation

Photodegradation refers to high-energy radiation when UV rays react with photosensitive materials (Ghosh et al., 2013). The energy that transfers from photons to the molecules can occur through photoionization, luminescence, fluorescence, and thermal radiation (Lucas et al., 2008). Photobiodegradable plastics include PHA, PLA, PCL, PBAT, PBSA, and others (Shah et al., 2008). Photodegradability is connected to their ability to absorb the harmful part of tropospheric solar radiation. This comprises the UV-B terrestrial and UV-A radiation that cause direct photodegradation (photolysis, initiated photooxidation). Through heating, the visible component of sunlight increases the polymeric breakdown. Thermal oxidation is accelerated by infrared light (Pospíšil & Nešpůrek, 1997; Shah et al., 2008). Most plastics absorb UV light, stimulating their electrons by increasing reactivity which leads to oxidation, cleavage, and other degradation processes (Shah et al., 2008).

Thermal degradation

Thermal degradation refers to molecular deterioration caused by overheating. The components of the long-chain backbone of the polymer start to separate by the molecular scission and interact with one another when reaching high temperatures. This leads to changes in physical and optical properties. Thermal degradation typically results in changes to the polymer's molecular weight (and molecular weight distribution). Common property changes include lower ductility and embrittlement, chalking, changes in colour, cracking, and a general loss of the majority of other desirable physical qualities (Shah et al., 2008).

Thermoplastic biopolymers degrade at their melting point as a result of the breaking of chemical bonds. The degree of degradation is influenced by molecular weight and comonomer percentage. The degradation temperatures of the most common biodegradable polymers are following, PLA melts at 159 –178 °C, P(HB/HV) at 137–169 °C, and P3HB at 175 °C (Lucas et al., 2008).

Mechanical degradation

Mechanical degradation can occur as a result of compression, tension, or shear forces. These effects can be caused by a variety of factors, including material limits during installation, ageing, air and water turbulences, snow pressure, or damage from birds. Therefore, thermoplastic polymers (such as low-tunnel films and mulches) can undergo several types of mechanical degradation (Briassoulis, 2004, 2006, 2007). In the context of field conditions, mechanical stresses interact synergistically with other factors, such as temperature, solar radiation, and chemicals, to affect the degradation of materials (Lucas et al., 2008).

2.3.2 Biotic degradation/biodegradation

Microbial metabolism plays a crucial role in biodegradation by breaking down organic compounds into simpler forms that can be utilized for energy and growth. However, the majority of polymers need to be depolymerized into smaller monomers in order to be absorbed and biodegraded by microorganisms since they are often too large, high molecular weight to pass through cellular membranes (Ashter, 2016a; Shah et al., 2008). Therefore, the biodegradation process can typically be divided into four stages, (i) microorganisms attack the polymer surface (biodeterioration); (ii) then the polymer chains are broken down into smaller components. (depolymerization); (iii) these smaller molecules are consumed by microorganisms (bioassimilation); (iv) until the polymer is entirely degraded to natural molecules such as H₂O, CO₂, CH₄ and biomass (mineralization) (Lucas et al., 2008). Although biodegradation is not primarily affected by mechanical factors, they can initiate or accelerate it (Briassoulis, 2005).

Biodeterioration

The initial stage of polymer biodegradation, called biodeterioration, is characterized by the fragmentation of biodegradable polymers into small fractions by combined microorganism activity together with abiotic degradation and enzymatic processes (Gu, 2003). Deterioration modifies the mechanical, physical, and chemical properties of a material on a surface level (Lucas et al., 2008). During this step, MO may secrete adhesives or biosurfactants (Koutny et al., 2009) or could quickly adapt to the polymer environment to efficiently colonise and use the substrate (Tribedi et al., 2015).

Materials may be degraded in several ways depending on the composition of the polymer, environmental factors (temperature, humidity, weather, pollution), and the microorganisms involved (Siracusa, 2019). The microorganisms responsible for biodeterioration belong to various taxonomic groups, including bacteria, protozoa, algae, fungi, and lichens (Wallström et al., 2005).

Microorganisms use extracellular polymers to penetrate materials. Microbial species adhere to a material surface and form biofilms (i.e., structured communities of cells). For significant corrosion or deterioration of the underlying materials to occur, the formation of a biofilm is necessary (Gu, 2003; Lucas et al., 2008). Biofilms can damage synthetic polymeric materials in several ways, including surface coating, leaching of additives and monomers, enzymatic and radical attacks, water accumulation, and pigment excretion (Flemming, 1998). Water causes hydrolysis in various polymers, leading to the production of acids, which erode the surface and sequester cations such as calcium (Ca²⁺), aluminium (Al³⁺), silicon (Si⁴⁺), iron (Fe²⁺), manganese (Mn²⁺) and magnesium (Mg²⁺), while also serving as carbon sources for microorganisms (Lucas et al., 2008).

Microbial activity can lead to a reduction in the dry weight of polymers and induce physicalchemical alterations, resulting in changes in surface morphologies. Subsequently, the microbe activity leads to the formation of cracks and rough surfaces and chemical bonding structures (Mukherjee et al., 2016; Tareen et al., 2022).

Biofragmentation

Smaller polymer fragments generated by abiotic breakdown can pass through cellular membranes and are biodegraded by cellular enzymes within microbial cells; however, certain microorganisms also secrete extracellular enzymes that can act on specific plastic polymers (Gewert et al., 2015; Shah et al., 2008).

Depolymerization

The microorganisms of the biofilm secrete extracellular and intracellular depolymerases (endoor exoenzymes) that initiate polymeric chain cleavage. As a result, the polymer chain is depolymerized into oligomers, dimers, or monomers that have significantly lower molecular weights and are of a size that allows them to pass through the bacterial semi-permeable membranes. Subsequently, these smaller monomers can then be utilized by bacteria in the next stage (Ahmed et al., 2018; Shah et al., 2008).

Assimilation

During assimilation, microorganisms absorb smaller molecules produced in depolymerization and are taken up and metabolized into primary and secondary metabolites. Microorganisms use them as a source of energy and nutrients (i.e. carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, phosphorus, and sulphur) for their growth and reproduction. The monomers are transported across the cell membrane and oxidized through catabolic pathways (aerobic respiration, anaerobic respiration, and fermentation), leading to the production of ATP and other cellular components. (Lucas et al., 2008) Microorganisms can assimilate molecules resulting from biodeterioration or biofragmentation, leading to their further degradation and recycling (Siracusa, 2019).

Mineralization

The final stage of biodegradation is the mineralization of polymer monomers. Biodegradation occurs under two different conditions, depending on the presence of oxygen; Aerobic biodegradation (in the presence of O_2) results in the production of carbon dioxide, water and microbial biomass, which is typically facilitated by aerobic microorganisms (Ashter, 2016a; Lucas et al., 2008). The aerobic biodegradation process can be visually represented using an equation:

$$C_{polymer} + 0_2 \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O + C_{biomass} + mineral salts + residue(s)$$
 (1)

The second one is anaerobic biodegradation, which produces mainly methane, then carbon dioxide, water, and microbial biomass and is usually carried out by anaerobic microorganism consortia under methanogenic conditions (Ashter, 2016a). An equation that visually illustrates the anaerobic biodegradation process is:

$$C_{polymer} \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2 + H_2O + C_{biomass} + mineral salts + residue(s)$$
 (2)

Biodegradation is impacted by both the inherent properties of a polymer (e.g. molecular weight, solubility, crystallinity, or presence of additives) and environmental conditions, such as the availability of oxygen and light, pH, temperature, humidity, microorganism, and enzyme type and concentration. Consequently, a polymer can exhibit varying rates of degradation under different environmental conditions, including water, soil, and physiological states (Agarwal, 2020; Gu, 2003). Nevertheless, the biodegradation of polymer substrates rarely leads to

the complete degradation of the polymer material. This is because a small fraction of the polymer will be integrated into microbial biomass, humus, and other natural products (Gu, 2003). Complete biodegradation or mineralization is achieved when no residual material remains, i.e., when the original product has been completely transformed into gaseous products and salts and all the carbon content has been converted into carbon dioxide (Lucas et al., 2008).



Fig. 4: Mechanism of P3HB biodegradation.

2.3.3 Factors affecting polymer biodegradation

The biodegradability of the polymer is mainly influenced by its specific properties and exposure conditions (Ahmed et al., 2018). The reason for the high resistance of polymers is primarily due to their considerable molecular weight and hydrophobic surfaces, making it challenging for the molecules to penetrate the cell wall (Mohanan et al., 2020). Microbial enzymes can break down low molecular-weight polymers more easily (Auras et al., 2004). The degree of degradability varies depending on the proportion of amorphous and crystalline forms and the presence of strong C-C bonds, which are exceptionally resilient against enzymatic degradation (Mohanan et al., 2020). Enzymes can biodegrade different types of polymers due to their unique active sites (Ahmed et al., 2018). Enzymatic degradability is significantly affected by the polymer's softening temperature; the polymer; with a higher melting point has less possibility

of biodegradation. The potential enzymatic degradation decreases with the increase in temperature (Ahmed et al., 2018; Tokiwa & Calabia, 2004). However, plastics derived from petrochemical sources are generally challenging to degrade due to their hydrophobicity and complex structure (Yamada-Onodera et al., 2001).

Another critical factor in the biodegradation rate is sufficient moisture, which promotes rapid microbial activity and hydrolysis, leading to more chain scission reactions (Ahmed et al., 2018; Ho et al., 1999). Additionally, changes in pH could modify the rate of hydrolysis reactions and microbial growth (Ahmed et al., 2018). The biodegradation rate of polymers is also affected by other factors. The hydrophobic nature of some polymers can hinder the formation of a biofilm of microorganisms, thereby slowing down the biodegradation process (Hadad et al., 2005). Additionally, the shape and size of a polymer are important in the determination of the degradation process. Polymers with a larger surface area tend to degrade faster. Furthermore, there are specific size and shape requirements for the biodegradation of different types of plastics (Ahmed et al., 2018; Kijchavengkul & Auras, 2008). Polymer biodegradability can also be affected by non-polymer substances, such as dyes, catalyst waste, additives, and fillers (Ahmed et al., 2018). However, the addition of biosurfactants can improve the biodegradability of both fossil-based and bio-based polymers, which possess high biodegradability and low toxicity (Hadar & Sivan, 2004). Biosurfactants contain specific functional groups that facilitate the biodegradation process, enabling their activity even under extreme conditions of temperature, pH, and salinity (Kawai et al., 2004).



Fig. 5: Influential Factors in the Degradation of PHB (Ong et al., 2017; Tokiwa & Calabia, 2004).

2.4 Soil and its ecosystem function

Soil is the unconsolidated upper part of the earth's crust that acts as a natural medium for the growth of plants. It is a complex and dynamic ecosystem composed of various materials such as minerals, organic matter, water, air, and living organisms (both fauna and flora) (Young et al., 2008). Soil plays a crucial role in food and fibre production and contributes significantly to ecosystem function and environmental quality at local, regional and global scales. The importance of soil as a vital component of the biosphere has led to increasing interest in assessing its quality and health (Doran, 2002).

Soil is a complex natural formation that results from the continuous action of soil-forming processes known as pedogenesis. Soil formation is influenced by the parent material, climate, topography, biota, and time. These factors also affect soil properties, ecosystem function and services (Morgado et al., 2018). The development of soil can be divided into three phases:

- Soil formation soil-forming agents act on the parent material, gradually developing distinct soil horizons until the soil reaches its typical composition.
- Soil evolution already-formed soil undergoes gradual changes over time due to natural factors such as weathering, erosion, and biological activity.
- Soil metamorphosis soil-forming factors, including natural and anthropogenic influences, can cause changes in soil's properties and characteristics (Sarkar et al., 2021).

The soil develops through physicochemical reactions involving parent material. Once the soil is formed, its biogeochemical properties greatly influence its quality. These properties control various chemical reactions, including adsorption-desorption, dissolution, precipitation, and redox reactions, which ultimately contribute to the chemical properties of soil colloids. Understanding soil colloid interactions is crucial for effective soil quality management. Optimizing soil health and fertility promotes sustainable agricultural practices and ensures long-term land productivity (Morgado et al., 2018; Sarkar et al., 2021).

Soil fulfils six essential functions in the overall functioning of ecosystems (Chan et al., 2016; Dazzi & Papa, 2022; Morgado et al., 2018):

- (1) Supporting the growth of higher plants by providing nutrients, water, and physical support.
- (2) Controlling the fate of water in the hydrological system by regulating the movement and storage of water.
- (3) Functioning as nature's recycling system by decomposing and recycling organic matter, nutrients, and minerals, soil regulates several ecological processes through the bio-geochemical cycles.
- (4) Providing habitat for various biota, including bacteria, archaea, fungi, microalgae, protozoa, nematodes, and bacteriophages.
- (5) Serving as an engineering medium or material by providing a foundation for buildings, roads, and other infrastructure.
- (6) Influencing the composition and physical condition of the atmosphere by storing and releasing gases such as carbon dioxide, methane, and oxygen.

2.4.1 Soil quality

Soil quality is a fundamental component of environmental quality, along with water and air (Andrews et al., 2002). It refers to the ability of soil to function as a living system, sustain productivity, promote healthy environments, and maintain the well-being of plants, animals, and humans within ecosystem and land use boundaries, according to the definition provided by Doran & Safley (1997). This definition emphasizes the complex and location-dependent nature of soil ecosystems and their connections to ecosystem services. Soil quality is more complicated than air and water quality because it includes solid, liquid, and gaseous PHAes and may provide a broader variety of functions (Bünemann et al., 2018; Nortcliff, 2002).

The terms "soil quality" and "soil health" are sometimes used interchangeably, although they are directly correlated. Soil quality refers to the soil's ability to meet specific human needs, such as crop production. In contrast, soil health encompasses the ecological features of soil that extend beyond its crop production capacity, including its ability to function as a living system and support various life forms (Alkorta et al., 2003).

Soil monitoring involves regular measuring and recording of spatial and temporal changes in soil variables. Detecting any shifts in soil quality at an early stage is crucial. The concept of soil quality goes beyond just soil productivity, as it includes interactions between humans and soil and the sustainability of ecosystems. Nowadays, soil quality assessment is increasingly incorporated into land evaluation for various purposes, such as sustainable land management, environmental risk assessments, ecological change, and land restoration (Bünemann et al., 2018).

Soil quality and health are determined by physical, chemical, and biological properties. These properties can be used as monitoring tools or indicators to evaluate changes in specific soil functions and overall soil ecosystem quality as a result of various management practices and natural disturbances such as climate change and contamination (Doran, 2002; Morgado et al., 2018).

The most proposed soil quality indicators are total organic matter/carbon and pH. These are followed by available phosphorus, indicators of water storage, and bulk density, all of which are mentioned in more than 50% of the reviewed indicator sets. Other frequently used indicators include texture, available potassium (K), and total nitrogen (TN), all used in more than 40% of the reviewed indicator sets (Bünemann et al., 2018).

2.4.2 Indicators used to assess soil quality and health

2.4.3 Physical indicators

Soil Structure (texture, aggregate Stability, porosity)

Soil structure is critical in controlling various soil processes, including water retention and infiltration, gas exchanges, soil organic matter (SOM), mineral nutrient dynamics, root penetration, and erosion susceptibility (Kay, 1990). Additionally, soil structure is a habitat for various organisms, influencing their diversity and regulating their activity. Soil organisms can also actively shape the structure of the soil through their actions, altering the distribution of water and air within their habitats. Therefore, soil structure and soil organisms are closely interconnected and influence each other (Bottinelli et al., 2015; Rabot et al., 2018).

Soil texture, also known as particle size distribution, is a fundamental and constant soil property that affects the soil's physical and chemical properties (Mukhopadhyay, 2020).

Aggregate stability is determined by soil structure and is defined as the resistance of soil aggregates to external energy like heavy rainfall, erosion, or cultivation. It plays a crucial role in several ecosystem functions, including organic carbon accumulation, water infiltration, movement, storage, and root and microbial activity. Measurement of aggregate stability can also help evaluate soil resistance to erosion and management changes (Allen et al., 2011; Dalal & Moloney, 2000).

Porosity refers to the empty spaces in a material and can be measured as a fraction of the total volume. The distribution of pore sizes is vital in determining the capacity of the soil to store water and air, which is essential for plant growth in the root zone (Reynolds et al., 2002). The properties of pores significantly impact the physical quality, affecting bulk density, macroporosity, soil porosity, and water release characteristics. These factors influence several indicators of soil physical quality, such as aeration capacity, plant-accessible water capacity, and relative field capacity (Allen et al., 2011; Reynolds et al., 2009). Additionally, soil porosity and pore size distribution are crucial for root development and soil enzyme activity (Allen et al., 2011).

The water holding capacity is the quantity of water a particular soil can store for crop use. This property is critical for crop productivity. The water retention capacity of soils is typically defined concerning water infiltration, which is the process by which water penetrates the soil and flows its layers to a specific depth (Dalal & Moloney, 2000; Raghavendra et al., 2020). As the infiltration rate varies significantly with soil use, management, and time, it has been included in the assessment of soil health as an indicator of the impact of changes in land use (O'Farrell et al., 2010; Raghavendra et al., 2020).

The bulk density is expressed as the dry soil weight per volume unit. In agricultural systems, it is commonly analysed to describe the state of soil compactness in relation to land use and management (Raghavendra et al., 2020). It also belongs to the valuable indicator of soil health in terms of soil processes such as aeration and infiltration, rooting depth/restrictions, water capacity, soil porosity, plant nutrient availability and soil microorganism activities (Raghavendra et al., 2020; Reynolds et al., 2009). Bulk intensity negatively correlates with the content of SOM or SOC. The loss of organic carbon caused by increased decomposition due to elevated temperatures may increase bulk density. The soil is then more susceptible to compaction through land management activities. Bulk density is a direct measure of compaction and usually does not fluctuate with other soil parameters because it is generally given on a dry soil basis (Raghavendra et al., 2020).

2.4.4 Chemical indicators Soil pH

One of the most accurate indicators of soil chemical properties is pH. The soil pH is influenced by the solubility of various compounds, the relative bonding of ions to exchange sites, and the multiple microorganisms (Raghavendra et al., 2020).

Electrical conductivity

Soil electrical conductivity is a simple method of determining the salt concentration levels in soil and is widely regarded as a reliable indicator of soil health and quality. It can provide valuable information on various aspects of soil health, such as salinity trends, crop productivity, nutrient cycling (especially nitrate), and biological activity. In combination with pH, it can indicate soil structure, particularly in soils with high sodium levels (sodic soils). (Arnold et al., 2005; Raghavendra et al., 2020). Furthermore, in response to crop management practices, electrical conductivity has been employed as a chemical indicator of soil biological quality (Vargas Gil et al., 2009).

Cation exchange capacity

The cation exchange capacity (CEC) is an essential indicator in determining the chemical quality, as it affects the retention of the major nutrient cations, including Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , and K^+ , and the immobilisation of potentially toxic cations such as Al and Mn. Therefore, CEC may be used to assess soil health by providing information on the soil's capacity to absorb nutrients, pesticides and chemicals.(Raghavendra et al., 2020; Ross et al., 2008). Ion exchange capacity primarily influences soil CEC binding to negatively charged organic matter, clay and soil colloid (Raghavendra et al., 2020).

Soil organic matter

Soil organic matter (SOM) encompasses a diverse spectrum of living and non-living constituents. SOM is one of the most complex and heterogeneous soil components, exhibiting substantial variation in its properties, functions, and turnover dynamics (Weil & Magdoff, 2004). It is crucial for soil health and quality, as it contributes to electrical charge, is a reservoir and source of carbon and nitrogen, and affects the cycling of phosphorus and sulfur. Moreover, it provides a habitat for microbes and fauna and influences aggregate stability, water retention and hydraulic properties (Haynes, n.d.; Weil & Magdoff, 2004). Given that SOM plays a fundamental role in driving most soil functions. A decline in SOM content could result in reduced fertility, biodiversity, and a weakened soil structure. The lower content of SOM could further lead to a decrease in water retention capacity, an increase in erosion risk, and bulk density, ultimately leading to soil compaction (Allen et al., 2011; Weil & Magdoff, 2004).

The primary parameter for evaluating SOM conditions is soil organic carbon (SOC), which represents approximately 50% of SOM (Haynes, n.d.; Raghavendra et al., 2020). Soil organic carbon, a fundamental component of SOM, is another essential indicator in assessing soil quality. In general, high levels of SOC levels indicate better soil quality which is generally positively associated with crop yield (Bennett et al., 2010). SOC influences critical functional processes within the soil, such as nutrient storage (particularly nitrogen), water retention capacity, and aggregate stability (Raghavendra et al., 2020). Soil organic carbon variability can result from various factors, such as adding primary organic compounds from photosynthesis distributed unevenly in the soil. The type of soil management practises, such as tilling before crop planting or incorporating amendments and fertilisers, can also cause significant disturbance and stimulate decomposing microorganisms, leading to changes in nutrient concentrations and SOC content (Faria et al., 2009).

Available nutrients

The detection and characterization of both macro- and micronutrients in soil, encompassing elements such nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, sulfur, iron, and zinc, as well as copper, molybdenum, manganese, boron, and chlorine, can be an instrument to assess soil health. Evaluating soil capacity to provide nutrients to meet the remaining plant nutrient needs beyond the current supply to fulfil the crop requirement (Mukhopadhyay, 2020; Raghavendra et al., 2020). The analysis of extractable nutrients can reveal the soil's capacity for supporting the development of plants; conversely, it may identify critical or threshold levels for environmental risk assessment (Raghavendra et al., 2020).

Priming effect

The priming effect generally relates to short-term alterations in turnover intensity (such as decomposition) of SOM caused by fertilization or plant cultivation (Kuzyakov et al., 2000). It is a process where the addition of organic substrates to the soil can increase microbial activity, which can increase (positive effect) or decrease (negative effect) the rate of decomposition of SOM (Kuzyakov, 2006; Kuzyakov et al., 2000). Its value is determined by the substrate type and SOM quality. Moreover, the positive priming effect contributes to the increasing CO₂ concentration in the atmosphere. (Dilly & Zyakun, 2008).

2.4.5 Soil respiration

Soil respiration is an overall process responsible for the release of CO_2 into the atmosphere, including microbial, above-ground plant, and root respiration. Soil respiration is the result of carbon transfer through the metabolic activity of living organisms, including various microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and algae, as well as soil fauna (Pell et al., 2006).

Microbial respiration describes the processes by which microorganisms, such as fungi and bacteria, respire and release CO_2 using organic matter as an energy source. It includes all forms of microbial activity, including growth, maintenance, and reproduction; the SOC release rates depend strongly on temperature. It encompasses microbial activity, such as growth, maintenance, and reproduction (Pell et al., 2006). Under controlled laboratory conditions and in the absence of plant roots, a type of microbial respiration called basal respiration reflects the steady rate of CO_2 that microorganisms generate when actively decomposing organic matter (Borken et al., 2002).

Soil respiration is a standard biological indicator of soil health that reflects changes in the health and functioning of the soil environment. It is strongly correlated with the SOM content and the microbial biomass. It is a method of quantifying either the release of CO_2 from the soil or the consumption of O_2 . Thus, it can indicate soil respiration rates and microbial activity (Allen et al., 2011). Soil respiration serves as a semiquantitative indicator for the release of nutrients, given that it is affected by changes in nutrient levels and organic matter degradation rates within the soil profile (Borken et al., 2002).

Basal respiration (BR) and substrate-induced respiration (SIR) are well-known and extensively used parameters of microbial activity in soil microbial ecology. Additionally, SIR can be used to determine the total microbial biomass in the soil. Soil microbial biomass carbon is regarded

as the most dynamic and inert component of soil organic carbon. Therefore, the pool of soil microbial carbon, its activity, and composition are critical characteristics in soil processes that have been extensively researched in various ecological approaches (Ananyeva et al., 2008).

Soil basal respiration is the steady rate of respiration in soil originating from the mineralisation of organic matter. It is estimated based either on the release of CO_2 or consumption of O_2 . The measurement of soil basal respiration has been applied in various research studies. Both soil microbial respiration and the mineralisation of organic matter are commonly acknowledged as key indicators for measuring changes in soil quality (Creamer et al., 2014; Dilly & Zyakun, 2008). The basal respiration rate is determined by the quantity and quality of the carbon source. As such, BR can serve as an integrated indicator of the potential of the soil biota to decompose both endogenous and exogenous organic substances in response to specific environmental conditions (Pell et al., 2006).

The substrate-induced respiration is a method based on the maximum initial respiratory response of soil microorganisms to the addition of substrate to the soil. It detects bacterial biomass on the principle that excess substrate metabolism is limited by the quantity of active aerobic microorganisms in the soil. The SIR should indicate the impacts of temperature, water availability and resource quality on microbial communities at a given time since optimal circumstances result in growth, whereas periods of stress result in reduced growth and mortality of MO. When provided with standardized conditions, the metabolism of an excess substrate (e.g. glucose) is limited by the number of active aerobic microorganisms in the particular soil (Dilly & Zyakun, 2008; Langer & Rinklebe, 2011).

Soil microbial biomass, a living component of soil organic matter (SOM), refers to the abundance of microorganisms in the soil. These microorganisms regulate nutrient cycling, energy flow, and ecosystem production. Soil microbial biomass values can be used to assess soil nutrient levels and are important in the primary productivity of various biogeochemical processes in terrestrial ecosystems (Gregorich et al., 2000; Raghavendra et al., 2020). Microbial biomass has been proposed as a reliable indicator of soil quality and health due to its sensitivity to changes in soil conditions (Raghavendra et al., 2020).

For the impact on soil functions and the total amount of immobilized carbon, three major characteristics of soil microbial biomass are often considered: pool size, activity, and diversity. Many studies have shown that C and N availability, pH, and moisture content limit activity and growth (Langer & Rinklebe, 2011). Several physiological, biochemical, and chemical methods have been established to measure soil microbial status. These include substrate-induced respiration, chloroform fumigation incubation, and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) analysis (Horwath & Paul, 1994).

2.4.6 Soil enzyme activity

Enzymes play a vital role in the breakdown and conversion of organic molecules into minerals. Monitoring multiple soil enzyme activities is crucial to understanding the biodegradation of organic compounds and the mineralization of carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulfur. Such monitoring may also reveal the harmful effects of chemicals and other anthropogenic impacts (Alkorta et al., 2003; Rao et al., 2014). Soil enzymes are crucial indicators of soil quality, as they can reflect changes in the environment of the plant-soil system on a microbiological and biochemical level. It is related to their participation in cycling nutrients, mainly carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulphur. The processes involved in nutrient cycling involve the complex interplay between biological, chemical, and physical processes within the soil. Enzymes facilitate all biochemical processes within an ecosystem, including the decomposition and synthesis of soil organic matter (SOM). SOM, in turn, positively affects the production of microbial enzymes (Alkorta et al., 2003; Raiesi & Beheshti, 2014; Shi, 2010; Sinsabaugh et al., 2008).

Depending on the location, enzymes can be extracellular or intracellular. Intracellular enzymes are found in cells, whereas extracellular enzymes are released into the soil and fixed on clay and humic colloids through various mechanisms (Rao et al., 2014). Enzymes can be secreted by living microorganisms or released upon cell disintegration as residues of plants or animals. They are known to occur in the soil in two distinct forms free enzymes or enzymes that are stabilized on clay surfaces or soil organic matter (Burns, 1982; Rao et al., 2014).

Microbially mediated processes, which are catalysed by enzymes, underlie the cycling in soil and are essential for its functions. These processes have various roles in soil health and quality, including soil decontamination by breaking down pollutants and immobilizing heavy metals, forming soil structure, and influencing plant growth positively or negatively through plant pathogens and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (Alkorta et al., 2003). Enzyme reaction rates can be used to assess soil processes, productivity, microbial activity, and pollutant impact. Analysing these rates provides valuable information on the functioning and health of soil ecosystems (Srinivasrao et al., 2017). Several types of research have shown that soil enzyme activities effectively distinguish between various soil management practices, such as fertilization with animal or green manure/crop residue, municipal refuse amendment, and tillage treatments. In general, soil enzymes play a role in converting energy, maintaining environmental standards, and enhancing agricultural yields (Dick et al., 1988; García-Ruiz et al., 2009).

Soil enzymes are important for breaking down organic matter and recycling nutrients through oxidation (such as dehydrogenase, hydrolase, and glucosidase) and mineralization (such as protease, amidase, urease, phosphatase, and sulfatase) (Inamdar et al., 2022).

Although soil may contain hundreds of extracellular enzymes, only a few have been employed extensively to examine soil carbon and nutrient dynamics (Shi, 2010). Among the enzymes studied extensively that catalyse organic matter decomposition and mineralization are urease, arylsulfatase, nitrogenase, β -Glucosidase, phosphatase and β -1,4-N-acetyl-glucosaminidase (Morgado et al., 2018). The importance of these enzymes will be discussed in the subsequent sections.

Dehydrogenase (DHA)

Dehydrogenases belong to the critical oxidoreductase enzymes in the soil ecosystem. They are considered indicators of overall soil microbial activity since they are present within all living microbial cells and are tightly linked with microbial oxidoreduction processes in the soil (Gu et al., 2009; Moeskops et al., 2010). Notably, dehydrogenases do not accumulate extracellularly

in the soil. DHA is involved in biological oxidation processes by facilitating the transfer of hydrogen from organic matter to inorganic acceptors (Zhang et al., 2010). The DHA activity determines the rate of transformations in the soil (Kaczyńska et al., 2015). The total DHA activity is influenced by the collective actions of several types of dehydrogenases that are part of fundamental processes, such as the respiratory metabolism, nitrogen metabolism or the citrate cycle (Wolinska & Stepniewsk, 2012).

The most common procedure used for DHA determination involves the use of tetrazolium salts, such as triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC), which serve as valuable indicators of electron transport system activity. Dehydrogenases present in the soil reduce TTC, leading to the formation of an insoluble red-coloured product called triphenylformazan (TPF) (Małachowska-Jutsz & Matyja, 2019; Wolinska & Stepniewsk, 2012). The amount of TPF produced can be measured using calorimetry. However, it should be emphasized that this method only produces accurate results at a neutral pH and requires the presence of calcium carbonate to buffer the soil system (Wolinska & Stepniewsk, 2012).

Arylsulfatase (ARS)

ARS is an enzyme that facilitates the release of inorganic sulfate from organic matter by catalysing the hydrolysis of aromatic sulfate esters, producing phenols and sulfate (Alkorta et al., 2003). Sulfate is often limited in soils, and arylsulfatase is critical in enhancing its availability for better plant growth and microbial activity (Alkorta et al., 2003; Vong et al., 2003). The reaction process can be expressed by the following reaction:

phenol sulfate +
$$H_2 O \rightarrow$$
 sulfate + phenol (3)

Urease (Ure)

Urease is a critical enzyme in the hydrolysis of urea, which is widely used as a nitrogen fertilizer in agriculture and a significant component in animal urine (Alkorta et al., 2003). Moreover, the urease functions as a regulator of the nitrification process. Its activity is closely related to soil organic matter and microbial biomass levels. In soils, urease can be found as a free enzyme in solution, bound to colloidal particles (mineral or organic), and inside microbial cells. It has been observed that the higher the soil organic matter content and the microbial biomass, the higher the activity of urease (Roscoe et al., 2000). Urease also enables plants to use urea as a nitrogen source. Ure can be produced from various sources, such as plant residues and roots, animal waste or soil microbes. Bacteria and plants utilize the conversion of urea to ammonia and CO₂ as a source of nitrogen or carbon (Piotrowska-Dhugosz, 2019). The reaction is represented as:

$$\text{Urea} + \text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow \text{CO}_2 + 2 \text{ NH}_3 \tag{4}$$

Urea hydrolysis can lead to nitrogen losses and the accumulation of nitrite and ammonia, causing several problems. Once hydrolysed, urea can be nitrified and leached from agricultural soils to surface and groundwater, making urease activity an essential index of organic nitrogen mineralization (Dharmakeerthi & Thenabadu, 2013; Piotrowska-Długosz, 2019).
Phosphatase (Phos)

An enzyme phosphatase characterizes a broad group of enzymes that hydrolyse phosphate ester, releasing phosphate that microorganisms and plants can utilize. As an extracellular enzyme, phosphatase plays a role in mineralising organic P into phosphate by breaking down phosphoric (mono) ester bonds. This process converts organic phosphorus compounds into inorganic forms (HPO4², H₂PO4). Phosphatase exhibits a low substrate specificity, allowing it to act on a diverse range of structurally related substrates. Acid and alkaline phosphatases are the two extensively studied soil phosphatases found mainly in acidic and alkaline soils, respectively (Nannipieri et al., 2011; Shi, 2010).

phosphate monoester
$$+ H_2 O \rightarrow R - OH + phosphate$$
 (5)

Phos come mainly from soil microorganisms but can also originate from plant cells in the rhizosphere and detritosphere. These enzymes convert organic P into phosphate through the hydrolysis of phosphoric (mono) ester bonds. Phosphatase activity is influenced by changes in the composition of the microbial community and is induced by P deficiency (Nannipieri et al., 2011).

β -Glucosidase (GLU)

GLU is an enzyme involved in the decomposition of cellulose and other β -1,4-glucans, whose primary role is the hydrolysis of cellobiose to glucose for soil microorganisms (Sinsabaugh et al., 2008). It is sensitive to soil and residue management changes and can be an early indicator of changes in soil organic carbon. Increasing BG activity indicates the ability to break down plant residues and enhance crop nutrient availability. The activity of β -Glucosidase is linked to several soil functions, such as nutrient cycling, biodiversity, filtering and buffering, and physical stability and support, within the framework of soil management assessment. (Stott et al., 2010).

glucoside +
$$H_2 O \rightarrow \beta - D - Glucose + R - OH$$
 (6)

N-acetyl- β -D-glucosamidase (NAG)

NAG is with other enzymes involved in breaking down chitin, peptidoglycan and other glucosamine polymers connected by β -1,4-bonds (Sinsabaugh et al., 2008). The hydrolyses of chitin, as a critical constituent of insect and fungal cells, is crucial for carbon and nitrogen cycling because it facilitates the conversion of chitin into amino sugars, which represent a major source of mineralizable nitrogen in soils (Ekenler, 2002). Therefore, NAG activity is an asset in the cycling of both carbon and nitrogen in the soil (Parham & Deng, 2000). Activities of NAG may be involved in N-acquiring activities of microorganisms and the biological control of plant pathogens (Parham & Deng, 2000; Sinsabaugh & Moorhead, 1994). The activity of NAG is substantially related to nitrogen mineralization in long-term nitrogen-fertilized cropping systems and may serve as an indicator of nitrogen mineralization in soils (Stott et al., 2010).

Nitrogenase

An enzyme nitrogenase is responsible for converting atmospheric nitrogen to ammonia, making it available to living organisms. This enzyme is found in nitrogen-fixing bacteria, which conduct this process. Therefore, it is important to fix nitrogen for soil biological activity (Hoffman et al., 2014). Nitrogenase activity in the soil depends on the ecological conditions and specific N fixation capabilities of certain microorganisms and plant genotypes. These factors can vary under different climatic conditions. However, each plant's degree of nitrogenase activity is specific(Egamberdieva & Kucharova, 2008).

$$N_2 + 8e^- + 8H^+ \rightarrow 2NH_3 + H_2 + P_i$$
 (7)

2.4.7 Materials to improve soil quality

Fertilizers and soil amendments are commonly used materials that enhance the qualities of agricultural soils and increase the productivity of crops. They effectively improve soil fertility by enhancing plant nutrient and water availability, reducing soil dryness, promoting microbial activity, and enhancing nutrient absorption. Furthermore, soil amendments can improve soil structure by strengthening the stability of soil aggregates, modifying bulk density, and improving the relations between soil and water in the soil (El-Alsayed & Ismail, 2017; Tejada et al., 2009).

Their application in the soil can enhance other ecosystems by reducing heavy metal mobility and toxicity, limiting fertilizer and toxic substance migration, lowering soil salinity, stabilizing pH, promoting CO₂ fixation, and reducing GHG emissions (Li et al., 2012; Parmar et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2019).

The four primary categories of soil amendments are as follows:

- organic (plant residues, such as livestock manures, slaughterhouse waste, compost, plant residues or biochar, fertilizers),
- inorganic (lime, gypsum, clay minerals, potassium sulfate and chloride, sand),
- synthetic (fertilizers, superabsorbent polymers, pesticides and herbicides, hydrogels),
- and microbial amendments (inoculants of mycorrhizae or other microbes) (Abbott et al., 2018; Bulluck et al., 2002; Garbowski et al., 2023).

Organic matter is widely used as natural fertilizer in agriculture due to its carbon abundance and contributes to sustaining a balance of CO_2 in the environment (Parmar et al., 2016). Increasing the concentration of organic matter enhances various soil properties, including retention capacity, aggregation, structure, mechanical strength, soil compaction, and fertility (Eden et al., 2017). The long-term use of organic soil amendments contributes to the amplification of carbon sequestration in the soil and helps to improve food safety (Parmar et al., 2016). Additionally, the amount of organic amendment and its quality are essential variables influencing soil microbial biomass (Tu et al., 2006). There are manure, slurry, and plant residues among conventional soil amendments. However, alternative organic materials, such as sewage sludge and green or municipal waste, can be composted or pyrolyzed (biochar) into soil amendments (Eden et al., 2017). While incorporating organic supplements into the soil can offer several benefits, it may also have adverse environmental effects. Specifically, applying natural organic additives to the soil has been shown to substantially increase the emission of nitrous oxide (N_2O) and methane (CH₄) gases (Sun et al., 2019). Using organic waste directly as a soil supplement without prior stabilization can pose significant environmental risks. It can negatively impact soil microbial activity, nutrient immobilization, plant growth, and surface water quality and increase the presence of pathogenic microorganisms (Garbowski et al., 2023).

Biochar

Biochar is a carbon material produced under controlled conditions as the result of pyrolysis (i.e. thermal decomposition in a partial or anaerobic condition) of different types of biomass or organic solid waste (Hunt et al., 2010). Pyrolysis of biomass into biochar reduces waste volume, minimizes the risk of pathogens and pollutants, and increases carbon stability, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from waste (Wang et al., 2012).

Organic biochar production materials include wood, animal manure, sewage sludge, and agricultural crop residues (Ali et al., 2022). The intended application of biochar is determined by its physiochemical characteristics, which are influenced by the type of feedstock and the temperature conditions used during production (Sharma et al., 2020). Lower production temperatures yield more biochar, while higher temperatures decrease biochar yield and increase ash and carbon content (Domingues et al., 2017; Jindo et al., 2014).

Biochar improves soil fertility, enhances crop yield, mitigates climate change by carbon sequestration, reduces the leaching of nutrients, enhances water quality, and reduces heavy metal toxicity. Its ability to absorb positively and negatively charged compounds decreases the leaching of nutrients. Also, it can alter the soil's microbial community, which affects the cycle of nutrients and crop growth. Applying biochar and compost with biochar improves soil health and physical and biochemical properties (Das & Ghosh, 2020; Palansooriya et al., 2019; Sohi et al., 2010).

Other soil amendments often accompany the application of biochar to the soil. For instance, adding biochar to compost has additional benefits, including increasing oxygen levels and microbial activity, reducing N and C loss during composting, accelerating the decomposition of organic matter, and reducing greenhouse gas emissions (Wang et al., 2012).

Biochar has characteristics such as stability, high carbon content, a large specific surface area, microporosity, and strong sorption capacity (Li et al., 2019). Due to its resistance to decomposition, biochar has the potential to persist in the environment for extended periods and contribute positively to soil carbon sequestration (Ennis et al., 2012). Biochar's surface and sorption properties (Stewart et al., 2013) make it capable of reducing greenhouse gas emissions and removing various organic and mineral pollutants, such as agrochemicals, antibiotics, heavy metals, ammonium, or hydrogen sulfide (Shang et al., 2016).

Sewage sludge

Sewage sludge is produced from the wastewater treatment process, particularly during the sedimentation of solid particles. Using sewage sludge in agriculture can be advantageous or hazardous to the soil. The positive aspects of using sewage sludge as soil amendment come from its high levels of organic matter (approximately 40%), nitrogen (4%), and phosphorus (2%). Moreover, it enhances the soil's porosity, water retention capacity, and soil aggregate stability (Bueno et al., 2011; Ghacha et al., 2020).

However, sewage sludge can also be problematic, as it can contain a range of contaminants, including heavy metals, pesticides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), surfactants, hormones, and other substances that may pose a threat to the environment and human health (Ghacha et al., 2020; Kominko et al., 2018; Theodoratos et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2018). In addition, using sewage sludge as a soil amendment may adversely impact microbial activity (Bueno et al., 2011).

Plant residues and their derivatives

Crop residue addition to the soil is vital for achieving higher levels of soil organic along with fertilization, as it helps in preserving soil moisture, enhancing soil structure, and minimizing erosion (Parmar et al., 2016; Tu et al., 2006). Mulching can significantly reduce soil erosion during heavy rain events (Tu et al., 2006). One effective mulching material is straw, which improves soil fertility and water retention, adds nitrogen and carbon, and increases microbial activity (Tu et al., 2006; Xia et al., 2014). Another example of soil amendments is residues from sugarcane harvesting. These residues provide a layer of protection to the soil, enhancing its physical and biological properties, improving water retention capacity, and acting as a nutrient source for plants (Prado et al., 2013).

The addition of biochar in temperate agriculture can affect microbial dynamics through physical and chemical changes in soil structure, pH, and stoichiometry. Biochar can enhance soil water retention capacity by increasing surface area and porosity, which provides suitable habitat and protection for microbes. Moreover, biochar's high surface area and reactivity can attract ions and organic compounds, creating potential sites for microbe-substrate interactions (Geisseler & Scow, 2014).

Livestock manures

For centuries, solid and liquid livestock manures (slurry) have been recognized for their positive impact on soil quality and plant growth. The application of manure, either alone or in combination with fertilizers, has been found to increase the sequestration time of carbon (Garbowski et al., 2023). Despite their benefits, using livestock manures in agriculture can cause environmental issues, such as nutrient and toxic compound leaching, nutrient loss during storage, greenhouse gas emissions, ammonia volatilization, odours, and pharmaceutical contamination. Antibiotics and hormones in the slurry can lead to antibiotic-resistant bacteria and endocrine-disrupting compounds in the environment (Garbowski et al., 2023).

Compost

Composting comprises the humification and stabilisation of organic wastes (e.g. sewage sludge, manure, municipal solid waste, and green waste) (Huang et al., 2016). Composting is one of the methods for reducing the harmful effects (accumulation of antibiotics and hormones) of using live-stock manures and other organic wastes (e.g. sewage sludge) (Huang et al., 2016; Li et al., 2012). The application of compost prepared from organic wastes can enhance soil fertility and crop production (Li et al., 2012). Furthermore, it can increase soil organic matter content, improving physical properties (water holding capacity, infiltration rate, aeration, and porosity) and stimulate the growth and diversity of soil microorganisms, increasing their biomass and activity. As compost decomposes, it can release a substantial amount of inorganic nutrients such as N, P, K, Ca, and Mg in a form that plants can easily absorb through their roots (El-Alsayed & Ismail, 2017; Irshad et al., 2013).

Moreover, compost can protect the soil against erosion. The mineral additives in the composting process are used to reduce the availability of heavy metals, increase microbial activity, and improve the composting process and the quality of the final product (Garbowski et al., 2023; Li et al., 2012). The immobilisation of heavy metals in agricultural soil and the decrease of their environmental and ecological impact are significantly influenced by mineral ions, humic compounds, and microorganisms present in compost (Huang et al., 2016).

2.5 The impact of biodegradable polymers on the soil quality and plant growth

As already discussed, extensive research demonstrates that using soil amendments can improve the growth and yield of plants while protecting against harmful agents (Zhou et al., 2021). Petroleum-based and biodegradable polymers, including micro- and nanoparticles, can quickly move through the soil matrix and contaminate groundwater (Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021). Due to widespread transportation, plastic particles can be widely distributed and present in various ecosystems, such as marine and freshwater, as well as in soil industrial and urban locations (Nizzetto et al., 2016). In fact, they have been discovered on shorelines of remote islands (Rillig, 2012) or in high mountain areas (Scheurer & Bigalke, 2018).

Bioplastics impact both the non-living and living components of the terrestrial ecosystem. They can alter the chemical composition and structure of the soil, leading to disturbances in the water balance and cycle (Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021). According to Wan et al. (2019), the presence of plastic films led to an increase in the rate of soil water evaporation due to the creation of channels that facilitated water movement. Additionally, bioplastics cause desiccation cracking on the soil surface (Wan et al., 2019).

To this date, there has been a limited number of studies reporting the impact of biodegradable polymers on soil pH. The effect on the soil pH is generally drawn by examining existing research on the effects of conventional plastics on soil properties. However, even these studies are inconsistent. While some studies have suggested that certain plastics, such as PE and PET, can lead to a decrease in soil pH (Bandow et al., 2017; Boots et al., 2019), others have reported opposing trends, such as for HDPE (Jia et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2020).

Bioplastics can affect the water cycle in the terrestrial environment, with certain types of polymers impacting plant evapotranspiration rates. The water-holding capacity of microplastic-treated soils can increase, leading to greater water availability, which may be further reduced by plant growth (de Souza Machado et al., 2019; Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021). Based on the research by de Souza Machado et al. (2019), microplastics can affect plant growth, elemental composition, root traits, and soil microbial activities. Particle type influences the extent of the impact, with microplastics similar in shape to soil particles causing less pronounced effects. The results indicate that microplastic contamination in the soil can harm plant performance, agroecosystems, and terrestrial biodiversity (de Souza Machado et al., 2019). Biodegradable polymers can affect soil biota directly or indirectly. However, the studies primarily focused on plants and microbiota, with minimal data available on their impact on soil fauna (e.g. nematodes, springtails). Additionally, biopolymers can cause delayed seed germination and abnormal radicles/hypocotyls (Balestri et al., 2019; Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021). Root and stem growth can be inhibited or stimulated, and nanoparticles can accumulate in plant organs (Bosker et al., 2019; Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021).

Conversely, conventional nanoplastics may reduce soil microorganism biochemical activity (Liwarska-Bizukojc, 2021). Biodegradable polymers PLA and corn starch-based materials were tested for their impact on soil microorganisms, specifically soil microbial nitrification. PLA biodegradation did not affect soil microbial nitrification, as reported by Satti et al. (2018). Bettas Ardisson et al. (2014) observed in their study of corn starch-based biodegradable polymers and copolyesters. Biodegradable plastics did not inhibit soil nitrification and

increased ammonium nitrogen depletion (Ardisson et al., 2014). In another study, Arcos-Hernandez et al. (2012) investigated the biodegradation rates of PHBV and examined the effect of the degradation products on microbial activity. The soil extracts tested during PHBV degradation were non-toxic to observed bacteria (Arcos-Hernandez et al., 2012). These affirmative results indicate that biodegradable polymer materials may be used in sustainable agriculture.

Under favourable soil conditions, such as a high organic matter and nutrient content, microbial activity, rapid C turnover, and water saturation, biodegradable plastic can quickly degrade in weeks to months (Kawashima et al., 2019). However, plastic particles in degraded soils with low OM can induce undesirable soil aggregation, reducing OM accessibility to microbes, altering soil nutrient proportions, and decreasing primary plant production. This results in reduced soil quality, productivity, and SOM content. Biodegradation of bioplastics then relies on exploiting other nutrient sources in soils, including those usually used by other biota, such as plants (Yao et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2021).

The production of biodegradable polymers like P3HB is on the rise due to climate change, as these materials have a minimal or non-existent negative impact on the environment (Volova et al., 2017). They possess favourable characteristics such as biodegradability, biocompatibility, flexibility, and thermoprocessibility, making them attractive to various industries (Alcântara et al., 2020). Biodegradable plastics like PHA are used in agriculture and as packaging materials to minimize plastic waste and soil pollution (Amelia et al., 2019; Peelman et al., 2013). However, the impact of microbioplastics on soil-plant interactions, particularly on the structure and function of soil microbial communities in agroecosystems, is poorly understood (Zhou et al., 2021).

PHA can alter the metabolic status of microbial communities, leading to increased turnover of native organic matter and impacting soil carbon and nutrient cycling (Kuzyakov, 2010; Zang et al., 2020). Soil bacteria are more responsive to changes in carbon availability than fungi, potentially leading to long-term effects on soil ecosystem services (e.g. carbon storage, nutrient cycling, and pollutant attenuation) (Barnard et al., 2013; Zang et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2021).

Despite being rich in carbon, PHA are deficient in nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus, which can change the composition and function of microbial communities during biodegradation (Volova et al., 2017). In particular, the degradation of carbon-rich residues is frequently associated with the immobilisation of N and P, a process that can negatively impact plant growth by increasing competition between plants and soil microorganisms for these nutrients (Qi et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020; Zang et al., 2020).

Until now, only a limited number of studies have examined how to investigate the impact of PHB amendment on plant growth in soil (Dahal et al., 2020). According to the findings of Garrison et al. (2016), PHA, given their biological origin, are conventionally considered carbon neutral. However, this assumption is based on the premise that PHA do not induce positive priming of soil organic matter, nor do they increase N₂O and CH₄ emissions, both of which could potentially offset any carbon sequestration advantages of PHA (Zhou et al., 2021). Research on PHA by Zhou et al. (2021), specifically poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxy valerate) (PHBV), in soil has shown that it is readily biodegradable by soil microorganisms, leading to a higher growth rate and activity of microbial biomass in the soil compared to bulk soil. Additionally, adding PHBV to the soil altered the species diversity and increased the abundance of specific bacterial taxa. PHBV created hotspots where carbon and nutrients were processed more efficiently due to the increased microbial biomass and activity (Zhou et al., 2021). While recent studies have shown divergent effects of microplastics on soil microbial communities, such as activation (Liu et al., 2017), suppression (Fei et al., 2020) or remaining unchanged (Zang et al., 2020), it is still unclear how biodegradable microplastics affect microbial functions and below-ground carbon processes; therefore, further investigation is necessary (Zhou et al., 2021).

Another study by Qi et al. (2018) was conducted to determine the effects of low-density polyethylene and starch-based biodegradable plastic mulch films on wheat growth when mixed with soil. The results showed that macro- and micro-sized plastic residues negatively impacted above and below-ground wheat development. Biodegradable plastic had a more substantial negative effect than polyethylene.

However, most beneficial to the aims of this thesis is the study by Brtnicky et al. (2022) which investigates the effect of P3HB on the soil and the effect on plant growth. The findings indicate that the soil treated with P3HB increases microbial activity, as the microorganism preferentially uses P3HB as a carbon source. This can lead to reduced nitrogen in the soil and an inhibition of plant growth. Furthermore, biodegradation of P3HB in the soil with low nutrient content can temporarily replace soil organic matter as a carbon source for the microbial community. It can be attributed to changes in the microbial community composition towards those that promote P3HB degradation. Additionally, it suggests that P3HB has the potential to influence soil and plant health in complex ways that need to be further examined (Brtnicky et al., 2022).

One study showed no negative effects of PHBV on maize (Dahal et al., 2020), while another study found an increase of the 3-hydroxybutyrate (3-HB), a degradation product of P3HB, resulted in an increased expression of genes involved in chromatin remodelling and activation of DNA demethylation. Excess 3-HB could affect the plant's ability to cope with abiotic stress. In a study of transgenic plants designed to produce PHB, high levels of PHB production have reduced seedling survival (Mierziak et al., 2020), suggesting adverse effects on plant development (Malik et al., 2015).

In summary, microbioplastics within the soil can potentially disrupt ecological functionality and biogeochemical cycling, including critical processes such as soil organic matter decomposition (Zhou et al., 2021). However, limited research focuses on the synergistic effects of soil amendments with P3HB in developing more sustainable fertilisers for agriculture. Despite being promoted as a potential solution to reduce microplastic residues in terrestrial ecosystems and is considered a substitute for various applications, the environmental impacts of PHA have not been thoroughly investigated (Zhou et al., 2021).

Aim of the work

The thesis aims to investigate the impact of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate (P3HB) biodegradation on soil properties and plant growth by conducting a series of experiments and, thus, evaluating its potential use in soil applications.

The consequences of the presence of biodegradable plastics in the soil have not been thoroughly studied, despite their growing use as an alternative to conventional plastics in the agro-industrial sector. Their effects are still rather assumed from studies on conventional plastics. This work follows the research conducted by Brtnicky et al. (2022), who studied the effect of P3HB on soil properties and plant growth and observed a boost of soil microorganisms growing connected with a negative effect of biodegradation on plant growth. This study investigates not only the effects of P3HB but also considers the impact of other organic soil additives such as compost, biochar, manure and separate that may potentially mitigate the adverse effects of P3HB observed in previous studies.

The working hypothesis of the work is:

- 1. The biodegradation of P3HB negatively influences plant growth, but the growth can be improved by the addition of amendments.
- 2. The rate of P3HB biodegradation is supported by the addition of organic amendments.

To achieve the objectives of the thesis and verify the hypotheses, various approaches will be employed:

- i. the chemical and physical characteristics of the soil, such as pH and dry matter content;
- ii. the impact on plant growth will be evaluated, specifically on the aboveground biomass, to assess any potential inhibition of plant growth;
- iii. the enzymatic assay will be used to study the microbial community;
- iv. the microrespirometry will be used as an effective method of CO₂ release monitoring to investigate P3HB's biodegradation in soils, including its reaction rate and the amount of carbon transformed by microorganisms;
- v. thermogravimetry will be utilized to investigate whether the degradation was complete and to assess any additional impact of P3HB on soil properties.

3 EXPERIMENTAL PART

The experimental soil was collected from the topsoil (at a 0–15 cm depth). The sampling location was near the town of Kroměříž in the Czech Republic, and the soil was identified as arable soil. Based on the Czech Taxonomic Soil Classification System, the selected soil was classified as a cambisol (Sáňka et al., 2018). The soil analysis was conducted at the Faculty of AgriSciences at Mendel University in Brno and the Faculty of Chemistry of the Brno University of Technology.

The soil had a low humus content of 1.43 % (typically between 1–6% for cambisols) and was of low quality at 0.56. This is normal for cambisols at an altitude of around 100m below sea level, where humus content is expected to be less than 3 %. The soil is moderately acidic with a pH_{KCl} of 4.86. It has a light texture and low clay content, with 22 % of particles smaller than 0.002mm and 30 % smaller than 0.01mm. This indicates sandy soil. The soil has a low cation exchange capacity (90 mmol₊/kg) and high bulk density (1.70 g/cm³), which is typical for mineral soils. It also has low soil porosity at 11.65 %. The soil's airiness is high (11. 65%) and has low porosity. The total nitrogen was estimated to be 0.21 %.

The soils originated from the experiments in which the soil was amended with six different soil amendments such as compost, biochar 15 t/ha, biochar 45 t/ha, manure and solid digestate fraction (separate) in 2017. After sampling, the soil was sieved through a 2 mm mesh sieve. The soils were put into the pots, and poly-3-hydroxybutyrate powder was added. The final soil samples contained the sole amendment and the mixture of amendments with 1%, a combination of P3HB. The pure biodegradable polymer (i.e. without additional additives) P3HB was provided in a powdered form with a particle size smaller than 80 µm by TianAn Biologic Materials Co., Ltd. (Ningbo City, China) with the trade name ENMAT Y3000. P3HB microparticles had spherical or spherical-like shapes. The reported contact angle is around 70° and approximately 81°, indicating that the surface of P3HB is slightly hydrophobic (Pompe et al., 2007). The soil properties in terms of fertilizing inputs of individual variants are contained in Tab. 1. It includes the amount of organic amendments (t/ha) added to the soil and the macronutrient content (g/kg).

Treatment	Fertilizing	\mathbf{N}^{*} input	$\mathbf{P}^*_{\mathrm{input}}$	\mathbf{K}^{*}_{input}	Fertilizing	Ninput	Pinput	Kinput
Variants	2017 [t/ha]	[g/kg]	[g/kg]	[g/kg]	2019 [g/kg]	[g/kg]	[g/kg]	[g/kg]
Control soil	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Compost	50	190	45	75	50	225	45	75
Biochar 15 t/ha	15	240	135	450	_	_	_	_
Biochar 45 t/ha	45	80	45	150	_	_	_	_
Manure	50	90	35	225	30	70	50	130
Solid digestate	40	200	70	190	30	160	50	135

Tab. 1: Overview of experimental soil treatments and their corresponding fertilizing inputs priorto the addition of P3HB.

*N_{input}, P_{input}, K_{input}: the amount of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) added to soil with amendments.

3.1 Pot experiment

The study involved a pot experiment to evaluate the effect of P3HB on soil properties and plant biomass, specifically with the maize seedlings (*Zea mays L*.). The pot experiment was conducted for eight weeks in a growth chamber in controlled conditions, including fullspectrum LED lighting (intensity 370 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹); photoperiod 12 h; temperature 16/23 °C (night/day) and the relative humidity 70/49% (night/day). Then one kg of every experimental soil variant was filled into experimental plastic pots (volume 1 L) with three maize seeds sown in each pot. A total of 12 experimental variants were established, consisting of six variants shown in Tab. 1, each of which was co-amended with P3HB and replicated in three pots. The soil was watered with 50 ml of demineralized water twice a week. After ten days, the most robust plant per pot was retained. The pots were rotated once weekly after being randomly placed in the growth chamber.

3.2 Soil analysis

Upon completion of the experiment, the aboveground maize was cut at ground level. Soil samples were obtained from each pot to determine their corresponding properties. The fresh aboveground biomass (AGB) of maize was then dried at 60 °C to determine dry AGB. For the determination of pH and thermal analysis, air-dried soil samples were used. The freeze-dried soil was further used to analyse enzyme activity; samples stored at 4 °C were subjected to basal and substrate-induced respiration.

3.2.1 Determination of pH, soil dry matter content and aboveground biomass

The fresh aboveground biomass of maize was dried (at 60 °C) in an oven at a constant temperature, and the dry AGB was determined by gravimetry on analytical scales. The dry matter content in the soil was determined using the ISO 11465:1993 standard procedure, which involved drying fresh soil samples in the oven (105 °C) until a constant weight was achieved by removing excess moisture (International Organization for Standardization, 1993).

The measurement of soil pH followed ISO 10390:2005 standards and involved the use of a glass electrode in a 1:5 (volume fraction) mixture of soil and water, resulting in a pH measurement in water and in 1 mol/L potassium chloride solution (International Organization for Standardization, 2005).

3.2.2 Soil enzyme activity assays in soil samples using colourimetric substrates

Enzyme activity in freeze-dried soil samples was assessed according to the ISO 20130:2018 standard (International Organization for Standardization, 2018). Multiple hydrolase enzymes, including dehydrogenase (DHA), arylsulfatase (ARS), β -glucosidase (GLU), N-acetyl- β -D-glucosamidase (NAG), phosphatase (Phos), and urease (Ure), were measured simultaneously using colourimetric compounds.

3.2.2.1 Materials and methods

- Deionized (distilled) water (dH₂O)
- Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane hydrochloride (100 mmol/L)
- Calcium chloride dihydrate (0.5 mol/L), CaCl₂·2H₂O
- Salicylate reagent
- Cyanurate reagent

- A stock solution of NaOH (5 mol/L)
- Enzymes (DHA, ARS, GLU, NAG, Phos, Ure)
- Sieves (mesh size 2 mm)
- Balance
- Multi-well microplates (96 wells)
- Automatic dispenser
- Orbital shaker
- Multichannel micropipettes (50 µL, 200 µL)
- Magnetic stirrer
- Incubators
- Place centrifuge
- Infinite M Nano microplate reading spectrophotometer with a single-mode microplate reader and monochromator optics

3.2.2.2 Procedure

A plastic bottle was filled with 2.5 g of lyophilised sample and topped with 12.5 mL dH₂O. The resulting soil solution was placed in the orbital shaker and subjected to 10 min agitation (180 oscillations/min). The soil solution was distributed on 96 micro-well microplates in two sets, with 125 μ L for all samples except urease (which received 50 μ L). The bottle containing the soil solution remained in contact with the stirrer to ensure homogeneity during pipetting. The enzyme was dosed into the same well as the soil sample suspension. The substrate solution was primed into the same well after the soil solution, with 25 µL for all samples except urease (which received 40 µL), using a 12-channel multi-pipette substrate solution. The enzyme substrate was dispersed in three rows, with the fourth row omitted as a control. For urease, the substrate was diluted with dH₂O (150 µL) before dosing, and the enzymatic substrate was dosed in three lines, with the fourth line supplemented with dH₂O (40 µL). After the enzyme substrate, the microplate was placed in an incubator. After incubation, CaCl₂·2H₂O (25 µL) was added to each well according to the protocol to stop the reaction (except for Ure). Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane hydrochloride (100 µL) was added. The enzyme substrate (25 µL) was injected into the control lines (fourth column in order). The next step was centrifugation (20 °C, 1500 rpm, 10 min). After centrifugation, a sample solution (200 µL) was pipetted into the new multi-well microplate, with the remaining soil settled on the bottom of the well. The microplate was then placed on a spectrophotometer (405 nm). The enzymatic reaction was terminated for urease samples by adding salicylate (40 µL) to each well and allowing it to incubate for 3 minutes. Subsequently, cyanurate solution (40 µL) was added to each well, and then the multiwell microplates were placed in the incubator (30 min, 25 °C). Subsequently, the microplates were subjected to centrifugation. After centrifugation, 200 µL of the sample solution (with the soil settled at the bottom of the well) was extracted and measured using a spectrophotometer (650 nm).



Fig. 6: Demonstration of colour changes depending on the added substrate after decomposition, Ure (left) and ARS (right).

3.2.3 Spectrophotometric assay of soil respiration

The microrespiration technique was used to measure soil basal (BR) and substrate-induced respiration (SIR) in the soil samples. This technique detects and quantifies CO_2 released or used by the microbial community and colourimetrically determines the soil respiration rates. The change can be observed as a reduction in absorbance. Measuring the production rates of individual carbon sources can provide useful information about carbon and nitrogen mineralization. The MicroResp technique can also assess the metabolic diversity of soil microorganisms by using different chemicals as carbon sources (Campbell et al., 2003; Creamer et al., 2014).

3.2.3.1 Materials and methods

- Deionized (distilled) water (dH₂O)
- Substrates:
 - D-glucose (Glc)
 - Protocatechuic acid (Pro)
 - D-Mannose (Man)
 - D-trehalose (Tre)
 - N-acetyl-β-D-glucosamidase (NAG)
 - L-alanine (Ala)
 - L-Arginine (Arg)

- Incubator
- Reaction deepwell microplates
- Detection deepwell microplates with detection agar
- Perspex sheet
- Parafilm
- Spatula
- Brush
- Sealing rubber septum
- Metal microplate clamps
- Single channel automatic pipettes (2–20 µL, 20–200 µL)
- 12-channel automatic pipette (10–200 µL)
- Plastic trays for multichannel pipette
- TECAN microplate reader
- Weighing tray

3.2.3.2 Procedure

Preparation of detection microplates

Soil samples (stored at 4–5 °C) were gradually filled into the deepwell microplates using parafilm to cover all columns other than those to be filled. The soil was evenly sprinkled on the surface of the uncovered area and gently brushed into the columns until all were filled to the rim. To expose the bottom holes of the columns, a sliding motion was used to pull the Perspex sheet. Once the column was filled, the filling device was removed from the microplate, and the microplate was weighed. After weighing, the weight and the microplate were reset on the tray, and the filling device was placed back on the microplate. In this way, all 12 columns were filled in sequentially, and each column was weighed. Once all wells in the microplate were filled, the filling device was removed, and the microplate was covered with Parafilm. Subsequently, the microplate with soil samples was incubated for 72 h (25 °C, dark environment).



Fig. 7: Preparation of detection microplates.

Preparation of reaction microplates

Microplate wells were filled with soil samples, and carbon sources were added after incubation. For the preparation of substrates (carbon sources), a concentration of 30 mg/g of soil water was used. Stock solutions with the concentrations 0.05–0.2 g/mL in dH₂O were prepared for the following substrates: Ala, Arg, Glc, Man, NAG, Pro and Tre. To calculate the amount of carbon source to be added, it was necessary to know the weight (g) of the soil in each well and the moisture content (% dry matter) of the tested soil. The distilled water was then added to the calculated volume of the substrate solution to a total volume of 25 µl. The entire volume of dH_2O (25 µl) was added in the first row for a basal respiration measurement. To the remaining wells, the diluted substrates were dispensed into the appropriate microplate wells using a 12channel pipette. Finally, the septum detection microplate was immediately inserted and pressed into all wells of the deep-well microplate. The metal MicroResp holders were then inserted, and the two plates were pulled together and incubated in the dark for 6 hours at 25 °C (laboratory temperature). The Deepwell microplates were then separated from the detection microplate, and the agar plate was measured on a TECAN reader using the MicroResp method (At₆). Each soil sample was measured in 4 repetitions for every tested carbon source and basal respiration measurement (i.e. for every soil sample, four columns are tested with seven different carbon sources (see scheme in *Fig.* 8). The absorption (A_0) of a detection microplate was measured on the TECAN reader using the MicroResp method (570 nm). The detection microplate with the highest homogeneity was selected from an exicator. The microplates should be uniformly pink (i.e. agar is completely regenerated) and without the presence of bubbles in wells. The % coefficient of variance (% CO_V) will be examined from the results obtained at a time "At₀". If %CO₂ exceeds 5%, the microplate will be discarded, and the next one will be used.



Fig. 8: Scheme of substrate filling. (Basal) with distilled water; (GLU) D-(+) Glucose; (Pro) protocatechuic acid; (TRE) D-(+)- Trehalose; (NAG) N Acetyl glucosamine; (ALA) L-Alanine; (MAN)D-Mannose; (ARG) L-Arginine.

3.2.4 Thermal analysis of P3HB in the soil and its effect on soil properties

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is a method of thermal analysis that determines the mass loss (%) of a material when subjected to heating over a defined temperature range. The degradation process is terminated when a constant temperature is reached or at the programmed end temperature. In order to improve the information value of the record, the TGA analysis sometimes also involves the temperature derivative thermogravimetric (TG) curve. The resulting TG curve provides information on thermal stability, initiation temperature of degradation, weight loss rate, final residue, and chemical or physical properties of the analysed material (Plante et al., 2009).

3.2.4.1 Materials and methods

- Thermogravimetric analyser TGA 550 from TA Instruments
- TGA alumina pans
- Petri dishes



Fig. 9: Thermogravimetric analyser TGA 550 (TA Instruments/Waters Corporation, 2022).

3.2.4.2 Procedure

The analysis of soil samples was carried out using a TGA 550 thermogravimeter from TA Instruments (Fig. 9). About 200 mg of soil samples were dosed onto aluminium pans and placed on an automatic sampler. Using *TRIOS software*, parameters were set, and a program was selected to heat the samples and record any weight (mass) changes on scales within the device. The samples were heated according to the chosen program, causing weight changes to be recorded by scales within the thermogravimeter. The platinum hooks served as both a pan holder and a weight detector. Externally supplied air was used to purify the scales, and a specially modified lid attached to the autosampler was used to ensure a relative humidity of $43\pm2\%$ during the analysis. The lid included a bypass connected to two Dreschel bottles to provide air with relative humidity in three directions. The first bottle was filled with it by bubbling air through a saturated potassium carbonate solution, while the second was filled with cellulose to prevent clogging and contamination. Similarly, humidified air was blown into the oven using the same bypass during analysis to maintain consistent conditions and to avoid clogging.

Data were sent directly to a computer for evaluation. Measurements of each sample were repeated at least three times. A list of parameters and their respective values for thermal analysis is presented in Tab. 2.

Parameters	Value		
Protective gas	Air		
Protective gas rate	60 [ml/min]		
Reaction atmosphere gas	Air		
Reaction gas velocity	60 [ml/min]		
Temperature gradient	5 [°C/min]		
Initial temperature	laboratory temp. (app. 20 °C)		
Final temperature	700 [°C]		
Type of pan	Al_2O_3		
Sample weight approx.	200 mg		
Cooling time after	50 min		
completion			
Balance flow	10 [ml/min]		
Relative humidity	43±2 %		

Tab. 2: List of parameters for TGA analysis.

The accuracy of the experimental results may have been compromised by the inconsistent loading of samples into instrumental pans. The relatively small amount of sample used for the analysis made it challenging to achieve complete homogeneity, particularly in soil amended with P3HB. Consequently, multiple measurements of the same sample may have exhibited different concentrations of the biopolymer in the soil.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Effect of soil amendments on physical and chemical properties

4.1.1 Assessment of soil pH

In the context of investigating the impact of P3HB addition on soil quality, it is vital to consider the possible potential alteration in soil pH resulting from P3HB addition. The results of our experiments indicate that the quantity and composition of P3HB used did not lead to a significant alteration in soil pH (as reported in Tab. 3). A decrease of approximately 0.7% in pH was observed. However, to further evaluate the effect of P3HB on the pH, an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) test was conducted. The results indicate that the addition of P3HB had a significant effect on the soil pH, as evidenced by the significant F-value (462.44) and extremely low p-value (< 2.2×10^{-16}) for the variant factor. This suggests that P3HB addition had a significant impact on the soil pH, and therefore, when investigating the impact of P3HB addition on soil quality, it is important to consider the potential alteration in soil pH caused by the addition of P3HB.

These findings are consistent with previous research conducted by Boots et al. (2019), which examined the impact of biodegradable polymer PLA on soil pH levels. This study found that PLA did not affect pH levels. Conversely, biodegradable mulch films such as PLA and PHA have been found to cause a minor reduction in soil pH (Sintim et al., 2019). However, only a limited number of studies have been conducted on this topic, making it difficult to compare obtained findings with others.

However, the biopolymers have the potential to release acidic or basic byproducts during the process of biodegradation, which could potentially affect the soil pH. In the case of P3HB, the biopolymer releases 3-hydroxypropionic acid (Chun et al., 2014), although its effect strongly depends on the concentration of P3HB and biodegradation conditions. Besides that, what can be assumed is that the influence of biopolymers on soil pH could be dependent on the soil type and the vegetation (Zhao et al., 2021). Moreover, it is worth considering that soil porosity, aeration, and aggregate size may also contribute to potential changes in soil pH. However, to confirm this hypothesis, further testing would be necessary, including varying amounts of biopolymer added to the soil.

Type of amendment	Non-amended pH*	P3HB pH*	
Control soil	5.50 ± 0.04	5.46 ± 0.04	
Compost 50 t/ha	5.99 ± 0.01	5.91 ± 0.02	
Biochar 15 t/ha	5.42 ± 0.01	5.38 ± 0.02	
Biochar 45 t/ha	5.82 ± 0.02	5.76 ± 0.03	
Manure	5.62 ± 0.02	5.56 ± 0.03	
Separate	5.52 ± 0.02	5.47 ± 0.03	

Tab. 3: Determination of soil pH in two soil conditions, one without the addition of P3HB and the
other with P3HB addition.

* Values calculated as average from independent replicates $(n = 3) \pm$ standard deviation.

4.1.2 Assessment of plant aboveground biomass

Another factor for evaluating the quality of P3HB-amended soil is dry aboveground plant biomass (AGB), which determines plant growth and crop yield. As shown in Fig. 10, applying P3HB and other amendments negatively impacted AGB, leading to a considerable reduction in plant biomass by approximately 85 %. Incorporating other amendments into the soil resulted only in a marginal decrease in overall biomass reduction (by 24 % average) compared to P3HB. However, the combination of P3HB with other soil amendments increased the overall biomass, although it was still lower than the control soil. The effect of compost (0.93% decrease), biochar at 15 t/ha (0.05 % decrease), and biochar at 15 t/ha (0.06% decrease) contributed to a further decrease of the overall biomass content after post-application of P3HB. A slight increase in dry biomass was observed in the presence of manure and separate, both accounting for 0.02%. Overall, the application of P3HB had an adverse effect on the content of dry above-ground biomass, leading to the inhibition of plant growth. This impact could not be mitigated even with the addition of other organic soil amendments.



Fig. 10: Dry above ground plant biomass (AGB). Average values of independent replicates (n = 3), error bars = standard deviation.

The findings obtained in this study regarding the reduction of above-ground biomass due to the presence of the polymer align with previous research conducted by Qi et al. (2018), Liwarska-Bizukojc (2022) or Zang et al. (2020), who also reported the negative effects of studied polymers on both above-ground and below-ground plant components. To provide an explanation for these unfavourable results, several assumptions can be considered.

Furthermore, these results are consistent with previous studies that have demonstrated the phytotoxic effects of biopolymers, with the degradation of biodegradable polymers being cited as a potential cause for this outcome (Qi et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2018; Zang et al., 2020). One possible explanation for this outcome could be the direct toxicity of P3HB particles or their

degradation products on the plants (Mierziak et al., 2020). It has been reported that 3hydroxybutyric acid, a biodegradation product of P3HB that is produced in more significant amounts, could potentially induce soil acidification and, as a result, influence the AGB (Mierziak et al., 2020). However, it was not proven in the course of the research, as it is doubtful that rapid microbial consumption of biopolymer could lead to the accumulation of monomers (Jan et al., 2009). The obtained results could not prove this hypothesis, as the control soil was already acidic and as already discussed in section 4.1.1, the incorporation of P3HB did not result in significant pH changes.

Furthermore, the presence of additives or contaminants in the P3HB biopolymer could also potentially lead to phytotoxicity (Zhou et al., 2021). However, it is essential to note that the P3HB used in the experiment was provided in a pure form, without any additional additives. Therefore, this hypothesis can be rejected as an explanation for the observed results.

The addition of P3HB to soil may have altered other soil properties, which could explain the observed changes in plant growth and productivity. While it was acknowledged that P3HB could increase the water-holding capacity of the soil (de Souza Machado et al., 2018), its hydrophobic nature and potential to cause higher drain-off could affect water distribution and availability to plants (Brtnicky et al., 2022; Pompe et al., 2007). This can impact the dynamics of water and nutrient availability, ultimately influencing microbial activity and chemical speciation processes in the soil. As a result, the growth and productivity of plants can be negatively impacted (de Souza Machado et al., 2019).

According to the study by Silveira Alves et al. (2019), P3HB metabolism may contribute to bacterial plant growth promotion, and deleting genes involved in P3HB synthesis and degradation could reduce the bacterial ability to enhance plant growth. This suggests that the addition of P3HB to the soil could lead to an imbalance in the microbial community, with a shift towards P3HB-metabolizing bacteria, inhibiting those that promote plant growth and leading to reduced plant productivity. However, further research is needed to confirm this hypothetical explanation.

Another explanation could be the indirect impacts on plant growth resulting from changes in other soil properties or inhibition of microbial communities and nutrient availability, as proposed by Brtnicky et al. (2022). It is possible that the application of P3HB could initiate microbial immobilization of essential nutrients. This could lead to increased plant stress due to nutrient unavailability, ultimately affecting plant growth and productivity (Brtnicky et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2021).

Apart from that, an input of organic amendment as P3HB can potentially serve as a source of carbon for microorganisms, leading to long-term effects on microbial composition, activities, and functions in the soil. When P3HB gradually decomposes in the soil, its products can enhance the activity of microorganisms to mineralize nutrients which can be either used by microorganisms as a source of energy or could result from an adverse consequence of plant-microbiota interaction, such as competition for nutrients can be taken up by plants (Pathan et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2021). Specifically, the changes in the content of DOC and microbial biomass C due to biodegradable polymer intrusion were reported (Zhou et al., 2021). Moreover,

N immobilization was evidenced by reduced dissolved organic nitrogen and increased microbial biomass N (Zhou et al., 2021), indicating the direct influence of the addition of biodegradable polymer on carbon and nitrogen cycles. These alterations could also impact the plant growth. Consequently, the effects of P3HB on microbial activity and nutrient cycling will be further investigated through soil enzyme activity and soil respiration assays in the upcoming sections, with the aim of either confirming or rejecting the hypothesis.

4.1.3 Assessment of the dry matter content in the soil

The additional soil quality indicator that is considered valuable in the determination of the P3HB impact on the soil properties is the dry matter (DM) content of the soil. The variation in soil dry matter content may serve as an indicator of soil humidity levels (International Organization for Standardization, 1993). In this study, it was observed (see Fig. 11) that the application of P3HB alone resulted in a loss of dry matter (by 1.42 %), whereas the application of compost, biochar, manure and separate led to an increase in the content of DM (averagely by 1.13 %).

The study observed a significant increase in the DM content when P3HB was combined with other amendments, compared to its addition alone. A particularly high increase was observed in the case of P3HB combined with manure (by 2.9 %). The effect of biochar at 15 t/ha (1.68% increase), biochar at 45 t/ha (1.45% increase), and separate (0.49% increase) also contributed to the enhancement of DM content after the addition of P3HB. Furthermore, compost increased the DM to a lesser extent by 0.40 %. It should be noted that the increased DM values mentioned are relative to the effect of the biopolymer itself. However, when comparing the overall difference between the control soil sample and the soil samples containing organic amendments with post-application of P3HB, the results are not entirely positive.

The study found that the overall increase in soil dry matter content with combined amendments occurred only in specific variants, such as manure (1.55% increase), biochar at 15 t/ha (0.33% increase), and biochar at 45 t/ha (0.1% increase). In contrast, post-addition of P3HB to compost and separate resulted in a reduction of DM content by 0.95% and 0.86%, respectively.



Fig. 11: Dry matter content of all tested variants. Average values of independent replicates (n = 3), error bars = standard deviation.

Based on the findings, it can be inferred that the positive effects of P3HB on soil quality, specifically in terms of dry matter content, are dependent upon the specific combination of amendments used. Moreover, it was observed that only a combination of P3HB with manure and biochar 15 t/ha resulted in more relevant mitigation of the potential negative effects of P3HB connected to DM reduction.

However, to statistically evaluate the effect of P3HB on the DM, an ANOVA test was performed. The results revealed a significant influence of the different organic amendments or P3HB on DM content in the soil, as evidenced by the F-value of 4.33 and a low p-value of 1.3 $\times 10^{-3}$. Moreover, the p-value > 0.05 suggests there are significant differences between the treatment variants in terms of their effect on DM.

Due to the research gap in the area, assumptions made about the effect of biodegradable polymers on dry matter content lack empirical evidence and require further scientific investigation for confirmation. The observed results may be attributed to the initiation of thermal degradation of the polymer during the analysis drying process at 105°C, which could have resulted in alterations in the DM content. Furthermore, the different physical properties of the selected amendments could also account for the differences in their effects. For example, manure, being a natural fertilizer, may have contributed a higher nutrient content and improved water capacity, ultimately enhancing soil structure and resulting in an increase in DM (El-Alsayed & Ismail, 2017). This effect was expected to be seen with compost as well, but the opposite trend was observed. Additionally, the increase in DM may have resulted in a higher bulk density, which can be caused by soil compaction or aggregate disruption, both of which are considered detrimental to soil quality (Boots et al., 2019; de Souza Machado et al., 2019).

4.2 Effect of soil amendments on microbial properties

4.2.1 Soil enzyme activity assays

This section will discuss the impact of soil amended with P3HB along with different organic fertilizers, including manure, separate manure, compost, and biochar, on the activity of soil enzymes. This thesis focuses on soil enzymes that are essential for plant growth and participate in vital soil processes, including dehydrogenase, arylsulfatase, β -glucosidase, urease, N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminidase, and phosphatase. However, it should be noted that measurements conducted under laboratory conditions using artificial substrates cannot replace the actual rate of enzyme processes in the soil *in situ* but give a good concept of processes occurring in soil. The results will be interpreted based on the graphical illustration of the measured data depicted in **Error! Reference source not found.**

As with previous assays, the studies on the effects of P3HB on soil microbial properties are limited, and the discussion will be based on the knowledge derived from the analysis of conventional polymers. It has been revealed through recent studies on conventional microplastics that divergent influences on soil microbial communities and enzyme activities, the exact consequences of biodegradable polymers on soil microorganisms have yet to be fully comprehended by the scientific community (de Souza Machado et al., 2019; Fei et al., 2020; B. Liu & Thayumanavan, 2017; Zang et al., 2020).

The experimental results indicate that using P3HB as a soil amendment leads to a significant improvement in selected enzyme activities, except for GLU. The influence of the studied organic amendments, namely compost, biochar, manure, and separate, on enzyme activity is relatively modest compared to their combined effect with P3HB. Compost has demonstrated the most substantial impact among the soil amendments used. In contrast, the graphical data from Error! Reference source not found.of biochar demonstrate that the application of biochar alone (i.e. without the co-addition of P3HB) did not substantially enhance the enzyme activity. In each sample containing the sole biochar (both biochar15 and 45 t/ha), the enzyme activity either marginally decreased (ARS or Ure) or remained comparable to the non-fertilised soil (DHA, NAG). The addition of organic matter to soil can serve as a carbon and energy source for microorganisms, thereby increasing their activity and growth (Brtnicky et al., 2022; Garbowski et al., 2023). When organic matter is decomposed, it can result in higher nutrient content, promoting the activity of specific microorganisms that metabolize those nutrients. This can ultimately lead to improvements in soil quality and development through a higher content of available nutrients. Additionally, these nutrients can be taken up by plants, leading to increased plant growth and higher yields.



Fig. 12: Comparative Analysis of Enzyme Activities in Soil Amended with P3HB and Other Soil Amendments with or without P3HB. Average values of independent replicates (n = 3), error bars = standard deviation.

DHA

Enzyme dehydrogenase (DHA) is a key determinant of soil microbial activity. DHA activity was considerably higher (an almost two-fold increase) in samples amended with P3HB (Fig. 12). The most significant differences were observed in soil with P3HB only or post-applied to the compost. In these samples, the activity increased by 145 %. The effect of organic fertilizers was relatively neutral without the presence of P3HB. The slightest difference was observed in samples with PHB + manure.

The activity of DHA is responsible for microbial redox processes within the soil system, as well as the oxidation of SOM (Gu et al., 2009). Moreover, it is considered an indicator of soil fertility (Wolinska & Stepniewsk, 2012). DHA represents the potential for carbon mineralization. The study's findings reveal that P3HB-amended soils displayed similar behaviour, significantly increasing DHA production. This rise in DHA could be attributed to the higher proportion of easily mineralizable carbon present in the soil. This is in accordance with Brtnicky et al. (2022), who have also suggested that including PHB in the soil serves as a source of energy or carbon, accelerating the soil's degradation rate.

ARS

The results from determining the activity of arylsulfatase indicated the enhancement of ARS activity by P3HB-amended soils in all experimental variants (Fig. 12). Notably, the most significant increase of ARS activity was detected in the sample with the P3HB alone and in a combination of P3HB with compost or biochar 45 t/ha.

The enzyme ARS is involved in the S mineralization, and its activity is correlated with soil microbial biomass and the rate of S immobilization (Vong et al., 2003), pH and SOC (Goux et al., 2012). Previous research indicates that an increase in ARS activity is usually associated with an increase in these factors. This suggests that P3HB could potentially improve soil fertility and nutrient cycling by stimulating sulfur immobilization.

GLU

The β -glucosidase activity (GLU) was substantially enhanced by the combination of P3HB + compost (Fig. 12). However, in other cases, the impact of P3HB was relatively low compared to the other amendments applied independently. Moreover, the sole implementation of P3HB into the soil matrix led to a decline in the activity of GLU, thereby indicating a negative effect. The enhancement of GLU activity would maintain the degradation of complex carbohydrates (cellulose, hemicellulose) to be used as a source of energy by the microorganism.

GLU is an enzyme that plays a role in a carbon cycle by catalysing the final step in cellulose degradation, producing glucose, a crucial energy source for soil microorganisms. GLU activity is an essential indicator of soil quality and can be used to determine the level of SOM degradation and soil carbon utilization (Stege et al., 2010; Stott et al., 2010). The increase in GLU activity observed in the study indicates that P3HB application triggered the degradation of cellulose. The highest GLU activity was observed in compost-amended soil, which could be due to the high cellulose content in the compost compared to other amendments used. This increase in GLU activity indicates healthy soil, while low levels could suggest poor soil quality.

Similar GLU activity to the control soil was observed in most sample variants, possibly due to P3HB serving as a carbon and energy source over other sources, resulting in reduced GLU activity by mitigating the mineralization of cellulose. Brtnicky et al. (2022) had a similar finding where GLU preferentially degrades P3HB over cellulose, leaving less phosphatase to degrade cellulose. Another possible explanation is that soils with P3HB may have had a high C:N ratio, leading to decreased microbial activity and subsequent reduction in GLU activity. The influence of C:N ratio on the resulting effects also applies to other enzymes, as they are all involved either with carbon or nitrogen mineralization (Brtnicky et al., 2022; Sander, 2019).

NAG and Ure

The enzyme NAG and Ure are both involved in nitrogen cycling. The impact of P3HB on urease and N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminidase activity was positive, either applied solely or in combination with other amendments (Fig. 12). The most substantial increase was observed with P3HB + compost (Ure) and the sole P3HB. Conversely, the application of organic fertilizers such as biochar, manure, and separate, when used alone, resulted in either neutral or negative effects (specifically biochar and manure) on the enzyme activity. Their reduced activity could have adverse effects on microbial activity, soil fertility, and plant growth and development.

Ure is a crucial extracellular enzyme involved in the initial stages of nitrification by providing a nitrogen source through urea hydrolysis (Roscoe et al., 2000). Nitrification completes the organic nitrogen conversion initiated by ammonification and is vital for soil and ecosystem health in the nitrogen cycle. Hence, urease activity is closely linked to the availability of N in the soil. Enzymes released primarily by soil microorganisms mediate the mineralization of organic nitrogen compounds in soils. Therefore, the increased urease activity observed in the presence of P3HB obtained by our analysis indicates that the P3HB can stimulate the growth and activity of nitrifying microorganisms in the soil, ultimately leading to an increase in nitrogen availability.

As previously mentioned, research indicates that biodegradable plastics, like P3HB, can enhance the soil's water-holding capacity, as shown by de Souza Machado et al. (2018). Studies have demonstrated that urease activity is influenced by the moisture content of the soil. The increase in soil moisture may be a contributing factor to the observed increase in Ure activity. It has been reported that urease activity is affected by soil moisture content (Antil et al., 1993).

Similar to the function of urease has the enzyme NAG, which participates in carbon and nitrogen cycling in the soil (Ekenler & M., 2002). The observed increase in NAG activity of the enzyme in all P3HB-amended soil variants is consistent with the findings of Brtnicky et al. (2022). These results indicate that microorganisms need more nitrogen to decompose P3HB than other organic amendments used in the experiment, comparable to Ure. This suggests a possible correlation between the activity of NAG and Ure, although the enhancement of NAG was more noticeable than Ure. It appears that microorganisms need more nitrogen to decompose higher concentrations of P3HB.

Phos

The experimental study also found that the production of Phos enhanced similarly when treated with a single amendment of P3HB or in combination with other amendments (except for P3HB with manure), as shown in Fig. 12. The co-addition of P3HB and manure demonstrated the most significant enhancement of Phos activity. The amendments, such as compost, manure, and separately present solely in the soil, did not result in changes in the microbial activity of Phos. In contrast, the biochar 45 t/ha decreased the enzyme activity both when added alone or with P3HB, making the availability of Phosphorus weaker in these soils.

Organic phosphorus in soil is unavailable to plants, so they must mineralise it to access it. Phosphatase helps to hydrolyse organic P for microorganisms and plants, and its production and activity can indicate P availability (Nannipieri et al., 2011). Increased Phos activity after adding P3HB suggests that it influenced microbial activity, and microorganisms started to produce more phosphatase. However, the enhancement of Phos activity was insignificant compared to other analysed enzymes like DHA, Ure or NAG. As in Ure, also the activity of phosphatase is connected to moisture content. This could also be observed from the graphs, where the activity of both enzymes followed a similar trend (except for the difference in the P3HB + biochar variant), although with different rates. To conclude, the impact of the P3HB amendment on phosphorus availability in the soil can range from neutral to positive and may be dependent on the specific combination of other organic fertilizers used.

In conclusion, based on the data, the enzymes ARS, GLU and Phos were found to have relatively low contributions in explaining the effect of P3HB on soil properties. Their inclusion in the analysis did not significantly improve understanding of the relationship between P3HB and soil microbial properties. Therefore, it can be concluded that these variables may not be important for explaining the overall variability in the data.

In contrast, the results indicate that the presence of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate positively impacts the soil properties, as supported by the observed increase in activity of DHA, Urea, and NAG in soil samples amended with P3HB. P3HB is a storage compound produced by diverse microorganisms in response to nitrogen deficiency and stress (Zhou et al., 2021), which may explain the observed increase in microbial activity. This suggests the positive effect of the biopolymer on nitrogen cycling. What should be highlighted is that all results on the enzyme activity are strongly influenced by soil type, as well as the abundance and biodiversity of the microbial community. This may explain the differences in results observed across the current scientific literature.

4.2.2 Soil respiration assays

This section will explore the effect of P3HB on the soil when applied alone or in combination with other organic fertilizers. The soil microbial activity was assessed by determining basal respiration (determined through CO_2 production rate) and substrate-induced respiration (determined through CO_2 production rate after substrate addition). Soil respiration is closely linked to organic matter and the composition of the microbial community and is highly influenced by moisture content and porosity in the soil. The BR and SIR were utilized as indicators of the carbon and nitrogen mineralization rate in the soil. The results will be

interpreted based on the graphical illustration of the measured data illustrated in Fig. 13. The mean values of independent replicates (n = 3) are presented with error bars representing the standard deviation.

The application of soil amendments (excluding P3HB) alone generally led to a reduction in soil microbial activity across most variants (Fig. 13). However, there was one exception, Man-SIR in soil amended with manure and biochar at 15 t/ha, where a positive effect on SIR was observed. Additionally, a neutral effect was observed for Tre-SIR following the application of biochar at 15 t/ha and Man-SIR after the incorporation of compost.

The addition of P3HB resulted in a significant increase in both BR and SIR in all experimental samples in contrast to the control sample (Fig. 13). Although P3HB alone showed a noticeable increase, its post-application to other amendments resulted in either a further increase or similar results in most variants. The application of certain amendments (mainly compost, biochar 15 t/ha, separate) alone, except for P3HB, did not significantly affect basal respiration compared to control soil. This implies that the amendment applied alone did not profoundly alter microorganisms in the soil, or the nutrients released during the decomposition of applied organic fertilizers did not adequately stimulate microbial activity.

Notably, there was a significant difference in the post-application of P3HB to biochar at a rate of 15 t/ha and 45 t/ha (Fig. 13). The biochar application at 45 t/ha resulted in a slight decrease, while P3HB in the presence of biochar 15 t/ha was noted by a sharp increase in microbial activity. This outcome could be attributed to the high biochar concentration at a rate of 45 t/ha. Therefore, the carbon content was higher, and biochar was possibly more stable and resistant to degradation by the soil microbial community.

The most substantial increase in basal respiration, indicative of increased microbial activity, was observed in the sample treated with P3HB + manure (Fig. 13). Manure is a rich source of organic matter and nutrients, providing a favourable environment for the growth and activity of microorganisms. P3HB, as a biodegradable polymer, served as a source of energy and carbon for the soil microbial community, further stimulating microbial activity.

According to the results, the co-addition of P3HB + biochar (15 t/ha) led to a significant increase in Ala-SIR, Man-SIR, and NAG-SIR levels, indicating a positive effect of this combination on microorganisms' ability to mineralize soil organic matter (Fig. 13). In addition, the highest increases in Pro-SIR and Tre-SIR were observed with the co-addition of P3HB and compost. Furthermore, microbial activity in Glc-SIR and Arg-SIR was enhanced the most by the sole P3HB and then improved significantly by the co-addition of P3HB and biochar 15 t/ha.

Respiration induced by NAG, Arg, Tre and Ala substrates is associated with nitrification and nitrogen mineralization, as these substrates are sources of N (Alkorta et al., 2003; Parham & Deng, 2000). The observed increase in NAG-SIR, Arg-SIR and Tre-SIR in every sample variant (except biochar 45 t/has) implies the priming effect of P3HB on N compounds decomposition, as well as the promotion of nitrogen content in the soil. P3HB, in this case, was proven to potentially benefit soil fertility and plant growth. This correlates with the findings from enzyme activity assays of NAG and Ure.

Glucose substrate is related to soil carbon cycling (Sinsabaugh et al., 2008). Reduced Glc-SIR in biochar, with or without P3HB, suggests stable organic matter formation, which is less available to microbial decomposition and, thus, potentially inhibits microbial activity (Stott et al., 2010). Other used substrates, such as Tre and Man, also contribute to carbon cycling and could help explain the potential carbon limitation of biochar (Osanai et al., 2005). However, the post-application of P3HB to these substrates ultimately increases the respiration rate. This could be due to Mannose and Trehalose being metabolized by different microbes or pathways as glucose, resulting in varying rates and responses to biochar amendment.

The involvement of Ala and Pro in sulfur cycling and their corresponding trends in the resulting graphs indicate a possible association between these two amino acids and the observed changes in arylsulfatase enzyme activity, which is also involved in sulfur cycling (Alkorta et al., 2003; Vong et al., 2003). The increased respiration rate on soil microbial activity by P3HB was highest for the Ala-SIR and Pro-SIR results, which is evident in the corresponding graphs. This could have two possible explanations. Either it suggests that P3HB may positively stimulate the activity of the microorganism responsible for S cycling by providing sources of energy, or it can imply that the content of S in the soil decreased due to the presence of P3HB, as the abundance of sulfur-oxidizing bacteria decreased and was replaced by microorganism favouring P3HB degradation.

Based on the results of the respiration determination, it can be concluded that the incorporation of P3HB is likely to enhance the mineralization of C, N, and P and the overall respiration rate of the soil. This conclusion is supported by the observation that the respiration rate substantially increased in most of the soil samples when P3HB has applied alone or in combination with other amendments. This is likely attributed to the high content of SOM in the soil and enhanced microbial activity. The positive effect of P3HB on microbial activity was also revealed in previous enzyme activity assay (Song et al., 2014; Zheng et al., 2009).

The obtained results contradict the findings of previous studies examining the impact of conventional microplastics soil health properties. Specifically, the studies indicate that microplastics can inhibit soil enzyme activity and reduce soil respiration (Zang et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2021). The results of this thesis demonstrate the potential of biodegradable plastics, specifically P3HB, to mitigate the negative impacts of still widely used conventional plastics on soil health. Additionally, biodegradable P3HB may enhance specific soil properties and further improve soil health. Therefore, the transition towards the use of biodegradable plastics is suggested to address the negative impact of conventional plastics on the soil.



Fig. 13: Comparative analysis of soil respiration in response to P3HB and other soil amendments, including compost, biochar, manure, and separate. Average values of independent replicates (n = 3), error bars = standard deviation.

4.3 Thermal analysis of P3HB in the soil

Thermal analysis, i.e. thermogravimetry, was conducted in this study to investigate the thermal properties of the soil, the rate degradation of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate and the potential impact of co-amendments, such as compost, manure, separate and biochar, on the P3HB degradation. As the temperature during the experiment increases, the compounds present in the soil undergo thermally induced transformations resulting in a mass loss, while others remain intact. The soil samples can be assessed for the degradation of volatile fractions, thermally unstable and stable fractions of organic matter, and minerals. The mass loss occurs in multiple stages, represented as intervals (temperature zones), where each interval corresponds to the mass loss of a specific fraction. The mean thermal mass losses (TML) for each sample were calculated using the data obtained in the temperature range of 20 to 700 °C and by dividing them into 10 °C temperature intervals. In this work, e.g. TML₁₀₀ refers to mass loss in the interval 90–100°C, and, e.g. TML_{200–300} refers to mass loss between 200 and 300°C. This step is aimed at minimizing the dataset while maintaining the reproducibility of the results (Kučerík et al., 2018).

The particular intervals have been distinguished by different colours in Fig. 14. They serve for a better understanding of the ongoing processes and assessment of the whole degradation process. The exact values of temperature intervals may slightly differ within the samples as they are influenced by the soil's chemical composition and properties. However, as the soil used for the experiments in this thesis did not differ within the sample, they can be used for comparison of changes induced by addition of amendments and biodegradation P3HB.



Fig. 14: The temperature interval associated with the decomposition of specific compounds.

The temperature zones from Fig. 14 representing changes (losses) within the soil are distinguished as follows:

- 30–100 °C loosely bound water, particularly on SOM;
- 100–200 °C strongly bound water on mineral surfaces;
- 200–300 °C degradation of unstable SOM;
- 300–450 °C moderately stable SOM;
- 450–550 °C stable SOM;
- > 550 °C degradation of carbonates (Kučerík et al., 2018).

The obtained records reflect the alterations in soil characteristics resulting from the addition of P3HB. Moreover, the records that display the combined application of P3HB with other soil amendments (such as compost, biochar, manure and separate) demonstrate that the presence of P3HB and its subsequent biodegradation resulted in a more significant deviation in the TG curve compared to the situation when the amendments were applied individually. In fact, any differences from the control sample indicate changes in the soil properties.

The data obtained from the thermal analysis of samples with the addition of compost and P3HB to the soil showed a mass loss trend that was comparable to blank samples with the addition of P3HB alone, with only a marginal reduction in mass loss. Within up to 100°C, the application of compost to P3HB resulted in the release of more loosely bound water compared to the other samples or the P3HB presence alone. These results are also apparent in the P3HB + compost TG curve (Fig. 16), where the impact of compost on P3HB degradation was minimal, and the compost curve alone is nearly identical to the blank.

Conversely, a completely opposite trend was observed in the samples containing 15 t/ha of biochar, where it was a noticeable decrease (i.e. lower mass loss) in both the decomposition of stable organic matter (TML₄₅₀₋₅₅₀) and the release of water (TML₂₀₋₂₀₀) during the thermogravimetric analysis. The other amendments also resulted in a decrease in mass loss, although the effect was less pronounced than that of biochar 15 t/ha. In the temperature zone 200–300 °C (TML₃₀₀), the mass loss examined in all samples containing P3HB was similar. Within this range, the mass loss of soil organic matter was estimated to be approximately twice as high as that of the blank sample. The order of effectiveness in mitigating degradation of organic matter, from most effective to least effective, is as follows: biochar at a rate of 15 t/ha (Fig. 17), manure (Fig. 19), biochar at a rate of 45 t/ha (Fig. 18), separate (Fig. 20), and compost (Fig. 16).

In Fig. 15–Fig. 20, each sample displays a mass loss that extends up to 100 °C or 200°C, which represents the release of loosely or chemically bound water. This is followed by the release of water that is firmly attached to the surfaces of organomineral complexes or SOM pores in the temperature interval 100–200 °C (TML₁₀₀₋₂₀₀). This is due to residual water content resulting from air drying and exposing the soil to 43% RH prior to the analysis. All samples follow a similar trend within this temperature range with only slight deviations, suggesting that the water retention capacity of the soil was not significantly affected by the application of soil amendments.

On the contrary, as already mentioned, the application of the biochar 15 t/ha resulted in the most significant reduction in water loss during thermal analysis. This could be explained by the high porosity (and specific surface area) of biochar, which allows for water molecules to be held in small pores. Consequently, during heating, more energy is required to release the water compared to when the molecules are adsorbed onto soil particles. Therefore, the use of biochar can improve the water-holding capacity of the soil (Adhikari et al., 2022). Notably, the presence of P3HB did not influence this outcome, even in the post-application to compost, manure, or biochar 45 t/ha, slightly decreased mass loss in the area. Overall, it is theoretically possible that the increased organic matter content resulting from the use of some fertilizers could improve soil water retention, potentially leading to decreased mass loss in the area.

The primary decomposition can be observed from the temperature range of 230–300 °C, as shown in Fig. 15. This temperature range is associated with the decomposition of labile organic matter, and it is also the temperature interval under which P3HB, as a biodegradable polymer, undergoes degradation (Fojt et al., 2022). Therefore, the P3HB-amended soil samples exhibit a more significant break in the TG curve than the control. The measured values of $TML_{200-300}$ were estimated to be approximately twice as high as that of the blank sample, indicating that the P3HB was not completely decomposed yet. This finding suggests that the residues of P3HB may still have a potential impact on the soil, as suggested by the work of Fojt et al. (2022).



Fig. 15: Mass loss of P3HB-amended soil as a function of temperature.

Following the break observed at 230–300 °C, there is a gradual mass loss until the analysis reaches a constant temperature of 680 °C. Compared to a control sample, the presence of P3HB contributed to a substantial increase within the interval of 300–450 °C. The degradation

products of P3HB that started to release from 230 °C might serve as a source of energy for microorganisms which increased their activity, ultimately resulting in higher biomass production.

The interval of 450–550 °C is associated with the degradation of persistent organic matter and minerals in the soil. The P3HB-amended soil did not result in a higher decomposition rate, and the mass loss was almost comparable to blank. This confirms that P3HB was already degraded in the previous temperature zone, and only stable organic matter induced mass loss in this temperature zone. Within this zone, the biochar 15 t/ha contribution to the soil was most noticeable, as its presence substantially decreased the mass loss in comparison to the control soil. This trend continued until the analysis reached a constant temperature of 680 °C.

The study found that the presence of organic amendments in soil affected the degradation process of P3HB, as demonstrated by the variation in the mass loss of SOM in soil samples containing P3HB and organic amendments (Fig. 16–Fig. 20) compared to the control sample with P3HB only (Fig. 15). To evaluate the extent of this effect, the residual P3HB in each soil was quantified. This was achieved by calculating the difference in mass loss between soil samples co-amended with both the amendment and P3HB and those with only the control amendment. For instance, to quantify the amount of residual P3HB in compost-amended soil, the mass loss from a soil sample containing P3HB and compost is subtracted from the mass loss in a sample containing compost only.

The total amount of P3HB remaining after the thermogravimetric analysis within a 200–300 °C temperature interval (i.e. the amount of biopolymer that was not oxidised) for each sample is reported in Tab. 4, with a lower residue indicating a more rapid degradation of P3HB due to the presence of other soil amendments. The standard deviation for thermogravimetric analysis was determined by calculating the mean of three repetitive measurements of both non-amended and amended samples in the selected temperature interval.

TML200-300	*Residual P3HB [%]		
Control soil + P3HB	0.73 ± 0.06		
Compost 50 t/ha + PHB	0.67 ± 0.06		
Biochar 15 t/ha + PHB	0.66 ± 0.03		
Biochar 45 t/ha + PHB	0.69 ± 0.06		
Manure + PHB	0.63 ± 0.06		
Separate + PHB	0.66 ± 0.08		

Tab. 4: The residual P3HB remaining in the soil after P3HB decomposition within the temperature interval 200–300 °C.

* Values calculated as average from independent replicates $(n = 3) \pm$ standard deviation.

The residual P3HB present in the soil was 0.73% under the sole application. However, the addition of compost, biochar (15 t/ha and 45 t/ha), manure, and separate resulted in residual P3HB of 0.67%, 0.66%, 0.69%, and 0.63%, respectively. These results show that the incorporation of organic amendments decreases the amount of residual P3HB in all sample

variants, comparing the values to control samples. It can be concluded that the degradation of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate was supported by all applied amendments, with the most significant effect observed following the application of manure.



Fig. 16: Mass loss of soil with a post-application of P3HB to compost as a function of temperature.


Fig. 17: Mass loss of soil with a post-application of P3HB to biochar 15 t/ha as a function of temperature.



Fig. 18: Mass loss of soil with a post-application of P3HB to biochar 45 t/ha as a function of temperature.



Fig. 19: Mass loss of soil with a post-application of P3HB to manure as a function of temperature.



Fig. 20: Mass loss of soil with a post-application of P3HB to separate as a function of temperature.

5 CONCLUSION

This study investigated how the biodegradable polymer, poly-3-hydroxybutyrate, influences various physical, chemical, and biological soil properties that are essential for soil quality and agricultural productivity. To achieve the study's objectives, the plant aboveground biomass, pH, dry matter content, enzymatic and substrate-induced respiration, and thermogravimetry were analysed. These parameters allowed for a comprehensive evaluation of the impact of P3HB on soil quality, providing valuable insights into its potential as an agricultural tool.

As anticipated, the applied P3HB to soil addition had a pronounced and similar negative impact on the dry aboveground biomass of maize plants. Application of P3HB on soil previously amended with organic amendments (compost, biochar, manure and separate) did not improve this situation much. P3HB slightly reduced the soil dry matter, but dry matter was enhanced for all combinations of P3HB with organic amendments, except compost. Furthermore, solely applied P3HB increased the microbial activity of all studied enzymes and soil microbial respiration. Its effect was amplified substantially with compost in the case of enzymes and biochar 15 t/ha in terms of SIRs.

Moreover, no significant alteration in soil pH has been observed, although there was a slight reduction. However, the adverse effects of P3HB on dry matter content and aboveground mass may have more significant implications for plant growth and productivity compared to the positive effects on soil enzyme activity and microbial respiration. The study results suggest that the post-application of P3HB to organic amendments can mitigate these adverse effects of P3HB. Notably, using P3HB in combination with biochar at a rate of 15 t/ha was particularly successful, as observed across multiple assessed factors. The hypothesis that the addition of soil amendments promotes the degradation of P3HB, resulting in a decreased amount of residual polymer in the soil, was confirmed by the results obtained from the thermogravimetric analysis. A reduction in the amount of polymer could potentially mitigate its impact on the soil.

While the study's findings suggest that applying P3HB after the use of organic amendments, particularly biochar and compost, could slightly mitigate the adverse effects of P3HB, further research is needed to optimize the application rates of P3HB and identify the most effective amendment to be used in combination. It is crucial to consider different soil types, crops, and environmental conditions when designing future studies to ensure the results are robust and applicable in diverse agricultural settings.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbott, L. K., Macdonald, L. M., Wong, M. T. F., Webb, M. J., Jenkins, S. N., & Farrell, M. (2018). Potential roles of biological amendments for profitable grain production A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 256, 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.12.021
- Adhikari, S., Timms, W., & Mahmud, M. A. P. (2022). Optimising water holding capacity and hydrophobicity of biochar for soil amendment – A review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 851, 158043. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158043
- Agarwal, S. (2020). Biodegradable Polymers: Present Opportunities and Challenges in Providing a Microplastic-Free Environment. *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics*, 221(6), 2000017. https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.202000017
- Agus, J., Kahar, P., Abe, H., Doi, Y., & Tsuge, T. (2006). Altered expression of polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase gene and its effect on poly[(R)-3-hydroxybutyrate] synthesis in recombinant Escherichia coli. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 91(8), 1645–1650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2005.12.011
- Ahmed, T., Shahid, M., Azeem, F., Rasul, I., Shah, A. A., Noman, M., Hameed, A., Manzoor, N., Manzoor, I., & Muhammad, S. (2018). Biodegradation of plastics: current scenario and future prospects for environmental safety. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(8), 7287–7298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1234-9
- Albertsson, A., & Karlsson, S. (1990). The influence of biotic and abiotic environments on the degradation of polyethylene. *Progress in Polymer Science*, 15(2), 177–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/0079-6700(90)90027-X
- Alcântara, J. M. G., Distante, F., Storti, G., Moscatelli, D., Morbidelli, M., & Sponchioni, M. (2020). Current trends in the production of biodegradable bioplastics: The case of polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Biotechnology Advances*, 42, 107582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107582
- Ali, L., Palamanit, A., Techato, K., Ullah, A., Chowdhury, Md. S., & Phoungthong, K. (2022). Characteristics of Biochars Derived from the Pyrolysis and Co-Pyrolysis of Rubberwood Sawdust and Sewage Sludge for Further Applications. *Sustainability*, 14(7), 3829. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14073829
- Alkorta, I., Aizpurua, A., Riga, P., Albizu, I., Amézaga, I., & Garbisu, C. (2003). Soil Enzyme Activities as Biological Indicators of Soil Health. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1515/REVEH.2003.18.1.65
- Allen, D. E., Singh, B. P., & Dalal, R. C. (2011). Soil Health Indicators Under Climate Change: A Review of Current Knowledge (pp. 25–45). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-20256-8_2
- Amelia, T. S. M., Govindasamy, S., Tamothran, A. M., Vigneswari, S., & Bhubalan, K. (2019).Applications of PHA in Agriculture. In *Biotechnological Applications of*

Polyhydroxyalkanoates (pp. 347–361). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3759-8_13

- Ananyeva, N. D., Susyan, E. A., Chernova, O. V., & Wirth, S. (2008). Microbial respiration activities of soils from different climatic regions of European Russia. *European Journal* of Soil Biology, 44(2), 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2007.05.002
- Andrady, A. L. (2011). Microplastics in the marine environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(8), 1596–1605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.05.030
- Andreeßen, C., & Steinbüchel, A. (2019). Recent developments in non-biodegradable biopolymers: Precursors, production processes, and future perspectives. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 103(1), 143–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-9483-6
- Antil, R. S., Gupta, A. P., & Narwal, R. P. (1993). Effect of substrate concentration, soil moisture, and organic amendments on urease activity of soil containing variable nickel amounts. *Arid Soil Research and Rehabilitation*, 7(4), 381–387. https://doi.org/10.1080/15324989309381371
- Arcos-Hernandez, M. V., Laycock, B., Pratt, S., Donose, B. C., Nikolić, M. A. L., Luckman, P., Werker, A., & Lant, P. A. (2012). Biodegradation in a soil environment of activated sludge derived polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHBV). *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 97(11), 2301–2312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2012.07.035
- Ardisson, B. G., Tosin, M., Barbale, M., & Degli-Innocenti, F. (2014). Biodegradation of plastics in soil and effects on nitrification activity. A laboratory approach. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00710
- Arikan, E. B., & Ozsoy, H. D. (2015). A Review: Investigation of Bioplastics. *Journal of Civil Engineering and Architecture*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.17265/1934-7359/2015.02.007
- Arnold, S. L., Doran, J. W., Schepers, J., Wienhold, B., Ginting, D., Amos, B., & Gomes, S. (2005). Portable Probes to Measure Electrical Conductivity and Soil Quality in the Field. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 36(15–16), 2271–2287. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103620500196689
- Artham, T., & Doble, M. (2008). Biodegradation of Aliphatic and Aromatic Polycarbonates. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 8(1), 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200700106
- Ashter, S. A. (2016a). Overview of Biodegradable Polymers. In *Introduction to Bioplastics Engineering* (pp. 19–30). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-39396-6.00002-6
- Ashter, S. A. (2016b). Types of Biodegradable Polymers. In *Introduction to Bioplastics Engineering* (pp. 81–151). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-39396-6.00005-1
- Auras, R., Harte, B., & Selke, S. (2004). An Overview of Polylactides as Packaging Materials. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 4(9), 835–864. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200400043

- Balestri, E., Menicagli, V., Ligorini, V., Fulignati, S., Raspolli Galletti, A. M., & Lardicci, C. (2019). Phytotoxicity assessment of conventional and biodegradable plastic bags using seed germination test. *Ecological Indicators*, 102, 569–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.03.005
- Bandopadhyay, S., Martin-Closas, L., Pelacho, A. M., & DeBruyn, J. M. (2018). Biodegradable Plastic Mulch Films: Impacts on Soil Microbial Communities and Ecosystem Functions. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00819
- Bandow, N., Will, V., Wachtendorf, V., & Simon, F.-G. (2017). Contaminant release from aged microplastic. *Environmental Chemistry*, *14*(6), 394. https://doi.org/10.1071/EN17064
- Barnard, R. L., Osborne, C. A., & Firestone, M. K. (2013). Responses of soil bacterial and fungal communities to extreme desiccation and rewetting. *The ISME Journal*, 7(11), 2229–2241. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.104
- Barouti, G., Jaffredo, C. G., & Guillaume, S. M. (2017). Advances in drug delivery systems based on synthetic poly(hydroxybutyrate) (co)polymers. *Progress in Polymer Science*, *73*, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2017.05.002
- Bennett, L. T., Mele, P. M., Annett, S., & Kasel, S. (2010). Examining links between soil management, soil health, and public benefits in agricultural landscapes: An Australian perspective. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 139(1–2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.06.017
- Bhargava, N., Sharanagat, V. S., Mor, R. S., & Kumar, K. (2020). Active and intelligent biodegradable packaging films using food and food waste-derived bioactive compounds:
 A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 105, 385–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2020.09.015
- Bilck, A. P., Olivato, J. B., Yamashita, F., & Souza, J. R. P. de. (2014). Biodegradable bags for the production of plant seedlings. *Polímeros*, 24(5), 547–553. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-1428.1589
- Biron, M. (2017). Renewable Plastics Derived From Natural Polymers. In *Industrial Applications of Renewable Plastics* (pp. 115–154). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-48065-9.00004-2
- Boots, B., Russell, C. W., & Green, D. S. (2019). Effects of Microplastics in Soil Ecosystems: Above and Below Ground. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(19), 11496–11506. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b03304
- Borken, W., Muhs, A., & Beese, F. (2002). Application of compost in spruce forests: effects on soil respiration, basal respiration and microbial biomass. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 159(1–2), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00709-5
- Bosker, T., Bouwman, L. J., Brun, N. R., Behrens, P., & Vijver, M. G. (2019). Microplastics accumulate on pores in seed capsule and delay germination and root growth of the terrestrial vascular plant Lepidium sativum. *Chemosphere*, 226, 774–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.03.163

- Bottinelli, N., Jouquet, P., Capowiez, Y., Podwojewski, P., Grimaldi, M., & Peng, X. (2015).
 Why is the influence of soil macrofauna on soil structure only considered by soil ecologists? *Soil and Tillage Research*, *146*, 118–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2014.01.007
- Briassoulis, D. (2004). Mechanical Design Requirements for Low Tunnel Biodegradable and Conventional Films. *Biosystems Engineering*, 87(2), 209–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2003.10.013
- Briassoulis, D. (2005). The effects of tensile stress and the agrochemical Vapam on the ageing of low density polyethylene (LDPE) agricultural films. Part I. Mechanical behaviour. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 88(3), 489–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2004.11.021
- Briassoulis, D. (2006). Mechanical behaviour of biodegradable agricultural films under real field conditions. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, *91*(6), 1256–1272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2005.09.016
- Briassoulis, D. (2007). Analysis of the mechanical and degradation performances of optimised agricultural biodegradable films. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, *92*(6), 1115–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2007.01.024
- Brodhagen, M., Peyron, M., Miles, C., & Inglis, D. A. (2015). Biodegradable plastic agricultural mulches and key features of microbial degradation. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *99*(3), 1039–1056. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-6267-5
- Brtnicky, M., Pecina, V., Holatko, J., Hammerschmiedt, T., Mustafa, A., Kintl, A., Fojt, J., Baltazar, T., & Kucerik, J. (2022). Effect of biodegradable poly-3-hydroxybutyrate amendment on the soil biochemical properties and fertility under varying sand loads. *Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture*, 9(1), 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-022-00345-9
- Bueno, J. R. P., Berton, R. S., Silveira, A. P. D. da, Chiba, M. K., Andrade, C. A. de, & Maria, I. C. De. (2011). Chemical and microbiological attributes of an oxisol treated with successive applications of sewage sludge¹. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência Do Solo*, 35(4), 1461–1470. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-06832011000400040
- Bugnicourt, E., Cinelli, P., Lazzeri, A., & Alvarezc, V. (2016). The Main Characteristics, Properties, Improvements, and Market Data of Polyhydroxyalkanoates. In *Handbook of Sustainable Polymers* (pp. 932–961). Jenny Stanford Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1201/b19600-25
- Bulluck, L. R., Brosius, M., Evanylo, G. K., & Ristaino, J. B. (2002). Organic and synthetic fertility amendments influence soil microbial, physical and chemical properties on organic and conventional farms. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 19(2), 147–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(01)00187-1
- Bünemann, E. K., Bongiorno, G., Bai, Z., Creamer, R. E., De Deyn, G., de Goede, R., Fleskens, L., Geissen, V., Kuyper, T. W., Mäder, P., Pulleman, M., Sukkel, W., van Groenigen, J.

W., & Brussaard, L. (2018). Soil quality – A critical review. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *120*, 105–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.01.030

- Burns, R. G. (1982). Enzyme activity in soil: Location and a possible role in microbial ecology. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 14(5), 423–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(82)90099-2
- Byun, Y., & Kim, Y. T. (2014). Utilization of Bioplastics for Food Packaging Industry. In Innovations in Food Packaging (pp. 369–390). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394601-0.00015-1
- Campbell, C. D., Chapman, S. J., Cameron, C. M., Davidson, M. S., & Potts, J. M. (2003). A Rapid Microtiter Plate Method To Measure Carbon Dioxide Evolved from Carbon Substrate Amendments so as To Determine the Physiological Profiles of Soil Microbial Communities by Using Whole Soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(6), 3593–3599. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.6.3593-3599.2003
- Chamas, A., Moon, H., Zheng, J., Qiu, Y., Tabassum, T., Jang, J. H., Abu-Omar, M., Scott, S. L., & Suh, S. (2020). Degradation Rates of Plastics in the Environment. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 8(9), 3494–3511. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b06635
- Chan, K. M. A., Balvanera, P., Benessaiah, K., Chapman, M., Díaz, S., Gómez-Baggethun, E., Gould, R., Hannahs, N., Jax, K., Klain, S., Luck, G. W., Martín-López, B., Muraca, B., Norton, B., Ott, K., Pascual, U., Satterfield, T., Tadaki, M., Taggart, J., & Turner, N. (2016). Why protect nature? Rethinking values and the environment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(6), 1462–1465. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1525002113
- Chanprateep, S. (2010). Current trends in biodegradable polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, *110*(6), 621–632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.07.014
- Chen, G. G.-Q. (2005). Polyhydroxyalkanoates. In *Biodegradable Polymers for Industrial Applications* (pp. 32–56). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845690762.1.32
- Chen, G., & Wang, Y. (2013). Medical applications of biopolyesters polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Chinese Journal of Polymer Science*, *31*(5), 719–736. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10118-013-1280-1
- Chen, Y. J. (2014). Bioplastics and Their Role in Achieving Global Sustainability. *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research*, 6(1), 226–231.
- Cheng, C. (Sage), Deng, J., Lei, B., He, A., Zhang, X., Ma, L., Li, S., & Zhao, C. (2013). Toward 3D graphene oxide gels based adsorbents for high-efficient water treatment via the promotion of biopolymers. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 263, 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.09.065

- Chun, A. Y., Yunxiao, L., Ashok, S., Seol, E., & Park, S. (2014). Elucidation of toxicity of organic acids inhibiting growth of Escherichia coli W. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 19(5), 858–865. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-014-0420-y
- Corrales, J., Kristofco, L. A., Steele, W. B., Yates, B. S., Breed, C. S., Williams, E. S., & Brooks, B. W. (2015). Global Assessment of Bisphenol A in the Environment. *Dose-Response*, 13(3), 155932581559830. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559325815598308
- Costa, S. S., Miranda, A. L., de Morais, M. G., Costa, J. A. V., & Druzian, J. I. (2019).
 Microalgae as source of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) A review. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 131, 536–547.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.03.099
- Creamer, R. E., Schulte, R. P. O., Stone, D., Gal, A., Krogh, P. H., Lo Papa, G., Murray, P. J., Pérès, G., Foerster, B., Rutgers, M., Sousa, J. P., & Winding, A. (2014). Measuring basal soil respiration across Europe: Do incubation temperature and incubation period matter? *Ecological Indicators*, *36*, 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.08.015
- Cyras, V. P., Commisso, Ma. S., Mauri, A. N., & Vázquez, A. (2007). Biodegradable doublelayer films based on biological resources: Polyhydroxybutyrate and cellulose. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, *106*(2), 749–756. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.26663
- Dahal, S., Yilma, W., Sui, Y., Atreya, M., Bryan, S., Davis, V., Whiting, G. L., & Khosla, R. (2020). Degradability of Biodegradable Soil Moisture Sensor Components and Their Effect on Maize (Zea mays L.) Growth. Sensors, 20(21), 6154. https://doi.org/10.3390/s20216154
- Dalal, R. C., & Moloney, D. (2000). Sustainability indicators of soil health and biodiversity. *Management for Sustainable Ecosystems. Centre for Conservation Biology.*
- Dalton, B., Bhagabati, P., De Micco, J., Padamati, R. B., & O'Connor, K. (2022). A Review on Biological Synthesis of the Biodegradable Polymers Polyhydroxyalkanoates and the Development of Multiple Applications. *Catalysts*, 12(3), 319. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal12030319
- Das, S. K., & Ghosh, G. K. (2020). Soil Health Management Through Low Cost Biochar Technology. In *Biochar Applications in Agriculture and Environment Management* (pp. 193–206). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40997-5_9
- Dazzi, C., & Lo Papa, G. (2022). A new definition of soil to promote soil awareness, sustainability, security and governance. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 10(1), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iswcr.2021.07.001
- de Souza Machado, A. A., Lau, C. W., Kloas, W., Bergmann, J., Bachelier, J. B., Faltin, E., Becker, R., Görlich, A. S., & Rillig, M. C. (2019). Microplastics Can Change Soil Properties and Affect Plant Performance. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(10), 6044–6052. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b01339

- de Souza Machado, A. A., Lau, C. W., Till, J., Kloas, W., Lehmann, A., Becker, R., & Rillig, M. C. (2018). Impacts of Microplastics on the Soil Biophysical Environment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(17), 9656–9665. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02212
- Dharmakeerthi, R. S., & Thenabadu, M. W. (2013). Urease activity in soils: A review. *Journal* of the National Science Foundation of Sri Lanka, 24(3).
- Dick, R. P., Rasmussen, P. E., & Kerle, E. A. (1988). Influence of long-term residue management on soil enzyme activities in relation to soil chemical properties of a wheat-fallow system. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00257667
- Dilly, O., & Zyakun, A. (2008). Priming Effect and Respiratory Quotient in a Forest Soil Amended with Glucose. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 25(7–8), 425–431. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490450802403099
- Din, M. I., Ghaffar, T., Najeeb, J., Hussain, Z., Khalid, R., & Zahid, H. (2020). Potential perspectives of biodegradable plastics for food packaging application-review of properties and recent developments. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, 37(4), 665–680. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2020.1718219
- Dobbelaere, S., Croonenborghs, A., Thys, A., Ptacek, D., Vanderleyden, J., Dutto, P., Labandera-Gonzalez, C., Caballero-Mellado, J., Aguirre, J. F., Kapulnik, Y., Brener, S., Burdman, S., Kadouri, D., Sarig, S., & Okon, Y. (2001). Responses of agronomically important crops to inoculation with Azospirillum. *Functional Plant Biology*, 28(9), 871. https://doi.org/10.1071/PP01074
- Domingues, R. R., Trugilho, P. F., Silva, C. A., Melo, I. C. N. A. de, Melo, L. C. A., Magriotis, Z. M., & Sánchez-Monedero, M. A. (2017). Properties of biochar derived from wood and high-nutrient biomasses with the aim of agronomic and environmental benefits. *PLOS ONE*, 12(5), e0176884. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176884
- Domínguez-Díaz, M., Meneses-Acosta, A., Romo-Uribe, A., Peña, C., Segura, D., & Espin, G. (2015). Thermo-mechanical properties, microstructure and biocompatibility in poly-β-hydroxybutyrates (PHB) produced by OP and OPN strains of Azotobacter vinelandii. *European Polymer Journal*, 63, 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2014.12.002
- Doran, J. W. (2002). Soil health and global sustainability: translating science into practice. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 88(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(01)00246-8
- Doran, J. W., & Safley, M. (1997). Defining and assessing soil health and sustainable productivity. *Biological Indicators of Soil Health*, 1–28.
- Eden, M., Gerke, H. H., & Houot, S. (2017). Organic waste recycling in agriculture and related effects on soil water retention and plant available water: a review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *37*(2), 11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-017-0419-9

- Egamberdieva, D., & Kucharova, Z. (2008). Cropping effects on microbial population and nitrogenase activity in saline arid soil. *Turkish Journal of Biology*, 85–90.
- Ekenler, M., & M., T. (2002). β-Glucosaminidase activity of soils: effect of cropping systems and its relationship to nitrogen mineralization. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *36*(5), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-002-0541-x
- El-Alsayed, S. G., & Ismail, S. M. (2017). Impact of Soil Amendments and Irrigation Water on Growth and Flowering of Rosa Plant Grown in Sandy Soil Rosa hybrida. *Alexandria Science Exchange Journal: An International Quarterly Journal of Science Agricultural Environments*, 38(July-September), 626–641. https://doi.org/10.21608/asejaiqjsae.2017.4058
- El-malek, F. A., Khairy, H., Farag, A., & Omar, S. (2020). The sustainability of microbial bioplastics, production and applications. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 157, 319–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.04.076
- Ennis, C. J., Evans, A. G., Islam, M., Ralebitso-Senior, T. K., & Senior, E. (2012). Biochar: Carbon Sequestration, Land Remediation, and Impacts on Soil Microbiology. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 42(22), 2311–2364. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2011.574115
- European Bioplastics. (2021). *Production capacity of bioplastics worldwide in 2021 by market segment* (*in 1,000 metric tons*). Statista Inc. https://www.statista.com/statistics/678908/production-capacity-of-bioplasticsworldwide-by-market-segment/
- European Committee for Standardization. (2000). *Packaging Requirements for packaging recoverable through composting and biodegradation Test scheme and evaluation criteria for the final acceptance of packaging* (Patent No. EN 13432:2000).
- Falde, E. J., Yohe, S. T., Colson, Y. L., & Grinstaff, M. W. (2016). Superhydrophobic materials for biomedical applications. *Biomaterials*, *104*, 87–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.06.050
- Fan, H., Liu, H., Toh, S. L., & Goh, J. C. H. (2009). Anterior cruciate ligament regeneration using mesenchymal stem cells and silk scaffold in large animal model. *Biomaterials*, 30(28), 4967–4977. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.05.048
- Faria, G. E., Barros, N. F. de, Novais, R. F., & Silva, I. R. (2009). Soil fertility, organic carbon and fractions of the organic matter at different distances from eucalyptus stumps. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência Do Solo*, 33(3), 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-06832009000300010
- Fei, Y., Huang, S., Zhang, H., Tong, Y., Wen, D., Xia, X., Wang, H., Luo, Y., & Barceló, D. (2020). Response of soil enzyme activities and bacterial communities to the accumulation of microplastics in an acid cropped soil. *Science of The Total Environment*, 707, 135634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135634

- Flemming, H.-C. (1998). Relevance of biofilms for the biodeterioration of surfaces of polymeric materials*. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 59(1–3), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(97)00189-4
- Flieger, M., Kantorová, M., Prell, A., Řezanka, T., & Votruba, J. (2003). Biodegradable plastics from renewable sources. *Folia Microbiologica*, 48(1), 27–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02931273
- Fojt, J., Denková, P., Brtnický, M., Holátko, J., Řezáčová, V., Pecina, V., & Kučerík, J. (2022). Influence of Poly-3-hydroxybutyrate Micro-Bioplastics and Polyethylene Terephthalate Microplastics on the Soil Organic Matter Structure and Soil Water Properties. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(15), 10732–10742. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c01970
- Gao, H., Yan, C., Liu, Q., Ding, W., Chen, B., & Li, Z. (2019). Effects of plastic mulching and plastic residue on agricultural production: A meta-analysis. *Science of The Total Environment*, 651, 484–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.105
- Garbowski, T., Bar-Michalczyk, D., Charazińska, S., Grabowska-Polanowska, B., Kowalczyk, A., & Lochyński, P. (2023). An overview of natural soil amendments in agriculture. *Soil* and Tillage Research, 225, 105462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2022.105462
- García-Ruiz, R., Ochoa, V., Viñegla, B., Hinojosa, M. B., Peña-Santiago, R., Liébanas, G., Linares, J. C., & Carreira, J. A. (2009). Soil enzymes, nematode community and selected physico-chemical properties as soil quality indicators in organic and conventional olive oil farming: Influence of seasonality and site features. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 41(3), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2008.12.004
- Garrison, T., Murawski, A., & Quirino, R. (2016). Bio-Based Polymers with Potential for Biodegradability. *Polymers*, 8(7), 262. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym8070262
- Geisseler, D., & Scow, K. M. (2014). Long-term effects of mineral fertilizers on soil microorganisms – A review. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 75, 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.03.023
- Gewert, B., Plassmann, M. M., & MacLeod, M. (2015). Pathways for degradation of plastic polymers floating in the marine environment. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 17(9), 1513–1521. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5EM00207A
- Ghacha, A., Ammari, M., & Ben Allal, L. (2020). Sustainable sewage sludge management in Morocco: Constraints and solutions. *Journal of Water and Land Development*, 46, 71–83.
- Ghosh, S. K., Pal, S., & Ray, S. (2013). Study of microbes having potentiality for biodegradation of plastics. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20(7), 4339– 4355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1706-x
- Gironi, F., & Piemonte, V. (2011). Bioplastics and Petroleum-based Plastics: Strengths and Weaknesses. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects*, 33(21), 1949–1959. https://doi.org/10.1080/15567030903436830

- Goldberger, J. R., Jones, R. E., Miles, C. A., Wallace, R. W., & Inglis, D. A. (2015). Barriers and bridges to the adoption of biodegradable plastic mulches for US specialty crop production. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 30(2), 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742170513000276
- Goux, X., Amiaud, B., Piutti, S., Philippot, L., & Benizri, E. (2012). Spatial distribution of the abundance and activity of the sulfate ester-hydrolyzing microbial community in a rape field. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 12(9), 1360–1370. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-012-0555-4
- Gregorich, E. G., Liang, B. C., Drury, C. F., Mackenzie, A. F., & McGill, W. B. (2000). Elucidation of the source and turnover of water soluble and microbial biomass carbon in agricultural soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32(5), 581–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(99)00146-7
- Gu, J.-D. (2003). Microbiological deterioration and degradation of synthetic polymeric materials: recent research advances. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 52(2), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-8305(02)00177-4
- Gu, Y., Wang, P., & Kong, C. H. (2009). Urease, invertase, dehydrogenase and polyphenoloxidase activities in paddy soil influenced by allelopathic rice variety. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 45(5–6), 436–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2009.06.003
- Hadad, D., Geresh, S., & Sivan, A. (2005). Biodegradation of polyethylene by the thermophilic bacterium Brevibacillus borstelensis. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *98*(5), 1093–1100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02553.x
- Hadar, Y., & Sivan, A. (2004). Colonization, biofilm formation and biodegradation of polyethylene by a strain of Rhodococcus ruber. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 65(1), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-004-1584-8
- Hahladakis, J. N., Velis, C. A., Weber, R., Iacovidou, E., & Purnell, P. (2018). An overview of chemical additives present in plastics: Migration, release, fate and environmental impact during their use, disposal and recycling. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 344, 179–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.10.014
- Han, J. H. (2014). A Review of Food Packaging Technologies and Innovations. In *Innovations in Food Packaging* (pp. 3–12). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394601-0.00001-1
- Hartmann, N. B., Rist, S., Bodin, J., Jensen, L. H., Schmidt, S. N., Mayer, P., Meibom, A., & Baun, A. (2017). Microplastics as vectors for environmental contaminants: Exploring sorption, desorption, and transfer to biota. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 13(3), 488–493. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1904
- Hayes, D. G., Dharmalingam, S., Wadsworth, L. C., Leonas, K. K., Miles, C., & Inglis, D. A. (2012). *Biodegradable Agricultural Mulches Derived from Biopolymers* (pp. 201–223). https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2012-1114.ch013

- Haynes, R. J. (n.d.). Soil Organic Matter Quality and the Size and Activity of the Microbial Biomass: Their Significance to the Quality of Agricultural Soils. In *Soil Mineral Microbe-Organic Interactions* (pp. 201–231). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-77686-4_8
- Hiraishi, A., & Khan, S. T. (2003). Application of polyhydroxyalkanoates for denitrification in water and wastewater treatment. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *61*(2), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-002-1198-y
- Hiroe, A., Tsuge, K., Nomura, C. T., Itaya, M., & Tsuge, T. (2012). Rearrangement of Gene Order in the *phaCAB* Operon Leads to Effective Production of Ultrahigh-Molecular-Weight Poly[(*R*)-3-Hydroxybutyrate] in Genetically Engineered Escherichia coli. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(9), 3177–3184. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.07715-11
- Hisano, T., Kasuya, K., Tezuka, Y., Ishii, N., Kobayashi, T., Shiraki, M., Oroudjev, E., Hansma, H., Iwata, T., Doi, Y., Saito, T., & Miki, K. (2006). The Crystal Structure of Polyhydroxybutyrate Depolymerase from Penicillium funiculosum Provides Insights into the Recognition and Degradation of Biopolyesters. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 356(4), 993–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2005.12.028
- Ho, K.-L. G., Pometto III, A. L., & Hinz, P. N. (1999). Effects of temperature and relative humidity on polylactic acid plastic degradation. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 7(2), 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021808317416
- Hoffman, B. M., Lukoyanov, D., Yang, Z.-Y., Dean, D. R., & Seefeldt, L. C. (2014). Mechanism of Nitrogen Fixation by Nitrogenase: The Next Stage. *Chemical Reviews*, 114(8), 4041–4062. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr400641x
- Holmes, P. A. (1985). Applications of PHB a microbially produced biodegradable thermoplastic. *Physics in Technology*, 16(1), 32–36. https://doi.org/10.1088/0305-4624/16/1/305
- Hong, S.-G., Hsu, H.-W., & Ye, M.-T. (2013). Thermal properties and applications of low molecular weight polyhydroxybutyrate. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, *111*(2), 1243–1250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-012-2503-3
- Horodytska, O., Valdés, F. J., & Fullana, A. (2018). Plastic flexible films waste management A state of art review. *Waste Management*, 77, 413–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.04.023
- Horwath, W. R., & Paul, E. A. (1994). *Microbial Biomass* (pp. 753–773). https://doi.org/10.2136/sssabookser5.2.c36
- Hosseini, M. H., Razavi, S. H., & Mousavi, M. A. (2009). Antimicrobial, physical and mechanical properties of chitosan-based films incorporated with thyme, clove and cinnamon essential oils. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 33(6), 727–743. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-4549.2008.00307.x

- Huang, M., Zhu, Y., Li, Z., Huang, B., Luo, N., Liu, C., & Zeng, G. (2016). Compost as a Soil Amendment to Remediate Heavy Metal-Contaminated Agricultural Soil: Mechanisms, Efficacy, Problems, and Strategies. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 227(10), 359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-016-3068-8
- Hunt, J., DuPonte, M., Sato, D., & Kawabata, A. (2010). The basics of biochar: A natural soil amendment. *Soil and Crop Management*, *30*(7), 1–6.
- Inamdar, A., Sangawe, V., & Adhapure, N. (2022). Enzymes in rhizosphere engineering. In *Rhizosphere Engineering* (pp. 259–272). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-89973-4.00009-0
- International Organization for Standardization. (1993). Soil Quality—Determination of Dry Matter and Water Content on a Mass Basis—Gravimetric Method.
- International Organization for Standardization. (2005). *Soil quality Determination of pH*. International Organization for Standardization.
- International Organization for Standardization. (2018). Soil quality Measurement of enzyme activity patterns in soil samples using colorimetric substrates in micro-well plates. International Organization for Standardization.
- Irshad, M., Eneji, A. E., Hussain, Z., & Ashraf, M. (2013). Chemical characterization of fresh and composted livestock manures. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, ahead*, 0– 0. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-95162013005000011
- Iwata, T. (2015). Biodegradable and Bio-Based Polymers: Future Prospects of Eco-Friendly Plastics. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 54(11), 3210–3215. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201410770
- Jabeen, N., Majid, I., & Nayik, G. A. (2015). Bioplastics and food packaging: A review. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 1(1), 1117749. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2015.1117749
- Jahandideh, A., Ashkani, M., & Moini, N. (2021). Biopolymers in textile industries. In *Biopolymers and their Industrial Applications* (pp. 193–218). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819240-5.00008-0
- Jakubowicz, I., Yarahmadi, N., & Petersen, H. (2006). Evaluation of the rate of abiotic degradation of biodegradable polyethylene in various environments. *Polymer Degradation* and *Stability*, 91(7), 1556–1562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2005.09.018
- Jan, M. T., Roberts, P., Tonheim, S. K., & Jones, D. L. (2009). Protein breakdown represents a major bottleneck in nitrogen cycling in grassland soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41(11), 2272–2282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.08.013
- Jasso-Gastinel, C. F., Soltero-Martínez, J. F. A., & Mendizábal, E. (2017). Introduction: Modifiable Characteristics and Applications. In *Modification of Polymer Properties* (pp. 1–21). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-44353-1.00001-4

- Jia, H., Wang, Z., Zhang, J., Li, W., Ren, Z., Jia, Z., & Wang, Q. (2020). Effects of biodegradable mulch on soil water and heat conditions, yield and quality of processing tomatoes by drip irrigation. *Journal of Arid Land*, 12(5), 819–836. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40333-020-0108-4
- Jindo, K., Mizumoto, H., Sawada, Y., Sanchez-Monedero, M. A., & Sonoki, T. (2014). Physical and chemical characterization of biochars derived from different agricultural residues. *Biogeosciences*, 11(23), 6613–6621. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-6613-2014
- Kaczyńska, G., Borowik, A., & Wyszkowska, J. (2015). Soil Dehydrogenases as an Indicator of Contamination of the Environment with Petroleum Products. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 226(11), 372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-015-2642-9
- Kadouri, D., Jurkevitch, E., Okon, Y., & Castro-Sowinski, S. (2005). Ecological and Agricultural Significance of Bacterial Polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 31(2), 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408410590899228
- Karthik, T., & Rathinamoorthy, R. (2018). Sustainable Biopolymers in Textiles: An Overview. In *Handbook of Ecomaterials* (pp. 1–27). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-48281-1_53-1
- Kasirajan, S., & Ngouajio, M. (2012). Polyethylene and biodegradable mulches for agricultural applications: a review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 32(2), 501–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-011-0068-3
- Kawai, F., Watanabe, M., Shibata, M., Yokoyama, S., Sudate, Y., & Hayashi, S. (2004).
 Comparative study on biodegradability of polyethylene wax by bacteria and fungi. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 86(1), 105–114.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2004.03.015
- Kawashima, N., Yagi, T., & Kojima, K. (2019). How Do Bioplastics and Fossil-Based Plastics Play in a Circular Economy? *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, 304(9), 1900383. https://doi.org/10.1002/mame.201900383
- Kay, B. D. (1990). *Rates of Change of Soil Structure Under Different Cropping Systems* (pp. 1–52). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-3316-9_1
- Kijchavengkul, T., & Auras, R. (2008). Compostability of polymers. *Polymer International*, 57(6), 793–804. https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.2420
- Kominko, H., Gorazda, K., Wzorek, Z., & Wojtas, K. (2018). Sustainable Management of Sewage Sludge for the Production of Organo-Mineral Fertilizers. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 9(10), 1817–1826. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-017-9942-9
- Kookos, I. K., Koutinas, A., & Vlysidis, A. (2019). Life cycle assessment of bioprocessing schemes for poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) production using soybean oil and sucrose as carbon sources. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 141*, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.10.025
- Koutny, M., Amato, P., Muchova, M., Ruzicka, J., & Delort, A.-M. (2009). Soil bacterial strains able to grow on the surface of oxidized polyethylene film containing prooxidant additives.

International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, *63*(3), 354–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2008.11.003

- Kučerík, J., Tokarski, D., Demyan, M. S., Merbach, I., & Siewert, C. (2018). Linking soil organic matter thermal stability with contents of clay, bound water, organic carbon and nitrogen. *Geoderma*, 316, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.12.001
- Kuzyakov, Y. (2006). Sources of CO2 efflux from soil and review of partitioning methods. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *38*(3), 425–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.08.020
- Kuzyakov, Y. (2010). Priming effects: Interactions between living and dead organic matter. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 42(9), 1363–1371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.04.003
- Kuzyakov, Y., Friedel, J. K., & Stahr, K. (2000). Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32(11–12), 1485–1498. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00084-5
- Langer, U., & Rinklebe, J. (2011). Priming effect after glucose amendment in two different soils evaluated by SIR- and PLFA-technique. *Ecological Engineering*, 37(3), 465–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2010.12.004
- Li, C., Moore-Kucera, J., Lee, J., Corbin, A., Brodhagen, M., Miles, C., & Inglis, D. (2014). Effects of biodegradable mulch on soil quality. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 79, 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2014.02.012
- Li, R., Wang, J. J., Zhang, Z., Shen, F., Zhang, G., Qin, R., Li, X., & Xiao, R. (2012). Nutrient transformations during composting of pig manure with bentonite. *Bioresource Technology*, 121, 362–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.06.065
- Li, S., Harris, S., Anandhi, A., & Chen, G. (2019). Predicting biochar properties and functions based on feedstock and pyrolysis temperature: A review and data syntheses. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 215, 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.01.106
- Liu, B., & Thayumanavan, S. (2017). Importance of Evaluating Dynamic Encapsulation Stability of Amphiphilic Assemblies in Serum. *Biomacromolecules*, 18(12), 4163–4170. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.7b01220
- Liu, S., Razavi, B. S., Su, X., Maharjan, M., Zarebanadkouki, M., Blagodatskaya, E., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2017). Spatio-temporal patterns of enzyme activities after manure application reflect mechanisms of niche differentiation between plants and microorganisms. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *112*, 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.05.006
- Liwarska-Bizukojc, E. (2021). Effect of (bio)plastics on soil environment: A review. *Science* of The Total Environment, 795, 148889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148889
- Liwarska-Bizukojc, E. (2022). Phytotoxicity assessment of biodegradable and nonbiodegradable plastics using seed germination and early growth tests. *Chemosphere*, 289, 133132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.133132

- Lomas, A. J., Webb, W. R., Han, J., Chen, G.-Q., Sun, X., Zhang, Z., El Haj, A. J., & Forsyth, N. R. (2013). Poly (3-Hydroxybutyrate-co-3-Hydroxyhexanoate)/Collagen Hybrid Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering Applications. *Tissue Engineering Part C: Methods*, 19(8), 577–585. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tec.2012.0457
- Lucas, N., Bienaime, C., Belloy, C., Queneudec, M., Silvestre, F., & Nava-Saucedo, J.-E. (2008). Polymer biodegradation: Mechanisms and estimation techniques A review. *Chemosphere*, 73(4), 429–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.06.064
- Madison, L. L., & Huisman, G. W. (1999). Metabolic Engineering of Poly(3-Hydroxyalkanoates): From DNA to Plastic. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 63(1), 21–53. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.63.1.21-53.1999
- Małachowska-Jutsz, A., & Matyja, K. (2019). Discussion on methods of soil dehydrogenase determination. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 16(12), 7777–7790. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-019-02375-7
- Malik, M. R., Yang, W., Patterson, N., Tang, J., Wellinghoff, R. L., Preuss, M. L., Burkitt, C., Sharma, N., Ji, Y., Jez, J. M., Peoples, O. P., Jaworski, J. G., Cahoon, E. B., & Snell, K. D. (2015). Production of high levels of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate in plastids of *Camelina sativa* seeds. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, *13*(5), 675–688. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12290
- Maraveas, C. (2020a). The Sustainability of Plastic Nets in Agriculture. *Sustainability*, *12*(9), 3625. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093625
- Maraveas, C. (2020b). Environmental Sustainability of Plastic in Agriculture. *Agriculture*, *10*(8), 310. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture10080310
- Mierziak, J., Wojtasik, W., Kulma, A., Dziadas, M., Kostyn, K., Dymińska, L., Hanuza, J., Żuk, M., & Szopa, J. (2020). 3-Hydroxybutyrate Is Active Compound in Flax that Upregulates Genes Involved in DNA Methylation. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(8), 2887. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21082887
- Millán, M., Segura, D., Galindo, E., & Peña, C. (2016). Molecular mass of poly-3hydroxybutyrate (P3HB) produced by Azotobacter vinelandii is determined by the ratio of synthesis and degradation under fixed dissolved oxygen tension. *Process Biochemistry*, 51(8), 950–958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.04.013
- Moeskops, B., Sukristiyonubowo, Buchan, D., Sleutel, S., Herawaty, L., Husen, E., Saraswati, R., Setyorini, D., & De Neve, S. (2010). Soil microbial communities and activities under intensive organic and conventional vegetable farming in West Java, Indonesia. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 45(2), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.03.005
- Mohan, S., Oluwafemi, O. S., Kalarikkal, N., Thomas, S., & Songca, S. P. (2016). Biopolymers
 Application in Nanoscience and Nanotechnology. In *Recent Advances in Biopolymers*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/62225

- Mohanan, N., Montazer, Z., Sharma, P. K., & Levin, D. B. (2020). Microbial and Enzymatic Degradation of Synthetic Plastics. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.580709
- Morgado, R. G., Loureiro, S., & González-Alcaraz, M. N. (2018). Changes in Soil Ecosystem Structure and Functions Due to Soil Contamination. In *Soil Pollution* (pp. 59–87). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-849873-6.00003-0
- Morris, A. H., Stamer, D. K., & Kyriakides, T. R. (2017). The host response to naturally-derived extracellular matrix biomaterials. *Seminars in Immunology*, 29, 72–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2017.01.002
- Mukherjee, S., Roy Chowdhuri, U., & Kundu, P. P. (2016). Bio-degradation of polyethylene waste by simultaneous use of two bacteria: Bacillus licheniformis for production of biosurfactant and Lysinibacillus fusiformis for bio-degradation. *RSC Advances*, 6(4), 2982– 2992. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA25128A
- Mukhopadhyay, D. (2020). Soil Analysis: A Relook and Way Forward. In *Soil Analysis: Recent Trends and Applications* (pp. 1–18). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-2039-6_1
- Nanda, S., & Berruti, F. (2021). A technical review of bioenergy and resource recovery from municipal solid waste. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 403, 123970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123970
- Nanda, S., Patra, B. R., Patel, R., Bakos, J., & Dalai, A. K. (2022). Innovations in applications and prospects of bioplastics and biopolymers: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 20(1), 379–395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-021-01334-4
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Landi, L., & Renella, G. (2011). *Role of Phosphatase Enzymes in Soil* (pp. 215–243). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-15271-9_9
- Narancic, T., Cerrone, F., Beagan, N., & O'Connor, K. E. (2020). Recent Advances in Bioplastics: Application and Biodegradation. *Polymers*, 12(4), 920. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12040920
- Nayak, R., Jajpura, L., & Khandual, A. (2023). Traditional fibres for fashion and textiles: Associated problems and future sustainable fibres. In *Sustainable Fibres for Fashion and Textile Manufacturing* (pp. 3–25). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-824052-6.00013-5
- Niaounakis, M. (2015). Agriculture/Forestry/Fishery. In *Biopolymers: Applications and Trends* (pp. 185–232). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-35399-1.00004-1
- Nizzetto, L., Futter, M., & Langaas, S. (2016). Are Agricultural Soils Dumps for Microplastics of Urban Origin? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(20), 10777–10779. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b04140
- Nortcliff, S. (2002). Standardisation of soil quality attributes. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 88(2), 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(01)00253-5

- O'Connell, D. W., Birkinshaw, C., & O'Dwyer, T. F. (2008). Heavy metal adsorbents prepared from the modification of cellulose: A review. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(15), 6709– 6724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.01.036
- Ong, S. Y., Chee, J. Y., & Sudesh, K. (2017). Degradation of Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA): a Review. Journal of Siberian Federal University. Biology, 10(2), 21–225. https://doi.org/10.17516/1997-1389-0024
- Osanai, T., Kanesaki, Y., Nakano, T., Takahashi, H., Asayama, M., Shirai, M., Kanehisa, M., Suzuki, I., Murata, N., & Tanaka, K. (2005). Positive Regulation of Sugar Catabolic Pathways in the Cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 by the Group 2 σ Factor SigE. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(35), 30653–30659. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M505043200
- Palanikumar, L., Al-Hosani, S., Kalmouni, M., Nguyen, V. P., Ali, L., Pasricha, R., Barrera, F. N., & Magzoub, M. (2020). pH-responsive high stability polymeric nanoparticles for targeted delivery of anticancer therapeutics. *Communications Biology*, 3(1), 95. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-0817-4
- Palansooriya, K. N., Ok, Y. S., Awad, Y. M., Lee, S. S., Sung, J.-K., Koutsospyros, A., & Moon, D. H. (2019). Impacts of biochar application on upland agriculture: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 234, 52–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.12.085
- Parham, J. A., & Deng, S. P. (2000). Detection, quantification and characterization of βglucosaminidase activity in soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32(8–9), 1183–1190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00034-1
- Parmar, D. K., Thakur, D. R., & Jamwal, R. S. (2016). Effect of long term organic manure application on soil properties, carbon sequestration, soil-Plant carbon stock and productivity under two vegetable production systems in Himachal Pradesh. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 37(3), 333–339.
- Pathan, S. I., Arfaioli, P., Bardelli, T., Ceccherini, M. T., Nannipieri, P., & Pietramellara, G. (2020). Soil Pollution from Micro- and Nanoplastic Debris: A Hidden and Unknown Biohazard. Sustainability, 12(18), 7255. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12187255
- Peelman, N., Ragaert, P., De Meulenaer, B., Adons, D., Peeters, R., Cardon, L., Van Impe, F., & Devlieghere, F. (2013). Application of bioplastics for food packaging. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, *32*(2), 128–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2013.06.003
- Pell, M., Stenström, J., & Granhall, U. (2006). Soil Respiration. In *Methods for Assessing Soil Quality* (pp. 117–126). CABI Publishing.
- Peña, C., Castillo, T., García, A., Millán, M., & Segura, D. (2014). Biotechnological strategies to improve production of microbial poly-(3-hydroxybutyrate): a review of recent research work. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 7(4), 278–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12129
- Peters, V., Becher, D., & Rehm, B. (2007). The inherent property of polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase to form spherical PHA granules at the cell poles: The core region is required for

polar localization. *Journal of Biotechnology*, *132*(3), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2007.03.001

- Philip, S., Keshavarz, T., & Roy, I. (2007). Polyhydroxyalkanoates: biodegradable polymers with a range of applications. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 82(3), 233–247. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.1667
- Piotrowska-Długosz, A. (2019). Significance of Enzymes and Their Application in Agriculture. In *Biocatalysis* (pp. 277–308). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25023-2_14
- Plante, A. F., Fernández, J. M., & Leifeld, J. (2009). Application of thermal analysis techniques in soil science. *Geoderma*, 153(1–2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.08.016
- PlasticsEurope. (2022). Bioplastics market data. https://www.european-bioplastics.org/market/
- Poli, A., Di Donato, P., Abbamondi, G. R., & Nicolaus, B. (2011). Synthesis, Production, and Biotechnological Applications of Exopolysaccharides and Polyhydroxyalkanoates by Archaea. Archaea, 2011, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/693253
- Pompe, T., Keller, K., Mothes, G., Nitschke, M., Teese, M., Zimmermann, R., & Werner, C. (2007). Surface modification of poly(hydroxybutyrate) films to control cell-matrix adhesion. *Biomaterials*, 28(1), 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.08.028
- Pospíšil, J., & Nešpůrek, S. (1997). Highlights in chemistry and physics of polymer stabilization. *Macromolecular Symposia*, 115(1), 143–163. https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.19971150110
- Pötter, M., & Steinbüchel, A. (2005). Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) Granule-Associated Proteins: Impacts on Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) Synthesis and Degradation. *Biomacromolecules*, 6(2), 552–560. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm049401n
- Prado, R. de M., Caione, G., & Campos, C. N. S. (2013). Filter Cake and Vinasse as Fertilizers Contributing to Conservation Agriculture. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2013, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/581984
- Qi, R., Jones, D. L., Li, Z., Liu, Q., & Yan, Ch. (2020). Behavior of microplastics and plastic film residues in the soil environment: A critical review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 703, 134722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134722
- Qi, Y., Yang, X., Pelaez, A. M., Huerta Lwanga, E., Beriot, N., Gertsen, H., Garbeva, P., & Geissen, V. (2018). Macro- and micro- plastics in soil-plant system: Effects of plastic mulch film residues on wheat (Triticum aestivum) growth. *Science of The Total Environment*, 645, 1048–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.229
- Rabot, E., Wiesmeier, M., Schlüter, S., & Vogel, H.-J. (2018). Soil structure as an indicator of soil functions: A review. *Geoderma*, 314, 122–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.11.009

- Raghavendra, M., Sharma, M. P., Ramesh, A., Richa, A., Billore, S. D., & Verma, R. K. (2020). Soil Health Indicators: Methods and Applications. In *Soil Analysis: Recent Trends and Applications* (pp. 221–253). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-2039-6_13
- Raiesi, F., & Beheshti, A. (2014). Soil specific enzyme activity shows more clearly soil responses to paddy rice cultivation than absolute enzyme activity in primary forests of northwest Iran. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 75, 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.10.012
- Rao, M. A., Scelza, R., Acevedo, F., Diez, M. C., & Gianfreda, L. (2014). Enzymes as useful tools for environmental purposes. *Chemosphere*, 107, 145–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.12.059
- Ray, S., & Kalia, V. C. (2017). Biomedical Applications of Polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, 57(3), 261–269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-017-0651-7
- Reddy, C. S. K., Ghai, R., Rashmi, & Kalia, V. C. (2003). Polyhydroxyalkanoates: an overview. *Bioresource Technology*, 87(2), 137–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(02)00212-2
- Rehm, B. (2007). Biogenesis of Microbial Polyhydroxyalkanoate Granules: a Platform Technology for the Production of Tailor-made Bioparticles. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.21775/cimb.009.041
- Rehm, B. H. A. (2003). Polyester synthases: natural catalysts for plastics. *Biochemical Journal*, *376*(1), 15–33. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj20031254
- Rehm, B. H. A. (2006). Genetics and Biochemistry of Polyhydroxyalkanoate Granule Selfassembly: The Key Role of Polyester Synthases. *Biotechnology Letters*, 28(4), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-005-5521-4
- Ren, Q., de Roo, G., Ruth, K., Witholt, B., Zinn, M., & Thöny-Meyer, L. (2009). Simultaneous Accumulation and Degradation of Polyhydroxyalkanoates: Futile Cycle or Clever Regulation? *Biomacromolecules*, 10(4), 916–922. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm801431c
- Ren, X. (2003). Biodegradable plastics: a solution or a challenge? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *11*(1), 27–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-6526(02)00020-3
- Reynolds, W. D., Drury, C. F., Tan, C. S., Fox, C. A., & Yang, X. M. (2009). Use of indicators and pore volume-function characteristics to quantify soil physical quality. *Geoderma*, *152*(3–4), 252–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.06.009
- Rhim, J.-W., Hong, S.-I., & Ha, C.-S. (2009). Tensile, water vapor barrier and antimicrobial properties of PLA/nanoclay composite films. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 42(2), 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2008.02.015
- Rillig, M. C. (2012). Microplastic in Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Soil? *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(12), 6453–6454. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302011r

- Roscoe, R., Vasconcellos, C. A., Furtini-Neto, A. E., Guedes, G. A. A., & Fernandes, L. A. (2000). Urease activity and its relation to soil organic matter, microbial biomass nitrogen and urea-nitrogen assimilation by maize in a Brazilian Oxisol under no-tillage and tillage systems. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 32(1), 52–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740000213
- Ross, D. S., Matschonat, G., & Skyllberg, U. (2008). Cation exchange in forest soils: the need for a new perspective. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *59*(6), 1141–1159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2008.01069.x
- Samantaray, P. K., Little, A., Haddleton, D. M., McNally, T., Tan, B., Sun, Z., Huang, W., Ji, Y., & Wan, C. (2020). Poly(glycolic acid) (PGA): a versatile building block expanding high performance and sustainable bioplastic applications. *Green Chemistry*, 22(13), 4055– 4081. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0GC01394C
- Sander, M. (2019). Biodegradation of Polymeric Mulch Films in Agricultural Soils: Concepts, Knowledge Gaps, and Future Research Directions. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(5), 2304–2315. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b05208
- Sáňka, M., Vácha, V., Fiala, P., & Poláková, Š. (2018). Kritéria pro hodnocení produkčních a ekologických vlastností půd.
- Sarkar, B., Mukhopadhyay, R., Ramanayaka, S., Bolan, N., & Ok, Y. S. (2021). The role of soils in the disposition, sequestration and decontamination of environmental contaminants. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 376(1834), 20200177. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2020.0177
- Satti, S. M., Shah, A. A., Marsh, T. L., & Auras, R. (2018). Biodegradation of Poly(lactic acid) in Soil Microcosms at Ambient Temperature: Evaluation of Natural Attenuation, Bioaugmentation and Bio-stimulation. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 26(9), 3848–3857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-018-1264-x
- Scarascia-Mugnozza, G., Sica, C., & Russo, G. (2012). Plastic materials in European agriculture: Actual use and perspectives. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering*, 42(3), 15. https://doi.org/10.4081/jae.2011.3.15
- Scheurer, M., & Bigalke, M. (2018). Microplastics in Swiss Floodplain Soils. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(6), 3591–3598. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b06003
- Shah, A. A., Hasan, F., Hameed, A., & Ahmed, S. (2008). Biological degradation of plastics: A comprehensive review. *Biotechnology Advances*, 26(3), 246–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2007.12.005
- Shah, M., Rajhans, S., Pandya, H. A., & Mankad, A. U. (2021). Bioplastic for future: A review then and now. World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews, 9(2), 056–067. https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2021.9.2.0054
- Shang, G., Li, Q., Liu, L., Chen, P., & Huang, X. (2016). Adsorption of hydrogen sulfide by biochars derived from pyrolysis of different agricultural/forestry wastes. *Journal of the Air*

& *Waste Management Association*, 66(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2015.1094429

- Sharma, G. K., Jena, R. K., Hota, S., Kumar, A., Ray, P., Fagodiya, R. K., Malav, L. C., Yadav, K. K., Gupta, D. K., Khan, S. A., & Ray, S. K. (2020). Recent Development in Bioremediation of Soil Pollutants Through Biochar for Environmental Sustainability. In *Biochar Applications in Agriculture and Environment Management* (pp. 123–140). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40997-5_6
- Shi, W. (2010). Agricultural and Ecological Significance of Soil Enzymes: Soil Carbon Sequestration and Nutrient Cycling (pp. 43–60). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14225-3_3
- Silveira Alves, L. P., Plucani do Amaral, F., Kim, D., Todo Bom, M., Piñero Gavídia, M., Silvano Teixeira, C., Holthman, F., de Oliveira Pedrosa, F., Maltempi de Souza, E., Chubatsu, L. S., Müller-Santos, M., & Stacey, G. (2019). Importance of Poly-3-Hydroxybutyrate Metabolism to the Ability of Herbaspirillum seropedicae To Promote Plant Growth. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 85(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02586-18
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., Lauber, C. L., Weintraub, M. N., Ahmed, B., Allison, S. D., Crenshaw, C., Contosta, A. R., Cusack, D., Frey, S., Gallo, M. E., Gartner, T. B., Hobbie, S. E., Holland, K., Keeler, B. L., Powers, J. S., Stursova, M., Takacs-Vesbach, C., Waldrop, M. P., Wallenstein, M. D., ... Zeglin, L. H. (2008). Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale. *Ecology Letters*, *11*(11), 1252–1264. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01245.x
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., & Moorhead, D. L. (1994). Resource allocation to extracellular enzyme production: A model for nitrogen and phosphorus control of litter decomposition. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 26(10), 1305–1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(94)90211-9
- Sintim, H. Y., Bandopadhyay, S., English, M. E., Bary, A. I., DeBruyn, J. M., Schaeffer, S. M., Miles, C. A., Reganold, J. P., & Flury, M. (2019). Impacts of biodegradable plastic mulches on soil health. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 273*, 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.12.002
- Siracusa, V. (2019). Microbial Degradation of Synthetic Biopolymers Waste. *Polymers*, *11*(6), 1066. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11061066
- Sohi, S. P., Krull, E., Lopez-Capel, E., & Bol, R. (2010). *A Review of Biochar and Its Use and Function in Soil* (pp. 47–82). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(10)05002-9
- Somanathan, H., Sathasivam, R., Sivaram, S., Mariappan Kumaresan, S., Muthuraman, M. S., & Park, S. U. (2022). An update on polyethylene and biodegradable plastic mulch films and their impact on the environment. *Chemosphere*, 307, 135839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.135839

- Song, X., Peng, C., Zhao, Z., Zhang, Z., Guo, B., Wang, W., Jiang, H., & Zhu, Q. (2014). Quantification of soil respiration in forest ecosystems across China. *Atmospheric Environment*, 94, 546–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.05.071
- Song, X., Razavi, B. S., Ludwig, B., Zamanian, K., Zang, H., Kuzyakov, Y., Dippold, M. A., & Gunina, A. (2020). Combined biochar and nitrogen application stimulates enzyme activity and root plasticity. *Science of The Total Environment*, 735, 139393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139393
- Srinivasrao, Ch., Grover, M., Sumanta, K., & Suseelendra, D. (2017). Soil Enzymes. In Encyclopedia of Soil Science, Third Edition (pp. 2100–2107). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1081/E-ESS3-120052906
- Stege, P. W., Messina, G. A., Bianchi, G., Olsina, R. A., & Raba, J. (2010). Determination of β-glucosidase activity in soils with a bioanalytical sensor modified with multiwalled carbon nanotubes. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 397(3), 1347–1353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-010-3634-7
- Steinbüchel, A., & Lütke-Eversloh, T. (2003). Metabolic engineering and pathway construction for biotechnological production of relevant polyhydroxyalkanoates in microorganisms. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 16(2), 81–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-703X(03)00036-6
- Stewart, C. E., Zheng, J., Botte, J., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2013). Co-generated fast pyrolysis biochar mitigates green-house gas emissions and increases carbon sequestration in temperate soils. *GCB Bioenergy*, 5(2), 153–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12001
- Stott, D. E., Andrews, S. S., Liebig, M. A., Wienhold, B. J., & Karlen, D. L. (2010). Evaluation of β-Glucosidase Activity as a Soil Quality Indicator for the Soil Management Assessment Framework. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 74(1), 107–119. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2009.0029
- Stubbe, J., Tian, J., He, A., Sinskey, A. J., Lawrence, A. G., & Liu, P. (2005). NONTEMPLATE-DEPENDENT POLYMERIZATION PROCESSES: Polyhydroxyalkanoate Synthases as a Paradigm. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 74(1), 433–480. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.082803.133013
- Sun, L., Ma, Y., Liu, Y., Li, J., Deng, J., Rao, X., & Zhang, Y. (2019). The combined effects of nitrogen fertilizer, humic acid, and gypsum on yield-scaled greenhouse gas emissions from a coastal saline rice field. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26(19), 19502–19511. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05363-z
- Suriyamongkol, P., Weselake, R., Narine, S., Moloney, M., & Shah, S. (2007). Biotechnological approaches for the production of polyhydroxyalkanoates in microorganisms and plants — A review. *Biotechnology Advances*, 25(2), 148–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2006.11.007
- TA Instruments/Waters Corporation. (2022). *Thermogravimetric Analyzers*. https://www.tainstruments.com/pdf/brochure/BROCH-DTGA-HP750.pdf

- Tareen, A., Saeed, S., Iqbal, A., Batool, R., & Jamil, N. (2022). Biodeterioration of Microplastics: A Promising Step towards Plastics Waste Management. *Polymers*, 14(11), 2275. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14112275
- Tejada, M., Hernandez, M., & Garcia, C. (2009). Soil restoration using composted plant residues: Effects on soil properties. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 102(1), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2008.08.004
- Theodoratos, P., Moirou, A., Xenidis, A., & Paspaliaris, I. (2000). The use of municipal sewage sludge for the stabilization of soil contaminated by mining activities. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 77(1–3), 177–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3894(00)00243-0
- Tokiwa, Y., & Calabia, B. P. (2004). Review Degradation of microbial polyesters.BiotechnologyLetters,26(15),1181–1189.https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BILE.0000036599.15302.e5
- Tokoro, R., Vu, D. M., Okubo, K., Tanaka, T., Fujii, T., & Fujiura, T. (2008). How to improve mechanical properties of polylactic acid with bamboo fibers. *Journal of Materials Science*, 43(2), 775–787. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-007-1994-y
- Tribedi, P., Gupta, A. Das, & Sil, A. K. (2015). Adaptation of Pseudomonas sp. AKS2 in biofilm on low-density polyethylene surface: an effective strategy for efficient survival and polymer degradation. *Bioresources and Bioprocessing*, 2(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40643-015-0044-x
- Tu, C., Ristaino, J. B., & Hu, S. (2006). Soil microbial biomass and activity in organic tomato farming systems: Effects of organic inputs and straw mulching. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(2), 247–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.05.002
- Udayakumar, G. P., Muthusamy, S., Selvaganesh, B., Sivarajasekar, N., Rambabu, K., Sivamani, S., Sivakumar, N., Maran, J. P., & Hosseini-Bandegharaei, A. (2021). Ecofriendly biopolymers and composites: Preparation and their applications in water-treatment. *Biotechnology Advances*, 52, 107815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2021.107815
- Van Vlierberghe, S., Cnudde, V., Dubruel, P., Masschaele, B., Cosijns, A., De Paepe, I., Jacobs, P. J. S., Van Hoorebeke, L., Remon, J. P., & Schacht, E. (2007). Porous Gelatin Hydrogels: 1. Cryogenic Formation and Structure Analysis. *Biomacromolecules*, 8(2), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm0606840
- Vargas Gil, S., Meriles, J., Conforto, C., Figoni, G., Basanta, M., Lovera, E., & March, G. J. (2009). Field assessment of soil biological and chemical quality in response to crop management practices. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 25(3), 439– 448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-008-9908-y
- Volova, T. G., Prudnikova, S. V., Vinogradova, O. N., Syrvacheva, D. A., & Shishatskaya, E. I. (2017). Microbial Degradation of Polyhydroxyalkanoates with Different Chemical Compositions and Their Biodegradability. *Microbial Ecology*, 73(2), 353–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-016-0852-3

- Vong, P.-C., Dedourge, O., Lasserre-Joulin, F., & Guckert, A. (2003). Immobilized-S, microbial biomass-S and soil arylsulfatase activity in the rhizosphere soil of rape and barley as affected by labile substrate C and N additions. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 35(12), 1651–1661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2003.08.012
- Wallström, S., Strömberg, E., & Karlsson, S. (2005). Microbiological growth testing of polymeric materials: an evaluation of new methods. *Polymer Testing*, 24(5), 557–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2005.02.005
- Wan, Y., Wu, C., Xue, Q., & Hui, X. (2019). Effects of plastic contamination on water evaporation and desiccation cracking in soil. *Science of The Total Environment*, 654, 576– 582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.123
- Wang, B., Wan, Y., Zheng, Y., Lee, X., Liu, T., Yu, Z., Huang, J., Ok, Y. S., Chen, J., & Gao, B. (2019). Alginate-based composites for environmental applications: a critical review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 49(4), 318–356. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2018.1547621
- Wang, T., Camps-Arbestain, M., Hedley, M., & Bishop, P. (2012). Predicting phosphorus bioavailability from high-ash biochars. *Plant and Soil*, 357(1–2), 173–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1131-9
- Wang, W., Ge, J., Yu, X., & Li, H. (2020). Environmental fate and impacts of microplastics in soil ecosystems: Progress and perspective. *Science of The Total Environment*, 708, 134841. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134841
- Wei, X. W., G. Guo, M. L. Gou, Zhi Yong Qian, & C. Y. Gong. (2011). Biodegradable Polymers: Research and Applications. In *A Handbook of Applied Biopolymer Technology: Synthesis, Degradation and Applications.*
- Weil, R. R., & Magdoff, F. (2004). Significance of soil organic matter to soil quality and health. In *Soil organic matter in sustainable agriculture* (pp. 1–43).
- Wolinska, A., & Stepniewsk, Z. (2012). Dehydrogenase Activity in the Soil Environment. In Dehydrogenases. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/48294
- Xia, L., Wang, S., & Yan, X. (2014). Effects of long-term straw incorporation on the net global warming potential and the net economic benefit in a rice–wheat cropping system in China. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 197, 118–127.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.08.001
- Yamada-Onodera, K., Mukumoto, H., Katsuyaya, Y., Saiganji, A., & Tani, Y. (2001). Degradation of polyethylene by a fungus, Penicillium simplicissimum YK. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 72(2), 323–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(01)00027-1
- Yang, G., Zhu, G., Li, H., Han, X., Li, J., & Ma, Y. (2018). Accumulation and bioavailability of heavy metals in a soil-wheat/maize system with long-term sewage sludge amendments. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 17(8), 1861–1870. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(17)61884-7

- Yao, Y., Lili, W., Shufen, P., Gang, L., Hongmei, L., Weiming, X., Lingxuan, G., Jianning, Z., Guilong, Z., & Dianlin, Y. (2022). Can microplastics mediate soil properties, plant growth and carbon/nitrogen turnover in the terrestrial ecosystem? *Ecosystem Health and Sustainability*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/20964129.2022.2133638
- Young, I. M., Crawford, J. W., Nunan, N., Otten, W., & Spiers, A. (2008). *Chapter 4 Microbial Distribution in Soils* (pp. 81–121). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08)00604-4
- Yu, J., & Chen, L. X. L. (2008). The Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Fossil Energy Requirement of Bioplastics from Cradle to Gate of a Biomass Refinery. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(18), 6961–6966. https://doi.org/10.1021/es7032235
- Zang, H., Zhou, J., Marshall, M. R., Chadwick, D. R., Wen, Y., & Jones, D. L. (2020).
 Microplastics in the agroecosystem: Are they an emerging threat to the plant-soil system?
 Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 148, 107926.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2020.107926
- Zhang, N., Xing-Dong, H. E., Yu-Bao, G. A. O., Yong-Hong, L. I., & Hai-Tao, W. (2010). Pedogenic Carbonate and Soil Dehydrogenase Activity in Response to Soil Organic Matter in Artemisia ordosica Community. *Pedosphere*, 20(2), 229–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(10)60010-0
- Zhao, T., Lozano, Y. M., & Rillig, M. C. (2021). Microplastics Increase Soil pH and Decrease Microbial Activities as a Function of Microplastic Shape, Polymer Type, and Exposure Time. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.675803
- Zheng, Z., Li, M., Xue, X.-J., Tian, H.-L., Li, Z., & Chen, G.-Q. (2006). Mutation on Nterminus of polyhydroxybutyrate synthase of Ralstonia eutropha enhanced PHB accumulation. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 72(5), 896–905. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-006-0371-0
- Zheng, Z.-M., Yu, G.-R., Fu, Y.-L., Wang, Y.-S., Sun, X.-M., & Wang, Y.-H. (2009). Temperature sensitivity of soil respiration is affected by prevailing climatic conditions and soil organic carbon content: A trans-China based case study. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41(7), 1531–1540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.04.013
- Zhou, J., Gui, H., Banfield, C. C., Wen, Y., Zang, H., Dippold, M. A., Charlton, A., & Jones, D. L. (2021). The microplastisphere: Biodegradable microplastics addition alters soil microbial community structure and function. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 156, 108211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2021.108211

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

3-HB 3-hydroxybutyrate AGB aboveground biomass Al aluminium Ala L-alanine ARS arylsulfatase ATP adenosine triphosphate C carbon Ca calcium CEC cation-exchange capacity CH₄ methane CoA coenzyme A CO₂ carbon dioxide DDS drug delivery systems DOM dissolved organic matter EC electrical conductivity Fe iron Glc D-glucose GLU β-Glucosidase HDPE high density polyethylene ISO international standardisation organisation K potassium LDPE low density polyethylene Man D-mannose Mg magnesium Mn manganese MO microorganisms N nitrogen N₂O nitrous oxide NAD nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide NAG N-acetyl-β-D-glucosamidase O₂ oxygen

OM organic matter
P phosphorus
PBAT polybutylene adipate terephthalate
PBS polybutylene succinate
PBSA poly(butylene succinate-co-butylene adipate)
PCL polycaprolactone
P3HB poly-3-hydroxybutyrate
PE polyethylene
PET polyethylene terephthalate
PGA poly(glycolic acid)
PHA polyhydroxyalkanoates
PHBV poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate)
Phos phosphatase
PLA polylactic acid
PLGA poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)
PP polypropylene
Pro protocatechuic acid
PVC polyvinyl chloride
S sulphur
Si silicon
SIR substrate-induced respiration
SOC soil organic carbon
SOM soil organic matter
TCA tricarboxylic acid cycle
TG thermogravimetry
TGA thermogravimetric analysis
TN total nitrogen
TPF triphenylformazan
TTC triphenyltetrazolium chloride
Tre D-trehalose
Ure urease
Zn zinc